
  

 

Meeting of the  
 

OVERVIEW & 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

________________________________________________ 
 

Tuesday, 9 September 2008 at 5.00 p.m. 
______________________________________ 

 

A G E N D A 
__________________________________________ 

 

VENUE 
Room M71, 1st Floor, Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, 

London, E14 2BG 
 
Members: 
 

Deputies (if any): 
Chair: Councillor Abdul Asad  
Vice-Chair:Councillor Bill Turner   
  
  
Councillor Stephanie Eaton 
Councillor Waiseul Islam 
Councillor Ann Jackson 
Councillor Shiria Khatun 
Councillor Abjol Miah 
Councillor Oliur Rahman 
Councillor A A Sardar 
Two Vacancies 
 

Councillor M. Shahid Ali, (Designated 
Deputy representing Councillors Abdul 
Asad, Waiseul Islam, Ann Jackson, Shiria 
Khatun, A. A. Sardar and Bill Turner) 
Councillor Lutfa Begum, (Designated 
Deputy representing Councillor Oliur 
Rahman) 
Councillor Carli Harper-Penman, 
(Designated Deputy representing 
Councillors Abdul Asad, Waiseul Islam, 
Ann Jackson, Shiria Khatun, A. A. Sardar 
and Bill Turner) 
Councillor Azizur Rahman Khan, 
(Designated Deputy representing 
Councillor Stephanie Eaton) 
Councillor Rania Khan, (Designated 
Deputy representing Councillor Oliur 
Rahman) 
Councillor Abdul Matin, (Designated 
Deputy representing Councillor Stephanie 
Eaton) 
Councillor Harun Miah, (Designated 



 
 
 
 

Deputy representing Councillor Abjol 
Miah) 
Councillor Tim O'Flaherty, Designated 
Deputy representing Councillor Stephanie 
Eaton 
Councillor Salim Ullah, (Designated 
Deputy representing Councillors Abdul 
Asad, Waiseul Islam, Ann Jackson, Shiria 
Khatun, A. A. Sardar and Bill Turner) 
 

[Note: The quorum for this body is 4 voting Members]. 
 
Co-opted Members:  
  
Mr Azad Ali – Parent Governor Representative 
Terry Bennett – Church of England Diocese Representative 
Mr D McLaughlin – Roman Catholic Diocese of Westminster 

Representative 
Mr H Mueenuddin – Muslim Community Representative 
One Vacancy - Parent Governor 
Representative 

–  
 
If you require any further information relating to this meeting, would like to request a large 
print, Braille or audio version of this document, or would like to discuss access arrangements 
or any other special requirements, please contact: Amanda Thompson, Democratic Services,  
Tel: 020 7364 4651, E-mail: amanda.thompson@towerhamlets.gov.uk 



 
 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS 
 

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 

Tuesday, 9 September 2008 
 

5.00 p.m. 
 

 SECTION ONE 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 
 To receive any apologies for absence. 

 
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
 To note any declarations of interest made by Members, including those restricting 

Members from voting on the questions detailed in Section 106 of the Local Government 
Finance Act, 1992.  See attached note from the Chief Executive. 
 
 

  
 

3. UNRESTRICTED MINUTES  
 

3 - 10  

 To confirm as a correct record of the proceedings the 
unrestricted minutes of the meeting of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee held on 29 July 2008. 
 
 

  

4. REQUESTS TO SUBMIT PETITIONS  
 

  

 To be notified at the meeting (if any) 
 
 

  

5. REQUESTS FOR DEPUTATIONS  
 

  

 To be notified at the meeting (if any) 
 
 

  

6. SECTION ONE REPORTS 'CALLED IN'  
 

  

 There were no Section One reports ‘called in’ from the 
meeting of Cabinet held on 30 July 2008. 
 
 

  

7. SCRUTINY SPOTLIGHT: LEAD MEMBER  
 

  

 The Lead Member for Cleaner, Greener and Safer, 
Councillor Abdal Ullah, will attend to report on his portfolio. 
 
(Time allocated – 30 minutes) 
 

  



 
 
 
 
 

8. BUDGET AND POLICY FRAMEWORK ISSUES  
 

  

8 .1 Crime and Drugs Reduction Partnership Plan 2008-
2011   

 
11 - 56  

 (Time allocated – 20 minutes) 
 

  

9. PERFORMANCE MONITORING  
 

  

9 .1 Tower Hamlets Index   
 

57 - 122  
 (Time allocated – 15 minutes) 

 
  

10. SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT  
 

  

10 .1 Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme   
 

123 - 136  
 (Time allocated – 15 minutes) 

 
  

10 .2 Verbal Updates from Scrutiny Leads   
 

  
 (Time allocated – 10 minutes) 

 
  

11. PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY OF SECTION ONE 
(UNRESTRICTED) CABINET PAPERS  

 

  

 (Time allocated – 15 minutes). 
 
 

  

12. ANY OTHER SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR CONSIDERS TO 
BE URGENT  

 

  

13. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

  

 In view of the contents of the remaining items on the 
agenda the Committee is recommended to adopt the 
following motion: 
 

“That, under the provisions of Section 100A of the Local 
Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local 
Government (Access to Information) Act 1985, the press 
and public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting 
for the consideration of the Section Two business on the 
grounds that it contains information defined as Exempt in 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act, 
1972.” 
 

EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL SECTION (Pink Papers) 
 

The exempt committee papers in the agenda will contain 
information, which is commercially, legally or personally 
sensitive and should not be divulged to third parties.  If you 
do not wish to retain these papers after the meeting, please 

  



 
 
 
 
hand them to the Committee Officer present. 
 

  
 

14. SECTION TWO REPORTS 'CALLED IN'  
 

  

 There were no Section Two reports ‘called in’ from the 
meeting of Cabinet held on 30 July 2008. 
 
 

  

15. PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY OF SECTION TWO 
(RESTRICTED) CABINET PAPERS  

 

  

 (Time allocated 15 minutes). 
 
 

  

16. ANY OTHER SECTION TWO (RESTRICTED) 
BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIR CONSIDERS 
URGENT  

 

  

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\8\3\AI00016381\Notefromchiefexecutiveredeclarationofinterestsosctte07010820.doc  
  

DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS - NOTE FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
FOR MEMBERS OF THE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
This note is guidance only.  Members should consult the Council’s Code of Conduct for further 
details.  Note: Only Members can decide if they have an interest therefore they must make their 
own decision.  If in doubt as to the nature of an interest it is advisable to seek advice prior to 
attending at a meeting.   
 
Declaration of interests for Members 
 
Where Members have a personal interest in any business of the authority as described in 
paragraph 4 of the Council’s Code of Conduct (contained in part 5 of the Council’s Constitution) 
then s/he must disclose this personal interest as in accordance with paragraph 5 of the Code.  
Members must disclose the existence and nature of the interest at the start of the meeting and 
certainly no later than the commencement of the item or where the interest becomes apparent.   
 
You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates to or is likely to 
affect: 
 

(a) An interest that you must register 
 
(b) An interest that is not on the register, but where the well-being or financial position of you, 

members of your family, or people with whom you have a close association, is likely to be 
affected by the business of your authority more than it would affect the majority of 
inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision. 

 
Where a personal interest is declared a Member may stay and take part in the debate and 
decision on that item.   
 
What constitutes a prejudicial interest? - Please refer to paragraph 6 of the adopted Code of 
Conduct. 
 
Your personal interest will also be a prejudicial interest in a matter if (a), (b) and either (c) 
or (d) below apply:- 
 

(a) A member of the public, who knows the relevant facts, would reasonably think that your 
personal interests are so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgment of the 
public interests; AND 

(b) The matter does not fall within one of the exempt categories of decision listed in 
paragraph 6.2 of the Code; AND EITHER   

(c) The matter affects your financial position or the financial interest of a body with which 
you are associated; or 

(d) The matter relates to the determination of a licensing or regulatory application 
 

The key points to remember if you have a prejudicial interest in a matter being discussed at a 
meeting:- 
 

i. You must declare that you have a prejudicial interest, and the nature of that interest, as 
soon as that interest becomes apparent to you; and  

 
ii. You must leave the room for the duration of consideration and decision on the item and 

not seek to influence the debate or decision unless (iv) below applies; and  

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



2 
 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\8\3\AI00016381\Notefromchiefexecutiveredeclarationofinterestsosctte07010820.doc  
  

 
iii. You must not seek to improperly influence a decision in which you have a prejudicial 

interest.   
 

iv. If Members of the public are allowed to speak or make representations at the meeting, 
give evidence or answer questions about the matter, by statutory right or otherwise (e.g. 
planning or licensing committees), you can declare your prejudicial interest but make 
representations.  However, you must immediately leave the room once you have 
finished your representations and answered questions (if any).  You cannot remain in 
the meeting or in the public gallery during the debate or decision on the matter. 

 
There are particular rules relating to a prejudicial interest arising in relation to Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees 
 
• You will have a prejudicial interest in any business before an Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

or sub committee meeting where both of the following requirements are met:- 
 

(i) That business relates to a decision made (whether implemented or not) or action taken 
by the Council’s Executive (Cabinet) or another of the Council’s committees, sub 
committees, joint committees or joint sub committees 

 
(ii) You were a Member of that decision making body at the time and you were present at 

the time the decision was made or action taken. 
 
• If the Overview & Scrutiny Committee is conducting a review of the decision which you were 

involved in making or if there is a ‘call-in’ you may be invited by the Committee to attend that 
meeting to answer questions on the matter in which case you must attend the meeting to 
answer questions and then leave the room before the debate or decision.   

 
• If you are not called to attend you should not attend the meeting in relation to the matter in 

which you participated in the decision unless the authority’s constitution allows members of 
the public to attend the Overview & Scrutiny for the same purpose.  If you do attend then you 
must declare a prejudicial interest even if you are not called to speak on the matter and you 
must leave the debate before the decision. 

 

Page 2



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE, 
29/07/2008 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

1 

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS 
 

MINUTES OF THE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

HELD AT 7.00 P.M. ON TUESDAY, 29 JULY 2008 
 

M71, 7TH FLOOR, TOWN HALL, MULBERRY PLACE, 5 CLOVE CRESCENT, 
LONDON, E14 2BG 

 
Members Present: 
 
Councillor Abdul Asad (Chair) 
Councillor Waiseul Islam 
Councillor Ann Jackson 
Councillor Shiria Khatun 
Councillor Abjol Miah 
Councillor A A Sardar 
Councillor Tim O'Flaherty (In place of Councillor Stephanie Eaton) 
 

 
Other Councillors Present: 
 
Councillor Marc Francis – (Lead Member, Housing and Development) 
Councillor Ahmed Hussain –  
Councillor Harun Miah –  
Councillor Joshua Peck – (Lead Member, Resources and Performance) 
Councillor Lutfur Rahman – (Leader of the Council) 

 
Officers Present: 
 
Alan Finch – (Service Head Corporate Finance, Resources) 
Afazul Hoque – (Acting Scrutiny Policy Manager, Scrutiny and 

Equalities, Chief Executive's) 
Michael Keating – (Acting Assistant Chief Executive, Chief 

Executive's) 
Alan Steward – (Interim Service Head, Strategy and 

Performance) 
Jebin Syeda – (Scrutiny Policy Officer, Scrutiny and Equalities, 

Chief Executive's) 
Owen Whalley – (Service Head, Major Project Development, 

Development & Renewal) 
Graham White – (Interim Legal Services Manager, Chief 

Executive's) 
 

Amanda Thompson – (Team Leader - Democratic Services) 
 
 
 

1. COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP  
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 3



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE, 
29/07/2008 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

2 

The Chair reported that Councillor Abjol Miah had replaced Councillor Shahed  
Ali on the Committee. 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Stephanie Eaton and 
Bill Turner. 
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Councillors Marc Francis, Joshua Peck and Lutfur Rahman each declared a 
personal and prejudicial interest in agenda item 6.1 on the basis that they 
were Members of the Cabinet when the original decision was taken.  
Councillor Francis provided information and answered questions in relation to 
the Cabinet’s decision during discussion of the item but all three Councillors 
left the room during the Committee’s decision making and voting. 
 
 

4. UNRESTRICTED MINUTES  
 
That the unrestricted minutes of the meeting held on 1 July 2008 be confirmed 
and as a correct record. 
 
 

5. REQUESTS TO SUBMIT PETITIONS  
 
None received. 
 

6. REQUESTS FOR DEPUTATIONS  
 
None received. 
 

7. SECTION ONE REPORTS 'CALLED IN'  
 
 

7.1 Report Called In - London Thames Gateway Development Corporation - 
Draft Bromley-by-Bow Land Use Design Brief  
 
Further to their respective declarations of a personal and prejudicial interest, 
Councillors Marc Francis, Joshua Peck and Lutfur Rahman left the room 
during the Committee’s decision making and voting on this item. 
 
Mr Michael Keating outlined the call-in procedure to the Committee. 
 
Councillor Miah for the Call-In Members referred to the reasons in their 
requisition and highlighted the main issues that they held with the 
provisionally agreed decision to agree the 12 week consultation period for the 
Bromley-by-Bow Land Use and Design Brief prior to its approval by the 
Authority as ‘Interim Planning Guidance’. 
 

Page 4



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE, 
29/07/2008 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

3 

Councillor Miah stated that the issue of a community cemetery in the Borough 
had been pressing for some time and was a demand that had clearly come 
from Tower Hamlets residents. It was also something that, were it to be 
achieved, would add to community cohesion. Given that the Bromley by Bow 
draft plan was about future development in the area, the opportunity should 
have been taken to examine the feasibility of a community cemetery in the 
area. Such a feasibility study had been wrongly omitted from the planning 
considerations.  
 
 Councillor Harun then responded to questions from the Committee 
concerning the location and size of any potential cemetery, the cost of the 
land, and the effect that this could have on planned housing. 
 
Councillor Marc Francis, Lead Member for Housing and Development, then 
addressed the Committee on behalf of the Cabinet in response to the Call-in 
and made the following points: 
 
In January 2008 the Cabinet approved a short term measure to ensure that 
Tower Hamlets residents were not disadvantaged by having no burial facility 
in the Borough by providing a burial subsidy at the Gardens of Peace and City 
of London cemeteries, while at the same time pursuing the feasibility of an in-
Borough facility through the Local Development Framework across the whole 
Borough 
 
The area was of key importance to the Council as it would provide a new 
neighbourhood centre for Bromley-by-Bow including new retail opportunities, 
new community facilities, public open space, a new primary school and new 
residential development – including a substantial provision of affordable and 
family housing. These new facilities, in particular the new primary school were 
essential to serve the existing and future communities in the Bromley-by-Bow 
area.  
 
Locating a burial facility in this area would cost the Council £49m in capital 
costs and £11m in annual revenue costs. Further, it would reduce the viability 
and land available for the infrastructure identified above and would be unlikely 
to gain planning permission.  
 
Committee Members then put detailed questions to Councillor Francis on a 
number of issues concerning a possible feasibility study, the consultation 
process, and other possible methods of funding. 
 
Following the debate the Committee voted on whether to refer the item back 
to the Cabinet for further consideration and it was 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the alternative course of action proposed in the Call-in be not pursued 
and the decision of the cabinet be confirmed. 
 
 

Page 5



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE, 
29/07/2008 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

4 

8. SCRUTINY SPOTLIGHT: LEAD MEMBER  
 
Councillor Josh Peck, Lead member for Resources and Performance, gave a 
presentation on the key issues, opportunities and challenges arising from his 
portfolio. 
 
Councillor Peck informed the Committee that he had two clear aims for the 
area of Resources - improving customer satisfaction and providing value for 
money. The main focus would be looking at how residents interacted with the 
Council and how ICT systems could be improved in order to make services 
more efficient and reduce the need for duplication. For example residents 
were often required to provide the same information to different departments 
as this information was not recorded centrally. He also stated the 
Administration’s intent to implement more strategic procurement policies and 
make better use of Council assets to support the achievement of Council 
objectives.   
 
With regard to performance Councillor Peck stressed that the Council’s 4-star 
rating would mean nothing to residents if their needs were not met, and a lot 
of new challenging LAA targets had been agreed in order to continue driving 
forward performance. 
 
Members of the Committee asked questions on a number of related issues 
including an IT Strategy, communications, the use of consultants, the Pension 
Fund, and the effects of the population growth on the Council’s resources. 
 
Councillor Peck then responded in detail to the concerns raised. 
 
The Committee noted that everything the Council delivered involved the use 
of ICT and it was therefore imperative to have a more sophisticated system 
that linked all services more effectively. 
 
The Council’s Investment Panel was very proactive in monitoring the 
performance of the Council’s Pension Fund and it was important to consider it 
as a long-term rather than short-term investment. Funds had been 
rediversified to counteract the fall in stocks and shares, and contributions still 
outweighed losses. 
 
The Chair thanked Councillor Peck for his presentation. 
 
 

9. BUDGET AND POLICY FRAMEWORK ISSUES  
 
 

9.1 Resource Allocation and Budget Review 2009/10 - 2010/11  
 
Councillor Peck presented the report which began the process of reviewing 
the Council’s three year budget prior to setting the Council tax for 2009/10. 
The report also identified how the Council could maximise the opportunities of 
having an agreed three year budget position. 

Page 6



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE, 
29/07/2008 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

5 

 
Councillor Peck reported that both the General Fund and the Housing 
Revenue Account had been underspent in the previous year and were now in 
a strong, healthy position. However he advised that although these 
underspends were brought about by effective management of resources, the 
conditions which enabled this to take place were largely fortuitous and 
continuous assessment and vigilance would still be needed to ensure the 
Council’s remained in a strong position. 
 
Arising from the question and answer session that followed the Committee 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the following comments be submitted to the Cabinet for consideration: 
 
The Committee welcome the underspend on both the General Fund and 
Housing Revenue Account and seek assurances from the Lead Member that 
this money will be invested to address some of the major needs in the 
Borough such as overcrowding.  
 
The Committee have been assured that if inflation rises dramatically then 
funds will have to be sought from the reserves to ensure there is not a 
significant rise in Council Tax. The Lead Member also acknowledged that the 
cost of living is increasing dramatically and any increase in Council Tax will 
have to reflect this.  
 
The Committee ask that consideration be given through both the Council’s 
funds generally and the Working Neighbourhood Fund specifically to 
addressing unemployment in specific wards as this is having significant 
impact on families.  
 
Overview and Scrutiny Members recognise that this is the first part of our 
scrutiny of the budget process and look forward to further more detailed 
discussions as part of the Council budget setting process. The Committee 
also welcome the assurance from the Lead Member on the involvement of the 
third sector and voluntary agencies in the budget consultation process.  
 
 

10. PERFORMANCE MONITORING  
 
 

10.1 Tower Hamlets Index  
 
Councillor Peck introduced the first monitoring report for the new Tower 
Hamlets Index which reflected the new Strategic Plan 2008/09 and the new 
Local Area Agreement. 
 
He advised the Committee that the performance indicator framework had 
been revised following the introduction of the new national indicators, and the 

Page 7



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE, 
29/07/2008 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

6 

targets for all indicators were set to assist the Council in reaching its ambition 
of being one of the top performers in inner London. 
 
In response to a question concerning the use of ‘Amber’ indicators, Councillor 
Peck advised that this should be viewed positively as it meant that although a 
target had not yet been met it was expected to be by the year end. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

11. PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY OF SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
CABINET PAPERS  
 
The Chair MOVED and it was: - 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the following pre-decision questions be submitted to Cabinet for 
consideration: 
 
Agenda Item 6.1 Recycling Improvement Plan for Tower Hamlets (CAB 
018/089) 
 
1. Does the Cabinet feel that the targets we have set are ambitious 

enough and what are the comparisons with other boroughs? 
 

2. In regards to kitchen waste the report does not mention how 
households will be expected to manage the storage/smell of their 
waste containers. Can the Cabinet clarify this? 

 
3. Will the Cabinet consider introducing recycling litter bins? 

 
4. Can the Cabinet consider introducing a scheme to cover white goods / 

electronics which would allow residents to arrange collection at a 
specific point and time similar to that provided for unwanted household 
collection? 

 
Agenda Item 6.2 Review of Public Footway Trading Fees and Charges 
2008/09 (CAB 019/089) 
 
In regards to public space for table and chairs - will we have very specific 
instructions for license holders including specific agreed areas and times and 
perhaps a 'penalty' for encroaching?  
 
Agenda Item 6.3 Compulsory Purchase Action for 4 Long-Term Vacant 
Properties (CAB 020/089) 
 
Will the Cabinet consider offering the properties to RSLs at current market 
value to increase the social housing available from this CPO? 

Page 8



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE, 
29/07/2008 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

7 

 
Agenda Item 6.4 Housing Priority Areas 2008/10(CAB 021/089) 
 
Can the Cabinet consider the needs of disabled people under the priority to 
relieve overcrowding as some people in this group may be able to move but 
their new properties will need to be designed to meet their needs?  
 
Agenda Item 10.2 Working Neighbourhoods Fund (CAB 031/089) 
 
As there is a severe lack of funding for ESOL Level 1 and 2 in Tower Hamlets 
as a whole it directly affects cohesive neighbourhoods and also residents 
ability and skills to seek employment. Will the Cabinet give some thought on 
how WNF can be allocated to fund and direct future delivery of this service? 
 
 

Page 9



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

1 
1 

Committee: 
 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

Date: 
 
9th September 

Classification: 
 

Unrestricted  
 
 

Report No: 
 
 

Agenda 
Item: 

Report of:  
 
Corporate Director      Stephen Halsey 
 
Originating officer(s) Andy Bamber, 
Head of Community Safety Service 
 

Title:  
 
Crime and Drugs Reduction Partnership Plan 
2008-11 (CDRP Plan) 
 
Wards Affected: All 
 

 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
The draft Crime and Drugs Reduction Partnership Plan 2008-11 (CDRP Plan) is 
attached. 
 
1.1 The twin objectives of the document are:- 

� To highlight our priorities and guide our work as a partnership 
� To meet statutory requirements  

 
1.2 Background: 

� The plan is a statutory document for all boroughs under the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998 

� The plan is embedded in our strategic framework as a delivery plan for our 
2020 Community Plan. Specifically it is the delivery plan for the ‘Tackling and 
Preventing Crime’ priority under the Safe and Supportive Community theme. 

� The plan is based on the priority and target setting work led by the Living 
CPAG over the past 10 months.  

� Following extensive consultation with partners and residents the plan was 
agreed by at the Living Safely CPAG on 15th July 2008 

� An action plan has also been agreed, reflecting the specific activities 
underpinning the broader commitments in the plan. 

� The documents have been produced in accordance with statutory and best 
practice guidelines.  

 
1.3 The CDRP Plan forms part of the Budget and Policy framework for the Council 

under the Council’s Constitution. 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

Overview and Scrutiny is requested to review the crime and drugs reduction 
partnership plan 2008-11 attached at appendix 1 to this report and make 
recommendations to Cabinet. 

 

Agenda Item 8.1

Page 11



 
 

2 
2 

______________________________________________________________________ 
 

Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 
List of  “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 

 
None 
______________________________________________________________________ 

 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Home Office recently reviewed Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships 

(CDRPs) and embedded new requirements in the Police and Justice Act 2006.  
The requirement to produce a 3 year Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership 
Plan (CDRP Plan) remained in place. However, rather than this remain static 
local areas had to refresh the priorities and delivery plan that the document is 
based on every year. 

 
3.2 This annual review was based on the new requirement for Local Strategic 

Partnerships to produce a Strategic Assessment – priorities identified in 
partnership, through a thorough analysis of data, including consultation data, 
about crime and anti-social behaviour in the Borough. 

 
3.3 The contents of the CDRP Plan were also clarified. It now must include: 

� Priorities arising from the Strategic Assessment 
� A performance management framework, illustrating how performance against 

these priorities will be measured 
� A delivery plan, including partners’ contributions and how they will be 

resourced 
� Details of how community engagement fed in to the development of the plan 

 
3.4 There is a further requirement to produce a summary document, whose content 

is specified.  We are required to publish this by the end of July, in a format that 
makes it accessible to diverse communities. This requirement has been met by 
the publication of our Community Safety Booklet. 

 
4. CONTENT AND DEVELOPMENT PROCESS 
 
4.1 Content Overview 

The main content of the plan, in accordance with statute and Home Office 
guidance, is: - 
� Introduction by CDRP chairs 
� Links to the Community Plan and LAA 
� Our Approach 
� Our Performance (against previous plan) 
� Overview of Priorities and Consultation 
� Details of each priority with targets 
� Partnership Delivery Structure 

Page 12



 
 

3 
3 

 
4.2 Development Process 

The Living Safely CPAG has overseen the development of the plan over the past 
10 months. The diagram below shows the development process 

 

  
4.3 Priorities and Cross Cutting Themes 

In terms of crime types our priorities for 2008/09 are: 
� Acquisitive Crime - particularly robbery, burglary and motor vehicle crime 
� Anti-Social Behaviour – including arson, graffiti, and rowdy behaviour 
� Class A Drug Supply – enforcement against drug dealing 
� Hate crime and incidents – i.e. incidents where the victim is targeted because 

of their race/ethnicity, religion/belief, gender/gender identity, disability, age, 
sexual orientation or any other actual or perceived difference 

� Resilience and Counter-Terrorism – ensuring our communities are resistant to 
violent extremism 

� Violent Crime - particularly domestic violence, sexual violence and alcohol 
related violence 

 
In addition to these we have identified a number of cross-cutting themes: 
� Criminal justice – ensuring offenders are effectively brought to justice 
� Drug use - services for those with drug and alcohol problems 
� Reducing reoffending - providing effective services to ex-offenders 
� Juvenile crime – aiming to reduce reoffending by young people and the 

victimisation of young people. 
 
 
 
4.4 Consultation and Resident Engagement 

Strategic Assessment (Nov. 2007) 

Performance Management Framework (Dec. 2007) 

Governance Review (Feb. 2008) 

2008/09 Delivery Plan Development (Mar. 2008) 

Partnership Plan (Jul. 2008) 

Page 13



 
 

4 
4 

Consultation on a draft plan took place between19th June and 3rd July 2008.  
This included presentations at all DMTs and CMT, one to one meetings with key 
partners and extensive distribution to Living Safely CPAG, Programme Boards, 
key police and voluntary sector partners and CSS staff.  Over 50 individual 
responses were received and the plan has been redrafted to reflect this 
feedback. 
 
In addition, whilst the plan is going through the approval process it will be placed 
on the Tower Hamlets website as a draft and residents will be invited to 
comment. 

 
5. FURTHER WORK 

Between August and October 2008 there will be a Governance Review of the 
Partnership Structure (everything from the CDRP (Living Safely CPAG) 
downwards) by the Home Office.  The new structure will be implemented from 
April 2009.  The next Strategic Assessment, for 2009/10, will be agreed in 
November 2008. In addition the Partnership is going to develop a Strategic 
Assessment dedicated to the Olympics – we will be the first of the 5 Boroughs to 
do this work. 

 
6. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
6.1 There are no specific financial implications emanating from this report (which 

seeks Cabinet approval to the Crime and Drugs Reduction Partnership Plan 
2008-11) as all aspects of the delivery of the plan will be contained from within 
existing budgets. 

 
7. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE (LEGAL) 
 
7.1 The Crime & Disorder Act 1998 (as amended by the Police & Justice Act 2006) 

provides that each borough should formulate and implement a strategy for the 
reduction of crime and disorder (including anti social behaviour and other 
behaviour  adversely affecting the local environment); and) a strategy for 
combating the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances in the area.  

7.2 Prior to formulating the strategy the responsible authorities must carry out a 
review of the levels and patterns of crime and disorder in the area, prepare an 
analysis of the results of that review and publish a report of that analysis. 

 
7.3 The strategy should include the objectives of the authorities together with long and 

short term performance targets for measuring whether the objectives are 
achieved. 

 
7.4    It is a statutory requirement that the strategy is kept under review each 3 year 

period for the purposes of monitoring its effectiveness and making any necessary 
changes that are necessary or expedient. This report fulfils the statutory 
requirements. 

Page 14



 
 

5 
5 

 
8. EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 The evidence shows that both economically disadvantaged groups and BME 

communities are disproportionately impacted by crime. The strategy also 
addresses issues such as hate crime and domestic violence, which impact 
disproportionately on particular groups. The strategy is therefore expected to 
make an important contribution to reducing inequality in the borough. Equalities 
implications of any interventions form a key part of any project planning and 
associated services regularly carry out Equalities Impact Assessments. 

 
9. ANTI-POVERTY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 There is a proven link between poverty and crime, with the poorest in society 

disproportionately affected both as victims and offenders.  Reduction in crime is 
associated with increasing inward investment and increased prosperity. 

 
 
10. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 
10.1 The strategy includes actions which will improve the local environment and work 

to ensure more sustainable solutions to designing out crime are incorporated 
into new developments. The implementation of Better Tower Hamlets Teams is 
developing strong partnerships between Police, Anti Social Behaviour and 
Enviro-crime enforcement services which will reduce littering, graffiti, illegal 
dumping and abandoned cars. 

 
11. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
11.1 Risks centre around the non-delivery of targets due to reduction in resourcing 

nationally or locally. There is also the risk that, in the life of the strategy, new 
crime priorities may emerge. To this end, detailed plans will be agreed annually, 
based on a review of outcomes, resources and local circumstances. 

 
12. APPENDICES 
 

Appendix 1 – Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership Plan 2008-11 

Page 15



Page 16

This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Stronger and 
Safer 

Communities 
 
 

Tower Hamlets Partnership 
 

Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy  
2008 – 2011 

 
Year 1: April 2008 – March 2009 

 

Page 17



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
2 

 
 
 
Contents 
 
Introduction - Our Crime Reduction Blueprint 3 
Our Community Plan and Local Area Agreement 4 
Our Approach 5 
Our Performance 2005 – 08 (summary) 7 
Our Priorities 2008 – 09 and Delivery Plan 9 

Serious Acquisitive Crime 10 
Anti-Social Behaviour 12 
Class A Drug Supply  15 
Hate crime 17 
Violent Crime 19 
Resilience and Counter-Terrorism 23 
Drug use 25 
Reducing Reoffending 27 
Juvenile Crime 29 
Criminal justice 31 

Appendix 1: Partnership Delivery Structure 32 
Appendix 2: Our Performance: 2005 - 2008 35 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
3 

Introduction - Our Crime Reduction Blueprint 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Councillor Abdal Ullah 
 

Lead Member for Cleaner, 
Safer, Greener 

 

Residents repeatedly say that crime is their number 1 priority for the borough. 
Those of us working with our communities know that reducing crime is an 
essential part of enabling them to meet their full potential. Resident and 
partners are united in a view that crime, anti social behaviour and drugs will 
not be tolerated in Tower Hamlets. 
 

By working together we have had considerable success in reducing crime – 
overall crime in Tower Hamlets has dropped over 24% between 2003/04 and 
2007/08. Yet concern about crime, as measured by our Annual Residents’ 
Survey, has increased over the past 2 years. This means that we still have 
more challenging work to do. We will continue to do whatever is necessary to 
stop unacceptable behaviour, and improve the quality of life for everyone 
living or working in the borough. 
 

This document is our blueprint for reducing crime, anti social behaviour and 
drugs. It is a delivery strategy for Our Community Plan and Local Area 
Agreement. The issues are complex so we have developed a multi-faceted 
response, an overview of which is in the section on Our Approach. 
 

We have: 
� Looked at Our Performance over the past year, to improve our 

accountability to local people. 
� Developed Our Priorities for the borough over the next year, based on data 

from across the partnership. 
� Worked in Partnership to produce Our Action Plan for delivering a stronger 

and safer Tower Hamlets. 
 

It has been developed with the involvement of a wide range of partners 
including residents, police, council, fire service, probation, health, voluntary, 
faith and community groups, and businesses. To ensure that our strategy is 
responsive we will refresh it every year. We welcome public scrutiny and will 
publicly report on our performance, at Local Area Partnership meetings and 
ward panels, and in East End Life. 
 

We have the highest aspirations for our communities. Working together to 
deliver this strategy will help these be realised.  

Page 19



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
4 

Our Community Plan and Local Area Agreement 
 

The vision of the 2020 Community Plan is to “improve the quality of life for 
everyone who lives and works in the borough.”  To turn this vision into reality, 
the Plan is split into four themes – each designed to respond to the challenges 
and opportunities in the Borough and deliver lasting improvements for local 
people. 
 
The four themes are: 
� A Great Place to Live 
� A Prosperous Community 
� A Safe and Supportive Community 
� A Healthy Community 
Underpinning all these themes is a desire to build One Tower Hamlets - a 
borough where people have the same opportunities as their neighbours. This 
is our commitment to make all sure all of our work responds to the wishes of 
individual communities. 
  
The Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy is a key delivery plan for the Safe 
and Supportive Communities theme of the 2020 Community Plan.  The Safe 
and Supportive Community theme is at the heart of our vision for Tower 
Hamlets and reflects our belief that cutting crime and anti-social behaviour is 
about improving quality of life.  Our supportive approach enables everyone, 
particularly young people, to fulfil their potential, channelling their energies in 
a positive way. 
 
Within the Safe and Supportive Community theme there are 3 priorities: 
� Tackling and preventing crime  
� Empowering older and vulnerable people and supporting families 
� Focussing on early intervention 
 
The Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy cuts across all these priorities, but 
is the key delivery plan for the first, tackling and preventing crime. This will be 
delivered by: 
� Reducing crime and promoting successes effectively to reduce concerns 

about crime 
� Reducing re-offending through holistic intervention with all who become 

involved with the criminal justice system 
� Making crime prevention a key element of all service planning through 

implementing Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, as the 
statutory basis upon which partners throughout the public sector are 
required to consider the impact on crime of their wider decision making. 

 
The strategy recognises the abuse of older people and other vulnerable adults 
is a key community safety issue requiring co-ordinated partnership work. 
 
We will use our Local Area Agreement 2008-11 to deliver the first 3 
years of the 2020 Community Plan. The Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy 
is also the delivery plan for the crime, anti social behaviour and drugs 
elements of this.

Page 20



Ou
r A

pp
roa

ch
 

 W
e r

ec
og

nis
e t

ha
t in

eq
ua

lity
 an

d c
rim

e a
re 

str
on

gly
 lin

ke
d. 

As
 su

ch
, r

ed
uc

ing
 cr

im
e i

s i
ne

xtr
ica

bly
 lin

ke
d w

ith
 im

pro
vin

g s
erv

ice
s 

ac
ros

s t
he

 bo
ard

 – 
su

ch
 as

 ho
us

ing
, s

ch
oo

ls 
an

d h
ea

lth
ca

re.
  

 Alo
ng

sid
e 

thi
s l

on
g 

ter
m 

wo
rk 

we
 a

re 
em

plo
yin

g 
a 

ran
ge

 o
f c

om
pli

me
nta

ry 
ap

pro
ac

he
s t

o 
sp

ec
ific

all
y r

ed
uc

e 
cri

me
, a

nti
 so

cia
l 

be
ha

vio
ur,

 dr
ug

s a
nd

 co
nc

ern
 ab

ou
t c

rim
e. 

Th
e t

ab
le 

be
low

 gi
ve

s a
n o

ve
rvi

ew
 of

 th
es

e: 
 

  

 
W
ork
ing
 w
ith
 O

ur 
Co

mm
un

ity
  

W
ork
ing
 w
ith
 O

ffe
nd

ers
 an
d T

ho
se

 at
 

Ris
k o

f R
e/O

ffe
nd

ing
 

W
ork
ing
 in
 N

eig
hb

ou
rho

od
s 

Sh
ort
 Te

rm
 

Pr
ov
ide
 an
 ef
fec
tiv
e 

res
po
ns
e t
o c
rim
e w

he
n 

it h
ap
pe
ns
 

� 
Pr
ov
ide
 ac
ce
ss
ibl
e a
nd
 ef
fec
tiv
e 

cri
me
 re
po
rtin
g 

� 
Su
pp
ort
 an
d p
rot
ec
t v
ict
im
s a
nd
 

wit
ne
ss
es
  

� 
Fe
ed
 ba
ck
 w
he
n a
cti
on
 is
 ta
ke
n 

� 
En
su
re 
eff
ec
tiv
e m

ult
i a
ge
nc
y 

res
po
ns
es
 to
 th
e a
bu
se
 of
 

vu
lne
rab

le 
pe
op
le 

� 
Pr
ov
ide
 ef
fec
tiv
e i
nv
es
tig
ati
on
 an
d 

en
for
ce
me
nt 

� 
Br
ing
 of
fen
de
rs 
to 
jus
tic
e 

� 
Ut
ilis
e t
he
 fu
ll r
an
ge
 of
 av
ail
ab
le 

too
ls 
an
d p
ow
ers
 

 

� 
De
live

r n
eig
hb
ou
rho

od
 

en
for
ce
me
nt 
an
d p
oli
cin
g  

� 
Fo
cu
s l
oc
al 
se
rvi
ce
s i
n h
ots
po
ts 

 

Me
diu
m 
Te
rm
 

Pr
ev
en
t c
rim
e 

ha
pp
en
ing
 an
d s
top
 it 

fro
m 
ha
pp
en
ing
 ag
ain
 

� 
Co
mm

un
ity
 le
d a
cti
vit
y 

� 
Co
mm

un
ica
te 
ou
r s
uc
ce
ss
es
 

� 
De
live

r a
dv
ice
, in
for
ma
tio
n a
nd
 

tra
ini
ng
 

� 
W
ork
 pr
oa
cti
ve
ly 
wit
h r
ep
ea
t 

vic
tim
s a
nd
 vu
lne
rab

le 
pe
op
le 

� 
Ut
ilis
e c
om
mu
nit
y i
nte
llig
en
ce
 

� 
Ra
isin

g a
wa
ren

es
s i
n t
he
 

co
mm

un
ity
 of
 ad
ult
 pr
ote
cti
on
 

iss
ue
s, 
en
co
ura
gin
g r
ec
og
nit
ion
, 

rep
ort
ing
, a
nd
 in
ter
ve
nti
on
 

� 
Re
se
ttle
 ex
-of
fen
de
rs 

� 
Pr
oa
cti
ve
ly 
wo
rk 
wit
h t
ho
se
 at
 ris
k 

an
d t
he
ir f
am
ilie
s  

� 
De
live

r d
ive
rsi
on
ary
 pr
og
ram

me
s  

� 
Pr
ov
ide
 ef
fec
tiv
e d
rug

s a
nd
 al
co
ho
l 

se
rvi
ce
s 

� 
Ut
ilis
e r
es
tor
ati
ve
 ap
pro

ac
he
s 

� 
Pr
ov
ide
 pa
ren

tin
g p
rog

ram
me
s 

� 
Im
pro

ve
 th
e e
nv
iro
nm
en
t in
 

ho
tsp
ots
 

� 
De
ve
lop
 C
CT
V c

ap
ac
ity
 fu
rth
er 

� 
Ma
na
ge
 es
tat
es
 an
d 

ne
igh
bo
urh

oo
ds
 

� 
De
sig
n o
ut 
cri
me
 

Lo
ng
 Te

rm
 

Re
mo
ve
 th
e c
au
se
s o
f 

cri
me
 

� 
Inc
rea

se
 co
mm

un
ity
 co
he
sio
n b
y 

bri
ng
ing
 re
sid
en
ts 
fro
m 
dif
fer
en
t 

ba
ck
gro

un
ds
 to
ge
the
r 

� 
Su
pp
ort
 an
d e
ng
ag
e p
are

nts
 

an
d c
are

rs 

� 
Es
tab
lish

 an
 ea
rly
 pr
ev
en
tio
n /
 

int
erv
en
tio
n a
pp
roa

ch
 

� 
Re
ge
ne
rat
e n
eig
hb
ou
rho

od
s 

Page 21



Across all this work we will make use of our 4 hallmarks of good practice: 
1. We will actively seek the views of local people and respond to them 
2. We will focus our approaches to the needs of the borough’s diverse 

communities 
3. We will target our work on the basis of a strategic assessment of our 

priorities 
4. We will achieve value for money by focusing our resources on those 

things that most effectively achieve successful outcomes 

Page 22



Our Performance: 2005 - 2008 
 
Every year, our Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership considers 
evidence from partners and the views of residents in setting targets about how 
well it expects services to perform.  Services in Tower Hamlets are 
accountable to the local community for their performance.  We aim to regularly 
feedback to residents on how we are progressing.  This section gives an 
overview of the Tower Hamlets Partnership’s performance for the last 3 years, 
in each priority area. 
 
In summary, out of our 47 key targets we: 
� Successfully achieved 30 (64%)  
� Failed to achieve 8 (17%) 
� Made good progress on 9 (19%) but with further work to be done 
 
In terms of performance in each of our priority areas: 
 

� Crimes against property 
In spite of excellent  reductions in vehicle crime, robbery, residential 
burglary and theft from the person between 2005 and 2008, serious 
acquisitive crime remains slightly higher than the average of both our 
group of similar boroughs nationally and London. That is a gap we intend 
to close further. 

 

� Violent crime 
Over the past 3 years we have seen reductions in violence (defined as 
common assault, actual bodily harm and grievous bodily harm) in the 
borough. We have also seen a significant improvement in sanctioned 
detection rates for both domestic violence and rape, and a reduction in the 
time taken before victims of domestic violence seek help from a specialist 
agency. Tower Hamlets Police are in the top 5 in London for their 
response to Domestic Violence and are an example of best practice in 
responding to cases of forced marriage.  
Violent crime remains slightly higher than the average of both our group of 
similar boroughs nationally and London but again the gap is closing. 

 

� Anti-Social Behaviour  
Progress has been made in reducing arson and criminal damage, and we 
have successfully stepped up our use of Anti Social Behaviour Orders and 
Acceptable Behaviour Contracts.  87% of those given ABCs in Tower 
Hamlets did not go on to enter the Criminal Justice System.  The borough 
has become cleaner and abandoned vehicles are removed more 
effectively. However perception of anti social behaviour amongst residents 
remains high when compared to the rest of London. 

 

� Drug Misuse and Drug Related Crime 
We have significantly stepped up our enforcement action against those 
who supply and misuse drugs, to the point where more people were 
arrested for Class A supply and possession offences in Tower Hamlets 
last year than in any other London Borough. We have also been 
successful at involving drug misusing offenders in drugs services. We 

Page 23



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
8 

have increased the number of young people and adult problematic drug 
users in treatment. We have improved our ability to retain drug users in 
treatment for longer times. 
However, we need to make our services even more accessible, because 
there are still not enough adult problematic drug users accessing 
treatment.  

 

� Hate Crime 
The proportion of sanctioned detections for race and homophobic related 
crime has increased. The strategy predicted an increase followed by a 
reduction in reported hate crime.  This has materialised, with a significant 
reduction in reports in 2007/08 compared with 2006/07. A similar trend has 
been seen across London.  

 

� Youth Crime 
We have seen a decrease in the proportion of young people who receive 
custodial sentences.  However, the number of people entering the Youth 
Justice system for the first time has increased slightly.  We have seen 
good reductions in reoffending, particularly from referral order panels and 
we would like this rate to reduce further, to bring us into line with other 
Boroughs.  Overall, most targets were met and substantial improvements 
were made on those items where targets were missed.  

 

� Concern about Crime 
Surveys show a significant reduction in residents’ perception of key types 
of anti social behaviour as a problem.  Examples include young people 
hanging around, people using or dealing drugs, damage to vehicles and 
property. However perception of these areas as a problem is still high 
compared to the rest of London. In addition, we have seen an increase in 
residents’ concern about crime, and a decrease in their feelings of safety 
at night. 

 
Full details of performance against all targets can be found in Appendix 1 at 
the end of this document. 

Page 24



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
9 

Our Priorities: 2008 - 2009 
 
The Partnership set priorities for this year during a process called the 
Strategic Assessment. This involved a comprehensive gathering and 
analysis of data from across the partnership, with contributing agencies 
including the Police, Council, Fire Service, Registered Social Landlords and 
Victim Support.  
 
Community views also played a key part in developing our priorities. We 
analysed data from all consultation exercises undertaken in the last 3 years. 
In addition in 2007/08 we conducted 10 focus groups with diverse groups 
within the community to identify concerns and appropriate responses. We also 
conducted a survey with 1,100 residents asking them about key issues, 
including anti social behaviour, policing and hate crime. 
Analysis of these fed into our Strategic Assessment which was then discussed 
by residents at our Police and Community Safety Board. 
 
The strategic assessment and the priorities for 2008/09 were agreed by the 
Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership. 
 
In terms of Crime Types our priorities are: 
� Acquisitive Crime - particularly robbery, burglary and motor vehicle crime 
� Anti-Social Behaviour – including arson, graffiti, and rowdy behaviour 
� Class A Drug Supply – enforcement against drug dealing  
� Hate crime and incidents – i.e. incidents where the victim is targeted 

because of their race/ethnicity, religion/belief, gender/gender identity, 
disability, age, sexual orientation or any other actual or perceived 
difference 

� Resilience and Counter-Terrorism – ensuring our communities are 
resistant to violent extremism 

� Violent Crime - particularly domestic violence, sexual offences and alcohol 
related violence 

 
In addition to these we have identified a number of Cross-Cutting Themes: 
� Criminal justice – ensuring offenders are effectively brought to justice 
� Drug use - services for those with drug and alcohol problems 
� Reducing reoffending - providing effective services to ex-offenders 
� Juvenile crime – aiming to reduce reoffending by young people and the 

victimisation of young people. 
 
These priorities are well owned by local experts at the appropriate 
Programme Board (see Appendix 1 below). Programme Boards are 
responsible for making change happen on the ground and have such 
developed a Delivery Plan for their priority. Where appropriate these 
delivery plans have been made publicly available. 
 

Page 25



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
10

Acquisitive Crime 
 
This work focuses on residential burglary, robbery and motor vehicle crime.  
Using an intelligence and evidence based approach, we have targeted this 
work in areas where it will make most difference, such as around markets and 
transport hubs.  Public transport specialists such as Transport for London and 
British Transport Police will be working even more closely to ensure people 
are safe on journeys in Tower Hamlets.  Organisations with a large number of 
commuters will be particularly engaged in this work including businesses and 
schools, who will continue to take an active role in travel planning and 
monitoring around peak periods. 
 
We will continue to invest heavily in preventing this type of crime by designing 
out the environmental factors that make an area vulnerable.  This includes 
influencing the way that new developments impact upon people’s safety.  We 
will use CCTV to uncover hidden criminal activity and identify perpetrators, for 
example by using facial recognition technology. 
 
We recognise that perpetrators of these crimes are often repeat offenders, 
and there is a well established drugs link to acquisitive crime.  We will 
therefore work closely with colleagues in projects such as the Priority Prolific 
Offenders Scheme and the Drug Intervention Programme. 
 
To help residents and businesses to feel safer, we will be clear about actions 
they or we can take, and will provide an enhanced service to those who are 
repeat victims.  We will work closely with groups who are vulnerable to 
particular types of crime, such as university students, older people and 
businesses.  The community’s role, for example, participating in 
Neighbourhood Watch schemes, will be crucial in helping us achieve our 
ambitious targets in this area. 
 
Communications 
We will effectively communicate our work on acquisitive crime, including: - 
� Promotion of “immobilise” for registering valuable goods 
� Promotion of Neighbourhood Watch 
� Surveys on concern about victimisation 
� Engaging in roadshows and days of action 
� Press strategy and local news stories 
� Provision of information and advice around acquisitive crime, through 

the community safety booklet and other regular media announcements 
 
One Tower Hamlets 
We will ensure our work in this area is focussed on the needs of diverse 
communities.  We know that young people, including students, are more likely 
to be victims of certain acquisitive crimes, and therefore have a strong focus 
on this.  This includes working with schools and enabling safer transport 
arrangements for young people. We also acknowledge the protection of 
vulnerable adults as a priority here and continue to fund crime prevention 
improvements to vulnerable adults’ property. 

Page 26



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
11

Performance Information 
 
Local Area Agreement Indicator 
 

Targets No. Indicator Baseline 08/09 09/10 10/11 

NI16 Serious Acquisitive Crime Rate 
35.5 per 
1,000 

population 
(06/07) 

-4.2% -1.9% -1.9% 

 
Other Key Indicators 
 

Targets No. Indicator Baseline 08/09 09/10 10/11 
AC1 Residential Burglary 

15.98 per 
1,000 

population 
-2.5% -1% -1% 

AC2 Theft from motor vehicle 
14.1 per 
1,000 

population 
-7.9% -3% -2% 

AC3 Theft of motor vehicle 
5.5 per 
1,000 

population 
-1% -1% -1% 

AC4 Personal robbery 
6.42 per 
1,000 

population 
-1% -2.5% -2.5% 

AC5 Serious acquisitive crime sanction 
detection rate 9.8% 11.7% Not 

set Not set 
 
Key Document 
� Acquisitive Crime Programme Board Delivery Plan 
 

Page 27



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
12

Anti-Social Behaviour 
 
We aim to tackle anti-social behaviour (ASB) in all its forms, working through 
local frontline services, such as the Better Tower Hamlets Teams, introducing 
Neighbourhood Enforcement Officers and increasing the visibility of all our 
partners in local neighbourhoods through events like Estate Action Weekends 
on Crime and Grime. By having more face to face contact with residents, 
listening to their concerns and feeding back with factual information and the 
action we have taken to help, we aim to increase their confidence and tackle 
concern about anti-social behaviour.  We will have a particular focus on young 
people, with voluntary and community groups providing diversionary activities 
which bring youth into contact with older generations.  We will target specialist 
resources where necessary, such as providing a dedicated Arson Taskforce, 
and a graffiti “tag identification system”. 
 
As for those causing ASB, we investigate reports, taking statements and 
investing in cutting edge evidence gathering techniques, in order to build 
cases and bring perpetrators to justice.  This will mean using the most 
effective and proportionate tool to resolve the problem and may include things 
such as Acceptable Behaviour Contracts (ABCs) and Anti-Social Behaviour 
Orders (ASBOs).  On occasion, we may consult with the community on the 
use of Good Behaviour Zones or Drinking Control Zones to disperse people 
from an area and divert them into other activities.  Tools like restorative justice 
will become increasingly important, as we seek interventions that bring about 
changes in attitude and make a long-term difference.  Working with those 
causing the problem, alongside their family and community, we aim to bring 
people together, and prevent the same thing happening again. 
 
The success of this work is heavily predicated on the work of partners such as 
schools, Tower Hamlets Homes and social landlords.  High quality interaction 
between services will enable us to improve standards across the board.  We 
are also reliant upon the help of residents - establishing a good two way 
communication between them and the agencies that are there to help. 
 
Communications 
We will effectively communicate our work on anti social behaviour including: - 
� Advertising 
� Produce and distribute a quarterly e-bulletin containing news about the 

work we are doing to tackle anti-social behaviour and information about 
how residents can get involved 

� Media relations and engagement work including PR event 
� Provision of useful safety tips, contacts and key information and advice 

around anti-social behaviour, through the community safety booklet 
and other regular media announcements 

� Develop and run a series of community events, supported by leaflet 
drops, to tackle attitudes to ASB  

� Roll-out communications campaign to raise awareness of reporting 
ASB, the Council reporting line, and the function it serves 

� We will consider advertising ASBOs and other enforcement actions in a 
sensitive, appropriate and proportionate way 

Page 28



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
13

 
One Tower Hamlets 
We will ensure our work in this area is focussed on the needs of diverse 
communities.  This means making our reporting systems accessible to all and 
being aware of how our use of tools and powers affects different groups.  We 
know that young men are overrepresented as recipients of enforcement action 
and are taking action on this through the Council’s Gender Equality Scheme.  
We are careful not to stigmatise young people, to understand the concerns of 
older people and to work inter-generationally to build relationships.  When we 
hold events and engage with families and the community, we will collect 
equalities monitoring information and review who we engage with.  We 
recognise that vulnerable adults are overrepresented in victim and perpetrator 
cohorts and will ensure that support is provided, if necessary alongside any 
enforcement action taken. 

Page 29



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
14

Performance Information 
 
Local Area Agreement Indicators 
 

Targets No. Indicator Baseline 08/09 09/10 10/11 

NI.21 
Dealing with local concerns about 
anti - social behaviour and crime 
by the local council and police 

To be 
baselined 
(New 

Indicator) 
Not 
set TBC TBC 

NI.33 Arson incidents 50.61% 49.1% 47.7% 46.2% 
 
Other Key Indicators 
 

Targets No. Indicator Baseline 08/09 09/10 10/11 
NI.17 Perceptions of anti social 

behaviour 49% (07/08) 44% 43% 41% 

NI.22 
Perceptions of parents not taking 
responsibility for the behaviour of 
their children in the area 

81% (07/08 
Outturn) 73% 71% 69% 

NI.23 
Perceptions that people in the are 
not treating one another with 
respect and consideration 

53.6% 
(07/08 
Outturn)  

50% 47% 44% 

NI.24 
Satisfaction with the way the police 
and local council dealt with 
antisocial behaviour 

To be 
baselined 
(New 

Indicator) 
Not 
set TBC TBC 

NI.25 
Satisfaction of different groups with 
the way the police and local 
council dealt with anti social 
behaviour 

To be 
baselined 
(New 

Indicator) 
Not 
set TBC TBC 

NI.27 
Understanding of local concerns 
about anti social behaviour and 
crime by the local council and 
police  

To be 
baselined 
(New 

Indicator) 
Not 
set TBC TBC 

NI.41 Perceptions of drunk or rowdy 
behaviour as a problem 

41.8% 
(07/08 
Outturn) 

40% 38% 36% 
 
Key Documents 
� Anti Social Behaviour Programme Board Delivery Plan 
� Anti Social Behaviour Procedure 
� Anti Social Behaviour Performance Report 
� Weekly Anti Social Behaviour briefing 

Page 30



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
15

Class A Drug Supply 
 
Drug dealing consistently emerges as Tower Hamlets residents’ biggest 
concern.  By showing that we are taking action against drug dealers, we hope 
to help ensure this is less of a problem for our residents.  Our new educational 
programme to de-glamorise the image of drug dealing amongst young people 
is a particularly important preventative measure.  This involves creating a 
DVD and lesson plan pack, which will be piloted in secondary schools and act 
as a sustainable resource for use by teachers and those working with young 
people. 
 
Our neighbourhood drug dealing project is a key example of how our work in 
this area is community led.  We respond to areas where drug dealing is very 
visible and makes residents feel unsafe.  When an area is consistently 
identified as a problem by partners and the community and has intelligence 
and evidence to support this, problem solving experts devise a range of 
enforcement tactics to catch offenders and confiscate their drugs and their 
earnings from them. This is where the support of the community is most 
needed, to provide intelligence and evidence through which we can bring 
offenders to justice. 
 
We want to make it more difficult to buy drugs in Tower Hamlets.  Our 
extensive market analysis and intelligence gathering enables us to identify 
and disrupt the market for drugs.  We also need to adapt our tactics to the 
changing nature of dealing. 
 
Communications 
We will effectively communicate our work on drug supply including: - 
� Publicise victim support available for those reporting drug crime 
� Stamp Out Drug Dealing campaign 
� Zero tolerance of drug dealing marketing 
� Tackling youth perceptions of drug dealing 
� Monthly data distribution 
� Senior level briefings 
� Ensure regular and consistent publicity of partnership drug enforcement 

activities  
� Develop and run a series of community events, supported by leaflet drops, 

to raise awareness of how to report drug use and dealing  
� Roll-out communications campaign to raise awareness of how to report 

drug use and dealing 
� Provision of key information and advice around drug use and supply, 

through the community safety booklet and other regular media 
announcements 

� Advertise drug seizure figures, arrests and other enforcement actions in a 
proportionate way 

Page 31



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
16

 
One Tower Hamlets 
We will ensure our work in this area is focussed on the needs of diverse 
communities.  We have a good understanding of the profiles of different drugs 
markets, which enables us to target resources accordingly.  We take a 
preventative approach by targeted work to change attitudes of young people. 
 
Performance Information 
 
Local Area Agreement Indicator 
 

Targets No. Indicator Baseline 08/09 09/10 10/11 
NI.42 Perceptions of drug use or drug 

dealing as a problem 
68% (06/07 
LGUSS) 65% 62% 60% 

 
Other Key Indicators 
 

Targets No. Indicator Baseline 08/09 09/10 10/11 
NI.38 Drug related (Class a drugs) 

offending rate 
Delayed 
09/10 None TBC TBC 

DS1 Class A Possession Arrests 439 461 Not 
set Not set 

DS2 Class A Supply Arrests 189 
227 
(+20
%) 

Not 
set Not set 

DS3 Number of Drugs Act Search 
Warrant Executed 200 210 

(+5%) 
Not 
set Not set 

 
Key Document 
� Drug Use and Supply Programme Board Delivery Plan 
 

Page 32



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
17

Hate Crime and Incidents 
 
We take an integrated approach to tackling hate crime. We take all forms of 
hate seriously, whatever the motivation of the perpetrators or identity of the 
victim(s). Our strategy for tackling hate focuses on three key areas 
 
� Ensuring victims get the best possible protection and support 
� Working together to hold perpetrators accountable 
� Prevention through promoting awareness, encouraging reporting and 

building community cohesion 
 
We promote and encourage reporting of hate crime, providing victims with a 
range of accessible options.  Our third party reporting project provides victims 
with the opportunity to report in confidence at safe, community locations.  
 
We provide support and advocacy to victims and vulnerable witnesses of hate 
crime to help them live safely and independently in their homes through 
specialist voluntary sector victim support workers and the Council’s Victim and 
Witness Support Team. Our Hate Crime Victims Needs Research Project will 
ensure that the most vulnerable victims in our community can be heard and 
understood and that services can be developed to meet their needs. 
 
We make every effort to ensure that perpetrators of hate crime are held 
accountable for their actions and the Police and Council have set targets to 
improve performance in this area. We monitor and manage responses to 
cases across agencies.   We also work closely with faith groups and the inter-
faith forum. 
 
Our Hate Incidents Panel ensures that key agencies work together to manage 
responses to hate incidents that gives a clear message to offenders that 
Tower Hamlets is No Place for Hate. 
 
We will invest in building the capacity of individuals and communities to 
challenge hate and build preventative approaches through our Hate Crime 
Champions project which will be extended to involve young people in positive 
activities to prevent crime and promote community cohesion.   
 
Communications 
Our No Place for Hate Campaign links to national and international campaigns 
and community festivals promoting community cohesion and a zero tolerance 
approach to all forms of hate. 
 
One Tower Hamlets 
Hate crime is a manifestation of prejudice and discrimination, where the 
perpetrators hostility against an identifiable group of people is a key factor in 
determining who is victimised. Taking robust and effective action to tackle 
hate crime is a key element of wider diversity and equality strategies. Our hate 
crime strategy focuses on the needs and concerns of people from all 
communities of interest.  

Page 33



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
18

 
Performance Information 
 

Targets No. Indicator Baseline 08/09 09/10 10/11 
HC1 

Increase the percentage of 
enforcement action in Hate Crime 
cases 

35% 
 70% 80% 90% 

HC2 Racist crime sanctioned detection 
rate 35% 38% Not 

set Not set 
HC3 Homophobic crime sanctioned 

detection rate 37.8% 44% Not 
set Not set 

 
Key Documents 
� Race and Hate Crime Inter Agency Forum Delivery Plan 
� Hate Crime Manual 
 

Page 34



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
19

Violent Crime 
 
Our approach to violent crime is focussed on developing targeted responses 
to different forms of violence, including domestic violence, sexual violence and 
alcohol related violence.   This includes work specifically addressing knife 
crime.  Work on youth on youth violence is lead by the YOT Management 
Board, for which see the Juvenile Crime section below.  Our partners, such as 
the PCT, Victim Support, Tower Hamlets Homes, housing associations and 
licensed premises interact with us through a range of fora.   Support and 
advocacy is made available to victims of all forms of violence.   
 
Alcohol Related Violence 
We recognise that the majority of violence offences have a link to alcohol and 
that many of our violent crime hotspots are located near licensed premises.  
We are currently developing an alcohol arrest referral scheme to enable us to 
provide a tailored response to this problem.  We will build on the strong 
partnership between the Council Licensing department, police and owners of 
licensed businesses. 
 
We seek to prevent alcohol related violence wherever we can, through 
advance planning, for example around major events or for safe disposal of 
glass bottles.  We aim to be a visible force in the Borough, present at key 
events and sending out a clear message that violence will not be tolerated.  
When violence does occur, we will provide a robust response to perpetrators, 
particularly in the case of repeat offenders.  Our resources are always 
targeted on the locations and offenders known to be associated with violence.   
 
Sexual Violence 
Our work on sexual violence focuses on encouraging victims to report rape 
and sexual offences to the police, and encouraging take up of specialist 
support available through the Haven Sexual Assault Referral Centre, in 
Whitechapel. Some services, such as counselling, can be made available 
anonymously.  We will focus on providing training to key professionals such 
as health service providers to increase their understanding of the issues 
involved.   
 
Domestic violence 
30% of reported violent crime in Tower Hamlets is domestic violence. The 
police deal with 4,000 incidents a year. Both adults and children are affected, 
and domestic violence is a major cause of homelessness, as well as a factor 
in a high proportion of child protection cases.  It is increasingly recognised that 
there is likely to be a significant hidden incidence of violence against elderly 
people and others who can be perceived as particularly vulnerable or 
dependent – for example, people with learning disabilities.  Accordingly, adult 
and children’s social services are key partners in this work. 
 
We have adopted the government definition of domestic violence that 
acknowledges the range of abusive and controlling behaviours involved, and 
cultural aspects such as forced marriage. 

Page 35



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
20

 
We aim to prevent domestic violence and reduce the harm it causes by 
developing a co-ordinated community response that supports and protects 
victims, holds abusers to account and reduces social tolerance through 
awareness raising campaigns and community education activities.  
 
We have developed a range of domestic violence services in the borough 
including advocacy for victims, provided by Tower Hamlets Victim Support 
Service; refuges; floating support; safety measures to enable them to remain 
in their homes if they choose to, and support for mothers and children to help 
them recover. Our services include specialist provision for Asian women and 
children. We are committed to continuously improve our response to victims’ 
complex range of needs by investing in service reviews and evaluations. We 
will also explore the development of a Family Justice Centre to deliver a “one 
stop” service. 
 
Domestic violence can involve very high levels of risk to both adults and 
children. Our Safety Planning Panel brings together key agencies to manage 
the risks. We have established a joint sub-group with the Local Safeguarding 
Children Board to focus on the specific needs of children and will be 
implementing new multi-agency procedures to ensure that a consistent 
approach is taken to assessing the risks they face and intervening to protect 
them when necessary. 
 
The police will continue to take a robust approach to offenders by 
implementing a proactive arrest policy in domestic violence cases. We are 
committed to developing a community based provision to help perpetrators 
change their behaviour. 
 
We aim to reduce tolerance of violence through our “Domestic Abuse. No 
Excuse.” campaign and through outreach work at festivals and events, 
sending a clear message that violence will not be tolerated. We will continue 
to run our award winning “Warrior Women” holistic personal safety training 
course and are planning further development of the programme to get 
external accreditation.   
 
Communications 
We will effectively communicate our work on violence including: 
• Campaigns focussed on key events and seasonal violence trends such as 
Valentine’s Day (Domestic Violence) and Christmas (Alcohol Related 
Violence). 

• Outreach activities at community festivals and events. 
• Providing a range of accessible public information on services for victims of 
domestic violence and rape and sexual assault.  

• Prevention and awareness publicity around rape and sexual offences 
• Awareness raising/information exchange on alcohol related violence. 
• Regular and consistent publicity of partnership work to tackle alcohol-
related violence 

Page 36



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
21

• Communications campaign to reduce tolerance of domestic abuse, and to 
raise awareness of support services, rolled out in line with seasonal trends 

• Video and communications campaign about knife crime, targeted at young 
people 

 
One Tower Hamlets 
We know that violence impacts differently on different groups, and target our 
responses accordingly. For example, men are more likely to be victims of 
violence on the streets, while women are more at risk in their homes. 
Domestic violence is in itself a manifestation of gender inequality, with women 
representing the majority of the most vulnerable victims. As a result, 
responding to the needs of women is our priority, though we ensure that 
services are also available to male victims and we provide services for same 
sex domestic violence victims. Domestic violence is seen across all 
communities, but the profile of the issues is different.  We ensure that our 
work in this area is focussed on the needs of diverse communities through 
addressing specific issues of concern such as the needs of victims who are 
subject to immigration control and work to tackle forced marriage. We ensure 
that all our service delivery is accessible and appropriate by monitoring 
service take up, and we use Equalities Impact Assessments to review our 
performance. 

Page 37



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
22

Performance Information 
 
Local Area Agreement Indicator 
 

Targets No. Indicator Baseline 08/09 09/10 10/11 
NI15 

Serious violent crime rate Will be 
baselined on 
08/09 data 

None TBC TBC 

 
Other Indicators 
 

Targets No. Indicator Baseline 08/09 09/10 10/11 

NI.20 Assault with injury crime rate 
To be 

baselined 
(New 

Indicator) 
None TBC TBC 

NI.26 Specialist support to victims of a 
serious sexual offence 

Delayed 
09/10 None TBC TBC 

NI.28 Knife crime rate 
2.16 per 
1,000 of 
population 

-6% -2% -1% 
NI.29 Gun crime rate 81 -5% -2% -2% 
NI.32 Repeat incidents of domestic 

violence 
Delayed 
09/08 None TBC TBC 

NI.34 Domestic Violence – Murder 1 0 0 0 
VC1 GBH Sanctioned Detections To be 

baselined None TBC TBC 
VC2 Rape Sanctioned Detections 30.9% 35% Not 

set Not set 
VC3 Domestic Sanctioned Detections 47.1% 47% Not 

set Not set 

VC4 
Average time taken before 
Domestic Violence is reported to a 
specialist service 

3.85 years 
(07/08) -9% -11% Not set 

 
Key Documents 
� Violent Crime Programme Board Delivery Plan 
� Domestic Violence Manual 
� Alcohol Strategic Plan 
� Adult Protection Manual and Procedures 
 

Page 38



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
23

Resilience and Counter-Terrorism 
 
This work is about recognising the threat to our communities of extremism in 
all its forms and specifically where it is linked to violence. We are committed to 
working with members of all of our communities to strengthen resilience to 
extremist messages and activities. 
  
Work in this area will involve engaging with families and communities to: 
identify and address the causes of all forms of violent extremism and 
community tension; build up intelligence to stop violent extremist attacks and 
make effective plans in case of future incidents. We know that we cannot 
achieve these aims working in isolation and are committed to strengthening 
accountability and transparency. We will engage and debate with our 
communities on these issues, increasing our own understanding of the impact 
on residents of both extremism and our approach to tackling its links to 
violence. To make sure we are effective we will work closely with a variety of 
partners, including social landlords and PCT emergency planning 
professionals.   
  

Communications 
We will effectively communicate our work in this area including: - 
� Dialogue with the community on key counter-terrorism issues 
� Awareness raising 
� Reassurance after incidents 
� Consultation on Community Safety Zones 
� Tailored local campaigns and contribution to central campaigns 
� Presentations to businesses 

 
One Tower Hamlets 
We will ensure our work in this area is focussed on the needs of diverse 
communities. One example of this is our structured, managed and 
accountable approach to identifying those vulnerable to extremism.  We use a 
variety of forums to engage with families and communities and ensure an 
ongoing dialogue about this work. 

Page 39



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
24

Performance Management 
 
Local Area Agreement Indicator 
 

Targets No. Indicator Baseline 08/09 09/10 10/11 
NI.35 Building Resilience to Violent 

Extremism 
12/20 
(07/08) 16 18 20 

 
Other Key Indicators 
 

Targets No. Indicator Baseline 08/09 09/10 10/11 

NI.36 Protection against terrorist acts 
Will be 

baselined 
using 08/09 

data 
None  Not 

set Not set 

NI.37 
Awareness of civil protection 
arrangements in the local area 
 

Will be 
baselined 
using 08/09 

data 
None  Not 

set Not set 

 
Key Document 
� Resilience and Counter Terrorism Programme Board Delivery Plan 
 

Page 40



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
25

Drug Use 
 
An extensive and integrated range of drug rehabilitation services are provided 
in Tower Hamlets, including specialist services for particular users, for 
example Bangladeshi men, women and young people.  The Harbour 
Recovery Centre, for example, is aimed at catching young non-injecting 
heroin users, predominantly from the Bangladeshi community, at an earlier 
stage in their drug-using careers. It is a residential detoxification and 
rehabilitation unit, which provides a specialist, culturally appropriate service.  
Our aim is to enable drug users to reintegrate in society.  We also provide 
drug awareness advice and education, in some cases associated with existing 
events and projects. 
 
Our alcohol work is pioneering, making strong links to health as well as to 
work around violence (see above).  We recognise the link between drug and 
alcohol addiction and we know that alcohol misuse is a problem affecting a 
large number of people in the Borough.  We have therefore significantly 
stepped up our approach to alcohol addiction, with a specialist partnership 
forum and detailed action plan around this work.  Both the Drug and Alcohol 
work are predicated on strong links between  the Drug and Alcohol Action 
Team (DAAT), Social Services and PCT. We are also further developing our 
links to mental health through the commissioning of a Dual Diagnosis service. 
 
Our pro-active arrest policy on Class A drug supply has an impact on the 
demand for treatment.  Significant numbers of drug using offenders are 
accessing our services.  The Drug Intervention Programme is a key link for 
drug using offenders to access treatment, enabling the cause of their 
behaviour to be addressed.  Events are also held to educate and raise 
awareness about addiction amongst professionals and the local community.   
 
Communications 
We will effectively communicate our work on drug treatment, including: - 
� Drug education and awareness events and weeks  
� Leaflets and publicity material 
� Communities forum 
� Service user and consultation groups e.g. the Young People’s Advisory 

Group 
� Representation on the Drug and Alcohol Action Team Board 

 
One Tower Hamlets 
We will ensure our work in this area is focussed on the needs of diverse 
communities.  We know that the profile of drug users is different for different 
drugs and have therefore targeted interventions to meet the needs of different 
ethnicities and genders.  One example of this is the specialist drug treatment 
service provision tailored for Muslim men. 

Page 41



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
26

 
Performance Management 
 
Local Area Agreement Indicator 
 

Targets No. Indicator Baseline 08/09 09/10 10/11 
NI.40 Drug users in effective treatment 1169 1263 1276 1289 
 
Other Key Indicators 
 

Targets No. Indicator Baseline 
08/09 09/10 10/11 

NI 
115 

Substance misuse by young 
people 

3% of young 
people 

frequently 
misusing 

substances 

Not  
set  

Not 
set  Not set 

DAT
1 

Reduced percentage of 
Drug Intervention Programme 
clients reoffending 

13% 9% Not 
set Not set 

 
Key Documents 
� Adult Drug Treatment Plan 08/09 
� Young People’s Substance Misuse Treatment Plan 
� Dual Diagnosis Strategy 
 

Page 42



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
27

Reducing Reoffending 
 
Our vision is to ensure that every ex-offender, in or returning to the borough, 
has the right access to services. Delivering this involves taking a holistic 
approach, looking at families and relationships as well as health, substance 
misuse, education, skills, employment, accommodation, mental health, and 
financial matters. This requires work with between a wide array of partners, 
including the PCT, benefits agencies and housing agencies. This is not only 
about enabling access to these services but strengthening the services 
themselves. Our work is particularly targeted at offenders who are not 
currently provided for through statutory services – prisoners who are likely to 
return to Tower Hamlets in the near future. We also provide specialist services 
for particular types of offenders, such as sex workers and Priority Prolific 
Offenders. 
 
Our innovative programme has been recognised as national best practice, 
and we are a Beacon Council for Reducing Reoffending in 2008/09. 
 
Ex-offenders are at the core of this success, providing an empathetic 
response, through peer advisory and training programmes.  We also 
recognise our role as an employer and encourage businesses and other 
partners to offer work experience and employment opportunities for ex-
offenders.  With the employment and training on offer, we hope to re-establish 
ex-offenders as productive citizens. 
 
Communications 
As part of our Beacon award we will effectively communicate our work on 
reducing reoffending regionally and nationally. We will also inform residents of 
this work and engage them in service development. 
 
One Tower Hamlets 
We have conducted an Equalities Impact Assessment of our Reducing 
Reoffending Strategy to ensure our work is focussed on the needs of diverse 
communities. Specific priorities include working with women female ex-
offenders (through our worker dedicated to Holloway Prison and our Safe Exit 
scheme for women involved in prostitution) and Muslim ex-offenders (for who 
we have a dedicated caseworker, drugs treatment and Kormo Shaddin 
employment service). 
We also recognise the links between vulnerability and offending and are 
working with partners to investigate these further and provide appropriate 
services. 

Page 43



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
28

 
Performance Management 
 
Local Area Agreement Indicator 
 

Targets No. Indicator Baseline 
08/09 09/10 10/11 

NI18 Adult reoffending rates for those 
under probation supervision 

Baseline 
expected 
Dec.08 

None TBC TBC 
 
Other Key Indicators 
 

Targets No. Indicator Baseline 
08/09 09/10 10/11 

NI30 Re-offending rate of prolific and 
priority offenders 

31% (07/08 
Outturn) 30% 30% 27% 

NI14
3 

Offenders under probation 
supervision living in settled and 
suitable accommodation at the end 
of their order or licence 

73% (07/08 
Outturn) 76% 79% 82% 

NI14
4 

Offenders under probation 
supervision in employment at the 
end of their order or licence 

28% (07/08 
Outturn) 31% 34% 37% 

 
Key Documents 
� Reducing Reoffending Programme Board Delivery Plan 
� Reducing Reoffending Strategy 
� Reducing Reoffending Beacon Application 

Page 44



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
29

Juvenile Crime 
 
The earlier we can intervene in a young person’s life, the more chance that we 
can prevent them from becoming involved in crime or anti-social behaviour.  
We also want to reduce the extent to which young people are victims of crime.  
Local and voluntary groups are in a prime position for identifying young people 
at risk and are proactive in referring young people to services that can help 
them.  We work closely with schools and with services such as the Youth 
Intervention Programme (YIP) that work with young people who are having 
problems before they get into trouble, providing a range of interventions to 
address their needs and help them stay on the right track. 
 
We know that some young people can be difficult to engage.  That is why we 
go into the community with outreach services like the Rapid Response Team.  
They identify tensions arising on streets and mediate between groups to 
dispel them.  The Youth Inclusion and Support Panel (YISP) offers a wide 
array of courses and opportunities, enabling us to provide positive direction to 
young people considered vulnerable to becoming offenders, in a way that is 
tailored to their needs. 
 
Recognising the importance of families, we cross-refer from adult ex-offenders 
to their children and from young ex-offenders to their parents and siblings.  
We also take referrals from the Social Inclusion Panel.  When we take action 
against a young person for crime or anti-social behaviour, we accompany this 
with work to prevent the problem reoccurring.  Where appropriate, this will 
include remand fostering as an alternative to custody.  We offer a support 
package to all young people who are given an ASBO, ABC or reprimand.   
 
Communications 
We will effectively communicate our work on juvenile crime including 
effectively promoting our successes 
 
One Tower Hamlets 
We will ensure our work in this area is focussed on the needs of diverse 
communities.  One example is the race audit working group which seeks to 
tackle the disproportionate representation of the BME population in the Youth 
Justice System.  Our restorative justice work helps to build cohesion between 
communities by helping perpetrators to understand the impact of their actions. 

Page 45



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
30

Performance Management 
 
Local Area Agreement Indicator 
 

Targets No. Indicator Baseline 08/09 09/10 10/11 
NI19 Rate of proven re-offending by 

young offenders 
Target 
setting 
deferred 

None TBC TBC 
 
Other Key Indicators 
 

Targets No. Indicator Baseline 08/09 09/10 10/11 

NI43 
Young people within the Youth 
Justice System receiving a 
conviction in court who are 
sentenced to custody 

8% (06/07 
outturn) 5% 5% 5% 

NI44 Ethnic composition of offenders on 
Youth Justice System disposals  

Target 
setting 
deferred 

TBC TBC TBC 

NI45 
Young offenders engagement in 
suitable education, employment or 
training 

72.5% 
(O6/07 
outturn) 

90% 90% 90% 

NI46 Young offenders access to suitable 
accommodation 

95.5% 
(06/07 
Outturn)  

95% 95% 95% 

NI11
1 

First time entrants to the Youth 
Justice System aged 10 – 17 

336 (07/08 
actuals for 3 
quarters, 
aggregated 
to whole 
year) 

-2% -5% Not set 

YOT
1 Youth Violence Baseline 

awaited. -5.5% -3%  -2%  
 
Key Document 
� Youth Justice Plan 2008/09 
� Children’s Services Plans 

Page 46



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
31

Criminal Justice 
 
Currently chaired by the Police Borough Commander, the Borough Criminal 
Justice Group brings together those involved at different stages of the legal 
process.  These partners work collectively to improve the number of offences 
brought to justice, providing speedier case closure, particularly where Priority 
Prolific Offenders are concerned.  Protecting and assisting victims, particularly 
children and vulnerable victims, is key.  Enabling victims and witnesses to 
have access to justice and improving the quality of their experience of the 
criminal justice system, is at the heart of this brief.  We are addressing this by 
localising reporting sites, providing better information about prevention and 
how to report minor crimes, making the front counter service at police stations 
more accessible and ensuring excellent emergency response times. 
 
Performance Management 
This area of work is concerned with improving sanctioned detection rates for 
all crimes.  It will therefore have a significant influence on targets such as 
acquisitive crime rate and serious violent crime rate.  The work contributes to 
many of the targets outlined in preceding sections.  Whilst this will be looked 
at in the relevant Programme Boards, issues relating to sanctioned detections 
specifically will be addressed through the Borough Criminal Justice Group.   
 
Performance Management 
 

Target No. Indicator Baseline 
 08/09 09/10 10/11 

AC1 Residential Burglary 
Sanctioned Detections 17.4% 16% Not 

set 
Not 
set 

AC2 Robbery (Combined)  
Sanctioned Detections 14.3% 17% Not 

set 
Not 
set 

AC3 Vehicle Crime Sanctioned 
Detections 7.6% 8% Not 

set 
Not 
set 

AC4 Overall Tier 2 SD rate 9.80% 11.70
% 

Not 
set 

Not 
set 

VC1 GBH Sanctioned Detections To baseline on 
08/09 data 

Not 
set 

Not 
set 

Not 
set 

VC2 Rape Sanctioned Detections 30.9% 35.00
% 

Not 
set 

Not 
set 

VC3 Domestic Sanctioned 
Detections rate 47.1% 47.00

% 
Not 
set No set 

VC4 
Other Tier 1 Sanctioned 
Detections (other sexual 
offences) 

No baseline as 
new indicator 

32.00
% 

Not 
set 

Not  
set 

VC5 Racial Sanctioned Detections 35% 38.00
% 

Not 
set 

Not 
set 

VC6 Homophobic Sanctioned 
Detections 37.8% 44.00

% 
Not 
set 

Not 
set 

VC7 Tier 3 Sanctioned Detections No baseline as 
new indicator 

29.00
% 

Not 
set 

Not 
set 

Page 47



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
32

Appendix 1: Partnership Delivery Structure 
 
Overarching Framework 
These are the key partnership structures that we work within: - 
 
Partnership Board 
This is a strategic group, 
responsible for giving overall 
direction.  Its members include 
local Councillors and Chairs of 
each of the Delivery Groups, as 
well as major service providers in 
the Borough.  It holds the 
Partnership to account and acts as 
the governing body of the 
partnership. 
 

Local Area Partnerships (LAPs) 
There are 8 Local Area 
Partnerships, driving local priorities 
and delivery.  They provide a 
formal structure for resident 
involvement in local service 
provision. 
 
Partnership Executive 
Drives delivery of the Community 
Plan and Local Area Agreement 
(LAA) 
 
Community Plan Delivery 
Groups 
These deliver the Community Plan 
and LAA targets through cross 
partnership service improvements.  
There are 4 key themes in the 
community plan, each with their 
own delivery groups overseeing the 
achievement of priority outcomes: - 
� A Great Place to Live 
� Prosperous Communities 
� Safe and Supportive 

Communities 
� Healthy Communities 

 
Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership 
The Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership (CDRP) is a Community Plan 
Delivery Group sitting under the Safe and Supportive theme of the Community 
Plan.  It is a statutory body, responsible for making funding decisions about 
the allocation of partnership grants and monitoring performance against 
targets. 
 
The work of the CDRP is split into Programmes of work.  Each Programme 
monitors a delivery plan, and holds multi-agency Board meetings on at least a 
quarterly basis.  Boards are encouraged to engage with a wide variety of 
partners and membership is reviewed regularly. 

 

Partnership 
Board 

Partnership 
Board 

 

Page 48



Programme Structure 
 
The following diagram depicts the key strategic partnership groups reporting 
to the CDRP.  This structure is kept under review to ensure it is always 
meeting needs in the most efficient way. 
 

 Operational and Practitioner Groups 
Many of our programmes of work have operational groups which task actions 
and make decisions about the day to day delivery of aspects of the work.  The 
Cleaner, Safer Tasking Group is an overarching tasking group. 
 
Consultation Groups 
One of our key consultation groups is the Police and Community Safety 
Forum (PCSF).  There are also consultation forums for specific issues or 
specific groups such as service user forums in our drugs work.  In addition, we 
often set up focus groups to consult on emerging issues. 
 
Further details of all three types of partnership groups can be found below. 

Youth 
Offending 
Team 

Management 
Board 

 

 
Violent Crime 
Programme 

Board  

Resilience & 
Counter-
Terrorism 
Programme 

Board 
 

Reducing 
Reoffending 
Programme 

Board 
 

 
Race & Hate 
Inter- Agency 

Forum 
 

Adult 
Protection 

Multi Agency 
Steering 
Group 

Drug & 
Alcohol 

Action Team 
Board 

Borough 
Criminal 
Justice 
Group 

Anti-Social 
Behaviour 
Programme 

Board 

Acquisitive 
Crime 

Programme 
Board 

Crime and 
Disorder 

Reduction 
Partnership 

Page 49



Pa
rtn

ers
hip

 G
rou

ps
 

Ac
qu
isit
ive
 

Cr
im
e 

Ac
qu

isi
tiv

e C
rim

e P
ro

gr
am

me
 B

oa
rd

 
• 

Ta
rge

t H
ard

en
ing

 Pr
oje

ct 
Bo

ard
 

• 
Se

rio
us

 Ac
qu

isit
ive

 
Cr

im
e S

ub
-G

rou
p 

• 
Tra

ns
po

rt P
roj

ec
t 

Bo
ard

 (p
rop

os
ed

) 

 

An
ti-S

oc
ial
 

Be
ha
vio
ur 

An
ti-S

oc
ial

 B
eh

av
iou

r P
ro

gr
am

me
 B

oa
rd

 
• 

Inf
orm

ati
on

 Sh
ari

ng
 Pr

oje
ct 

Bo
ard

 (p
rop

os
ed

) 
• 

So
cia

l L
an

dlo
rds

 AS
B F

oru
m 

• 
Ar

so
n P

roj
ec

t B
oa

rd 
• 

AS
BO

 C
ert

ific
ati

on
 

Gr
ou

p 

 

Co
mm

un
ity
 

Co
he
sio
n 

Pr
ev

en
t, R

es
ilie

nc
e, 

Co
he

sio
n P

ro
gr

am
me

 B
oa

rd
 

• 
Pr

ev
en

tin
g V

iol
en

t E
xtr

em
ism

 (P
VE

) B
oa

rd 
• 

Co
mm

un
ity

 C
oh

es
ion

 
Co

nti
ng

en
cy

 Pl
an

nin
g 

an
d T

en
sio

n 
Mo

nit
ori

ng
 G

rou
p 

• 
Co

un
ter

-
Te

rro
ris

m 
Ea

st 
an

d W
es

t 

Cr
im
ina

l J
us
tic
e 

Bo
ro

ug
h C

rim
ina

l J
us

tic
e G

ro
up

 
 

 
Dr
ug
s &

 Al
co
ho
l 

Dr
ug

 an
d A

lco
ho

l A
cti

on
 Te

am
 (D

AA
T) 

Bo
ard

 
• 

Dr
ug

 In
ter

ve
nti

on
 Pr

og
ram

me
 (D

IP)
 St

ee
rin

g 
Gr

ou
p 

• 
Jo

int
 C

om
mi

ss
ion

ing
 G

rou
p f

or 
Su

bs
tan

ce
 

Mi
su

se
 (J

CG
) 

• 
Yo

un
g P

eo
ple

’s 
Su

bs
tan

ce
 M

isu
se

 Jo
int

 
Co

mm
iss

ion
ing

 G
rou

p 
o

 Yo
un

g P
eo

ple
’s 

Dr
ug

 & 
Alc

oh
ol 

Ed
uc

ati
on

 
Fo

rum
 

o
 Yo

un
g P

eo
ple

’s 
Su

bs
tan

ce
 M

isu
se

 Se
rvi

ce
s 

Ste
eri

ng
 G

rou
p 

• 
Dr

ug
 U

se
 an

d S
up

ply
 Pr

og
ram

me
 Bo

ard
 

• 
Alc

oh
ol 

Str
ate

gy
 G

rou
p 

• 
Co

mm
un

itie
s F

oru
m 

• 
DI

P O
pe

rat
ion

s G
rou

p 
• 

Dr
ug

 an
d A

lco
ho

l 
Ne

tw
ork

 
• 

Dr
ug

 U
se

 an
d S

up
ply

 
Co

mm
un

ica
tio

ns
 

Fo
rum

 
• 

Tre
atm

en
t T

as
k 

Gr
ou

ps
 

• 
Us

er 
& C

are
rs 

Fo
rum

s 
• 

Yo
un

g 
Pe

op
le’

s 
Ad

vis
ory

 
Gr

ou
p 

Ha
te 
Cr
im
e 

Ra
ce

 an
d H

ate
 In

ter
-A

ge
nc

y F
or

um
 

• 
Ha

te 
Cr

im
e I

nc
ide

nts
 

Pa
ne

l 
• 

Th
ird

 Pa
rty

 R
ep

ort
ing

 
Fo

rum
 

 

Re
off
en
din

g 
Re

du
cin

g R
eo

ffe
nd

ing
 Pr

og
ram

me
 B

oa
rd

 
 

 
Vio

len
ce
 

Vio
len

t C
rim

e P
ro

gr
am

me
 B

oa
rd

 
• 

Alc
oh

ol 
Re

lat
ed

 Vi
ole

nc
e F

oru
m 

• 
Ra

pe
 an

d S
ex

ua
l O

ffe
nc

es
 Fo

rum
 

• 
Do

me
sti

c V
iol

en
ce

 Fo
rum

 

• 
Sa

fet
y P

lan
nin

g P
an

el 
 

Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership (CDRP) 

Yo
uth

 

Strategic Groups 

Yo
uth

 O
ffe

nd
ing

 Te
am

 (Y
OT

) M
an

ag
em

en
t B

oa
rd

 
• 

Fa
mi

ly 
Int

erv
en

tio
n &

 Su
pp

ort
 Pr

og
ram

me
 (F

ISP
) 

• 
Yo

un
g P

rio
rity

 Pr
oli

fic
 O

ffe
nd

ers
 (Y

PP
Os

) 
• 

Int
en

siv
e S

up
erv

isio
n &

 Su
rve

illa
nc

e P
rog

ram
me

 
(IS

SP
) 

• 
Ch

ild
ren

 an
d Y

ou
ng

 Pe
op

le’
s S

tra
teg

y G
rou

p 

Operational & Practitioner Groups 
Cleaner, Safer Tasking Group 

• 
Ra

ce
 Au

dit
 W

ork
ing

 
Gr

ou
p 

• 
Yo

uth
 In

clu
sio

n 
Pr

og
ram

me
 (Y

IP)
 

• 
Yo

uth
 In

clu
sio

n &
 

Su
pp

ort
 Pa

ne
l (Y

ISP
) 

Consultation Groups 
Police and Community Safety Forum (PCSF) 

 

Page 50



Appendix 2: Our Performance: 2005 - 2008 
 
The tables below show our performance against the targets contained in our Crime 
and Drugs Reduction Strategy 2005 – 2008. 
 
Key 

 

 
� 

 
Action / target achieved or on schedule 

 
�? 

 
Good progress towards action / target, but with some slippage or with 
further work to be done 

 
�x 

 
Progress partially on schedule, but not all elements 

 
x 

 
Achievement of action / target not met 
 

? Unable to obtain data. In most instances these targets have been 
superseded. 

 
Crimes against Property 

 

2005-08 Target Achieved? Status 

1. To reduce vehicle crime by 27.4% 

No.  However we did achieve a 
24% reduction in this area.  
Vehicle crime remains key 
partnership priority area. We 
currently have a number initiatives 
in the borough designed to 
specifically reduce this crime type 
area.  We are optimistic this will 
yield positive outcome during this 
financial year.  

x 

2. To sustain personal robbery levels at 
6.5 per 1000 population 

Yes, target achieved. We have 
reduced Personal robbery to 6 
instances per 1000 population.  
This represents 7.7% reduction. 

� 

3. Reduce commercial robbery by at 
least 9% 

Yes, Commercial robbery has 
been reduced by 44% � 

4. Reduce theft from person by 14.3% Yes, we have achieved this. � 
 

5. To sustain strong performance on 
burglary 18.5 per 1000 population. 

Yes, the partnership has met and 
exceeded its Burglary target.  We 
have achieved a 13.6% reduction. 
This equates to 15.98 per 1000 
population. 

� 
 

 

Page 51



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
36

Violent crime 
 

2005-08 Target Achieved? Status 

6. Reduce GBH, ABH and Common 
Assault by 16.57% based on the 
04/05 outturn.  

No, however significant progress 
has been made over the three 
years.  Based on 07/08 outturn 
there has been a 12.7% reduction 
on these indicators. The following 
actions have contributed 
to achieving this reduction. 
- Use of  s30 Dispersal Orders 
- Roll out of Safer School Zones 
- Robust licensing enforcement 
- Enforcement of the Whitechapel 
Drinking Control Zone. 

�? 

7. Reduce crimes involving firearms by 
at least 5% 

Yes, gun enabled crime reduced 
by 32.2% in 07/08.  � 

8. Achieve a sanctioned detection rate 
of at least 25% for rape 

Yes, rape sanctioned detection 
has increased to 30.9%. � 

9. To undertake 100% of the 11 actions 
against domestic violence (BVI 225) Yes, target has been achieved. � 
 

Anti-Social Behaviour  
 

2005-08 Target Achieved? Status 
10. Reduce Criminal Damage by 18.8% Yes,  criminal damage has been 

reduced by 24.2% � 
11. Reduce proportion of 999 calls the 

police that are related to disorder to 
17% 

Unable to obtain data. ? 
12. Reduce the proportion of public land 

and assessed as having 
unacceptable levels of litter/vehicles 
26% 

Yes, this has been reduced to 
23.2% � 

13. Increase the proportion of 
abandoned vehicles removed within 
24 hours to 90% 

Yes, at present 99.12% of 
abandoned vehicles are being 
removed within 24 hrs. 

� 

14. Reduce the number of non-
accidental fires by at least 6% 

Yes, target has been met within 
the first year of the strategy.  
Subsequent targets have since 
been put in place. 

� 

15. To initiate 100% of investigations 
into cases of anti social behaviour 
within one working day for priority 
one cases and within two working 
days for priority two cases 

No, 80% of reported ASB incidents 
have been investigated and initial 
contact made within the timescale 
specified.  

�? 

16. To identify a perpetrator within 40% 
of priority one anti social behaviour 
cases 

Unable to obtain data. ? 

Page 52



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
37

2005-08 Target Achieved? Status 
17. To sign an increasing number of 

Acceptable Behaviour Contracts 
Yes, 121 ABCs were issued 
against perpetrators of anti social 
behaviour in 2007/08 

� 

18. To sign an increasing number of 
Anti-Social Behaviour Orders 

No, our 2007/08 target has been 
missed by 2 ASBOs. However 
there were 98 live ASBOs at the 
end of the last financial year. 

�? 

19. Close 30 drug addresses 
Yes, the latest figure show that 
there was 38 drug address 
closures in 07/08...  

� 

20. Issue 30 housing injunctions 
 No, however a total of 18 
injunctions have issued during the 
last three years. 

�? 
21. Enforce all cases where ABCs, 

ASBOs or injunctions are breached 
100%. 

Yes, all known breached have 
acted upon and appropriate action 
taken.  

� 

22. Proportion of youths on an ABC or 
ASBO who access support services 
75% 

No, 53% of those on ABCs have 
been supported.  �? 

23. 100% procedures followed during 
ASB case investigation 

No, 43% of cases audited followed 
procedures, though this process is 
under review. It is expected that 
the new ASB database system will 
greatly help to deliver the target.   

x 

 
Drug Misuse and Drug Related Crime 

 

End of Strategy target Achieved? Status 
26. Take action in 80% of cases within 

28 days of receipt of intelligence 
about drug supply addresses 

Unable to obtain data. ? 

27. Refer 50 drug supply offences 
referred for financial investigation for 
assets recovery 

Unable to obtain data. ? 
24. Engage 75% of drug-using offenders 

in treatment through the Drugs 
Intervention Programme 

Yes, target has been met and 
exceeded 80% � 

25. Engage 83% of problematic drug 
users (PDUs) in treatment 83% 

The estimate of PDUs in treatment 
for 07/08 is 42%.  Numbers in 
treatment are increasing year on 
year and have increased by 12% 
in 07/08.  However, there is still a 
large (estimated) population of 
PDUs not accessing treatment. 

 
�? 

26. Retain 55% of drug users in 
treatment for 12 weeks or more 

The March 2007 figure is 82% - a 
significant increase. However it 
should be noted that the method of 
calculation for this indicator has 

 
� 

Page 53



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
38

changed since targets were initially 
set. 

27. Drug treatment completion rates for: 
i. Inpatient treatment 73% 
ii. Residential rehabilitation 65% 
iii. GP prescribing   50% 

i. 47% 
ii. 71% 
iii. 26% 

Figures for inpatient treatment and 
residential rehabilitation 
programmes have significantly 
increased from 06/07 figures. 

�? 

28. Maintain 100% compliance with NTA 
targets for waiting times for 
accessing treatment services 

82%.  The DAAT is exceeding 
NTA waiting times for treatment in 
all modalities except for in-patient 
drug treatment.  There is 
insufficient capacity for acute 
cases across London. 

�? 

29. Increase the number of young 
people under 18 accessing 
treatment and counselling services  

Yes, target has been exceeded.  
The current number of under-18 
accessing treatment is 1034. 

� 
 
Hate Crime                  
 

End of Strategy target Achieved? Status 
30. Initially increase, and then decrease, 

the number of hate crime incidents 
reported to the Council 

Yes, as anticipated in the last 
strategy the number of hate crime 
incidents fell in 2007/2008. 

� 
 

31. Investigate 100% hate crime 
incidents reported to the council 

Yes, all hate crime incidents 
reported to the council have been 
investigated. 

� 
 
 

32. Undertake an end-of-case client 
satisfaction check in 100% of cases 
and increase rates of satisfaction 
with service provided to 95% 

No, these targets have been 
missed by small margin. The 
current satisfaction rate is 92%. 

�? 

33. Achieve a 20% sanctioned 
detections rate for racial crime 

Yes,  the current racial sanctioned 
detection rate is 35% � 

34. Achieve a 20% sanctioned 
detections rate for homophobic 
crimes 

Yes, the target has been 
exceeded.  The current detection 
rate is 37.8% 

� 

 

Page 54



Tower Hamlets Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy – Year 1 2008/09 
39

Tackling Youth Crime and Disorder 
 

End of Strategy target Achieved? Status 
35. Reduce the number of first time 

youth entrants into the criminal 
justice system by 2% to 360 

Yes, this been reduced by 6.7% to  
336 � 

36. Reduce the rate of recidivism by 
YOT clients by 5% 

This was not achieved. There was 
an increase of 2.5% x 

37. Reduce the proportion of remands 
that are custodial to 38% and the 
proportion of sentences that are 
custodial to 5% 

This was not achieved. Data is 
only available to the end of 
2006/07 but this shows that 41% of 
remands were custodial and 7.4% 
of sentences were custodial. 

x 

 
Concern about Crime 
 

End of Strategy target Achieved? Status 

38. To reduce the proportion of 
respondents who cite crime as an 
area of personal concerns to 35% 

No, the target has been missed. 
55% is the current level of 
concern. A number of initiatives 
have been undertaken to address 
concern about crime, including 
stepping up publicity campaign to 
inform residents what is being 
done in their area and in the 
borough to tackle crime and ASB. 

x 

39. To reduce the proportion of 
respondents who say they feel fairly 
or very unsafe in the area where 
they live at night to 25% 

No, target has been missed 45.5% 
of respondents feel fairly or very 
unsafe at night.  A number of 
environmental projects including 
improvements in street lighting 
have been undertaken. 
Furthermore, on going publicity 
campaigns have been undertaken, 
informing residents what is being 
done in their area. 

x 

40. To reduce the gap between men and 
women in proportion of respondents 
who feel fairly or very unsafe in the 
area they live at night to 7% 

Yes, the gap between men and 
women has been reduced to 2% � 

 

Page 55



Page 56

This page is intentionally left blank



  

Committee(s) Date: Classification: Report 
No: 

Agenda 
Item No: 

Cabine Scrutiny 9th September 2008 Unrestricted   
Report of: Title: 
 

Assistant Chief Executive 
Director of  Resources 
Originating Officer(s) 
Lucy Sutton, Performance Manager 
Martin McGrath Financial Planning and 
Systems Manager 

 
Strategic Plan and Corporate  
Revenue Budget Monitoring report  
2008-09 
 
Performance to 30th June 2008  
 
Wards affected:  All 
 

 
1 OVERVIEW 

1.1 Effective performance monitoring and reporting is crucial to the way the 
Council drives improvement in services. This report draws together the 
performance monitoring reports on the Strategic Indicators and General 
Fund Revenue Budget.  Combining our performance and financial reporting 
in this way strengthens the Council’s robust performance management 
arrangements. 

1.2 The report provides Cabinet with information on the authority’s performance 
against key performance indicators over the first quarter of the financial 
year, and its financial position to the end of June 2008 and projections of 
income and expenditure to the year-end. It also provides an analysis of 
identified risks in delivering a balanced budget. 

1.3 The report projects an underspend on the General Fund revenue budget of 
£1.5m for the current financial year.  A number of directorates are reporting 
overspends and it will be important for Corporate Directors to act to contain 
these overspends in the coming months.  This projected underspend was 
taken into account when the financial review was reported to Cabinet on 
30th July. 

 
2 RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

 
2.1 That the committee notes and comments on the performance as identified 

in sections 3.2, 4.2, 6 and 7.1. 

Agenda Item 9.1

Page 57



  

3  PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 

3.1 This is the first quarterly monitoring report for the new Tower Hamlets 
Index, covering the period April-June 2008. The set of indicators that 
constitutes the new Tower Hamlets Index reflects the Strategic Plan 
2008/09 and the new Local Area Agreement. The Tower Hamlets Index is 
made up of 71 Strategic Indicators, as agreed by CMT.  These consist of: 
• All the LAA indicators 
• Some measures of corporate health (usually ex-BVPIs) 
• Some measures of customer satisfaction (usually Annual Residents 

Survey) 
 
3.2 How We Are Doing 
 

3.2.1 Performance against the second regular monitoring of these 
indicators for the period Quarter 1 2008/09 is set out in Appendices 1 
and 2. 

 

 3.2.2 There are still nine months to the end of the year and comments will 
reflect steps taken to ensure targets are met.  Data is not yet 
available for two indicators (and will be reported once provided): 
 

• Carers receiving needs assessment 
• Stopping Smoking 

 
3.2.3 Of the 20 applicable indicators, 11 of the performance indicators 

(55.0%) are on track to achieve their end of year target (GREEN). 
Areas where performance is well above the estimated level for the 
end of September target are as follows:  

 
• 16 to 18 year olds who are not in education, employment or 

training (NEET) (exceeded by 10.1%) 
• Number of deliberate secondary fires per 10,000 population 

(Arson) (exceeded by 25.1%) 
• Working age people claiming out-of-work benefits in the worst 

performing neighbourhoods (exceeded by 21.4%) 
 

3.2.4 A total of 9 indicators (45.0%) are not meeting their first quarter 
target of which managers indicate that 8 will return to target by year 
end (AMBER), while 1 may not (RED). Indicators that are 
significantly below their target are: 

 
• Invoices paid on time (missed by 11.7%) 

An analysis has been made of all payments made outside the 
timeframe and the specific causes identified.  Approaches being 
explored to improve performance include: 
� Consolidated billing 
� Direct debit payments etc 

 
• Response Times to Members Enquiries (missed by 18.6%) 

Page 58



  

 
3.2.5 It is not possible to report traffic lights for one indicator for this period: 

• Number of most serious violent crimes per 1,000 population 
(targets will be set once baseline established) 

 
3.2.6 21 indicators can be reported for the next period: the period ending 

July 2008. 
 

3.2.7 In this first quarterly monitoring round of 2008/09 there are 55.0% 
GREEN, 40% AMBER and 5% RED indicators. This is the first time 
that we have monitored the Tower Hamlets Index by quarters.  

 

 GREEN AMBER RED 
2007/08 n/a n/a n/a 
2008/09 11 (55.0%) 8 (40%) 1 (5.0%) 

 

3.2.8 Compared to the last round of monitoring (Apr/May 2008), the 
proportion of RED indicators has decreased from 14.29% to 5% (2 to 
1).  Four indicators that were off target in April/May have returned to 
target for this period: 

 
• Percent of calls to Hot Lines answered 
• Average waiting time for calls to Hot Lines to be answered 
• Number of physical visits to public library premises per 1,000 

population 
• Arson incidents – Number of deliberate primary fires per 10,000 

population 
 

 
4.   CORPORATE REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2008/09 - TO 30/06/08 

 
4.1 Background 
 4.1.1 This part of the report sets out the financial position for the Council’s 

General Fund revenue budget for the first quarter of 2008/09.  It is 
based on expenditure and service activity until the end of June 2008 
and has been obtained from monitoring statements provided by 
Corporate Directors.  Separate reports on the Housing Revenue 
Account budget and capital programme are set out elsewhere on this 
agenda.  

 

 Corporate Directors have provided the following information in 
support of their projected outturn and variance figures: 

 

  Explanation of Variances:- 
♦ Explanations for the most significant net variances (greater than 

£100,000) in both expenditure and income. 

Page 59



  

♦ Details of actions to deal with any variances including whether the 
actions are on target and, if not, what alternative/additional courses 
of action have been put in place. 

♦ Any implications for the 2008/09 and future years’ budgets. 
4.1.2 Risk areas 
♦ Explicit monitoring information on the key risk areas identified in the 

final budget report 2008/09 which was submitted to Cabinet in March 
2008. 

♦ Details of any additional risk factors which have emerged since the 
budget was set in February. 

4.1.3 Virements 
♦ Virements are transfers of budget allocated for one purpose to 

another purpose. Financial Regulations stipulate that virements in 
excess of £250,000 must be submitted to Cabinet for approval. 

4.2 Projected Outturn Position 
 

 4.2.1 The table below shows the projected outturn position against the 
latest budget for each directorate which includes the original budget 
plus carry forwards agreed by Cabinets on 2nd and 30th July 2008 
and target adjustments agreed between directorates: 

Latest 
Budget 

Projected 
variance as at 

30/06/08 
Projected 

variance as % 
of budget 

Status 
Directorate/Service 

£’000 £’000 £000 £000 
Adults’ Health & Wellbeing 85,934 (1,054) -1.2% Green 
Children’s Services 80,106 470 0.6% Red 
Communities, Localities and Culture 71,281 265 0.4% Red 
Development & Renewal  15,112 420 2.8% Red 
Chief Executive’s 11,906 - - Green 
Resources 11,198 3,083 27.5% Red 
Corporate / Capital  19,380 (4,750)  -24.5% Green 
TOTAL 294,917 (1,566)  -0.53% Green 

Key to ‘Traffic Light System’ 
 

The elements in the traffic light system are used to indicate 
significant outturn variances as follows:- 
Red – Potentially detrimental to the finances of the Council 

Page 60



  

Amber – Previously reported overspend, position improved since the 
last report 
Green – Potentially advantageous to the finances of the Council 

 

4.3 Variance Analysis  
 

The following sections set out explanations of the main variances in each 
Directorate’s budget provided by the relevant Corporate Director.   

 
4.3.1 Adults’ Health & Wellbeing  

 
Occupational Therapy net overspend £180,000 
Growth in demand for equipment combined with increases in manufacturing 
and delivery costs have driven up costs for this complex needs equipment.  
Fuel costs of the service have also increased as has cleaning and 
decontamination costs to comply with regulations. The Service is currently 
exploring scope for compensatory efficiencies, to offset these inescapable 
costs. 
Elders Commissioning net overspend £480,000 
An aging population continues to increase demand for residential and 
nursing care, particularly for people with dementia. Stringent measures 
have been introduced, to ensure that all alternatives to institutional care are 
exhaustively explored, before placements are agreed.  
Learning Disabilities Commissioning net underspend of £763,000 
Additional PCT funding for support of policy and legislation changes 
towards more independent living and for clients receiving very high levels of 
support have contributed to a net under spend in this area. However as 
individual cases are reviewed and re-assessed the situation may change. 
Mental Health Commissioning net underspend  £245,000 
There has been an increase in residential costs. However as a result of 
successful negotiations with the PCT over the sharing or distribution of 
expenditure in a number of complex high cost cases the additional income 
will not only cover these costs but contribute to a net under spend within 
this area. 
Physical Disabilities Commissioning net overspend £177,000 
Agreements were in place for care packages to cover a small number of 
high costs cases before the reduction in Carers Government Grant took 
effect resulting in a drop in income which cannot be supported by a similar 
reduction in expenditure. 
 

Page 61



  

Homelessness & Housing Advice Services net underspend £814,000 
More households than anticipated were placed in temporary 
accommodation. The effect of this is that additional rent expenditure has 
been incurred.  However this has been more than offset by additional rent 
income and administration income from government subsidy. 

 
 

4.3.2 Children’s Services 
 

Fieldwork – Children’s Social Care - £500,000 overspend 
The Children’s Services directorate reports a steady increase in activity 
within this area. 
This has necessitated retaining a quota of agency staff above 
establishment to meet this increased demand for a service and to ensure 
children are safeguarded. 
Recruitment campaigns have not realised sufficient numbers of suitably 
qualified and experienced staff who can undertake complex child protection 
work and therefore reduce the reliance on agency workers. 
A detailed strategy to re-shape the service is underway with particular 
emphasis on early intervention and prevention to reduce the demands on 
the service. It is anticipated that this strategy will reduce the level of 
overspend in the medium term. 

 
The workflow and activity will be kept under further close scrutiny and 
review. 

 
 

4.3.3 Communities, Localities and Culture 
 

Street Services Management overspend £138,000 
Following a review of call volumes, charges from the Contact Centre are 
now being more accurately reflected within the Street Management service, 
resulting in increased costs. It is anticipated that this variance will be offset 
during the remainder of the financial year but at this stage there is a risk of 
a budget variance. 
 
 

4.3.4 Development and Renewal 
Development Decisions – net overspend £325,000 
With an unpredicted downturn in activities due to the introduction of Home 
Improvement Packs, Development and Renewal are forecasting a reduction 
in planning fees and land charges. 

 
 
 

Page 62



  

 

4.3.5 Resources Directorate 
 

Facilities Management - £2,890,000 net overspend 
  
As reported to Cabinet in July, costs of facilities are under pressure  due to 
the costs of maintaining and securing a number of empty or underused 
buildings awaiting disposal, the cost of service charges at the East India 
Dock complex and rising fuel prices.  These costs will be mitigated by 
expediting the disposal of surplus office buildings and ensuring that best 
use is made of the remaining accommodation.  However, disposals are 
dependent upon successful marketing and will not deliver an immediate 
return. 

 
 
 4.3.6 Corporate & Capital Finance 

Capital/Treasury Management - £4,750,000 net underspend 
 It is anticipated that the Council will continue to benefit from being able to 

invest at higher interest rates for much of the year whilst in addition taking 
advantage of the reduced the cost of external borrowing partly through the 
normal maturing of long term debt and partly through a restructuring of debt 
to reduce interest costs during the year.  

 
 

5 VIREMENTS 
5.1 Virements are transfers of budget that result in no overall change to the 

budget of the Council. Under Financial Regulations, virements over 
£250,000 are required to be approved by the Cabinet.  Virements over 
£100,000 are required to be reported for information and are agreed by the 
Corporate Directors. 

5.2 There are no virements to report within this quarter. 
 
 

6 TARGET ADJUSTMENTS 
6.1 Target adjustments are transfers between services/directorates and are 

subject to approval by Cabinet.  At the 2nd July and 30th July Cabinet 
meetings £1,971m carry forwards were agreed which now need to be 
reflected in Directorates’ budgets  

6.2 The transfer from the corporate contingency reflects the late Government 
announcement about an increase in the Court Fees payable in respect of 
adoption or childcare proceedings. Cabinet agreed on 2nd July 2008 to 
allocate £390,000 to the services affected to cover the additional costs of 
child care cases in 2008/09. 

 

Page 63



  

Original 
Budget Carry 

Forwards
Allocation of 
Corporate 
Contingency

Budget 
After 
Carry 

Forwards
£000 £000 £000 £000

Adults’ Health & Wellbeing 85,934 - 85,934
Children’s Services 80,006 100 80,106
Communities, Localities and 
Culture 71,019 262 71,281
Development & Renewal 14,958 154 15,112
Resources Directorate 11,198 - 11,198
Chief Executive 11,071 445 390 11,906
Corporate / Capital 19,156 224 19,380
TOTAL NET BUDGET 293,342 1,185 390 294,917

Directorate / Service 
Budgets

  
6.3 £786,000 in carry forwards will not be utilised in 2008/09 and have been 

transferred to balances for use in a future financial year.  These are: 
• Reallocation of specific grants to maximise  

overall council resources    £616,000 
• NNDR rebate due to revaluation of schools  £134,000 
• Building Control trading account surplus  £36,000 

 
6.4 Directorate Budget Adjustments 

The following budget adjustments are required in order to reflect accurately 
the transfer of managerial responsibilities within directorates. 
6.4.1 Adult’s Health & Wellbeing  
6.4.1.1 To transfer management of the Drugs and Alcohol 

Commissioning budgets (£997,000) to Communities, 
Localities and Culture (Community Safety). 

6.4.1.2 As reported to the Cabinet on 30th July, £60,000 is transferring 
from the Adults, Health & Wellbeing budget to the Resources 
Directorate to fund loss of income to Resources as a result of 
the abolition of charges for Telecare. 

 
 
6.4.2 Development & Renewal  
 
6.4.2.1 £321,000 budget for the subsidy of multi-faith burials, to be 

transferred from D & R to Chief Executive’s, where it will be 
managed as part of the Registrar’s Service. 

 
 
 
 

Page 64



  

 
7 SERVICE IMPROVEMENT GROWTH 

 
7.1 On 27th February 2008 Cabinet agreed a total of £3,634k Service 

Improvement Growth for 2008/09.  At this relatively early stage in the 
financial year no Directorates have reported that targets will not be 
achieved.  A fuller progress report will be submitted to Cabinet later in the 
year. 

 
 

8    AREA BASED GRANT 
                
8.1 As agreed by Cabinet on 30th July 2008, a zero-based exercise is currently 

being undertaken with regards to the way that Area Based Grants are 
utilised and deliver benefits.  Further reports to Cabinet will provide details 
as to how this is progressing. 

 
 

9    SAVINGS/EFFICIENCY TARGETS 
 

9.1 Savings/Efficiency Targets 
9.1.1 Efficiency targets are underway or planned to deliver the cashable 

savings of £6,346,000 as part of the Council’s Budget Strategy for 
2008/09.   

9.1.2 A breakdown of efficiency savings is attached at Appendix 5.   
9.1.3 At this stage no Directorates have reported that savings will not be 

achieved. 
 
 

10    INCOME COLLECTION PERFORMANCE 2007/08 & 2008/09 TARGETS 
 
10.1 The table below relates to debt raised since the 1st April 2008: in addition, a 

proportion of debt is collected as arrears, so a greater proportion of overall 
debt is collected than these targets suggest. The direction of travel arrows 
indicate that for most types of debt, performance is above target.   

 
10.2 The 2008/09 targets will be monitored on a regular basis with a further 

report to Cabinet in December. 
 

Page 65



  

 
Collected 2008-09 2008-09 
In 2007-08 Target to 

30/06/08 
Collected to 
30-06-08 

Income Stream 

% % % 

Direction 
of Travel 

Business Rates 99.6 29.1 33.46 ↑ 
Central Income 74 60 63.18 ↑ 
Council Tax 94.7 29.91 30.09 ↑ 
Housing Rent 98.14 97.5 98.1 ↑ 
Major Works 7.4 2.5 3.82 ↑ 
Parking Fines 69.4 - 69.2 - 
Service Charges 35.3 17.3 11.76 ↓ 

 
10.3 Performance Analysis 
 

10.3.1 Service Charges 
 

Cash collection for the three months to 30 June 2008 was below the 
target for the year to date. When the profiled collection targets were 
set, it was anticipated that service charges would be raised during 
March and April 2008. Service charge invoices were however not 
issued until May and June 2008, and this has delayed the receipt of 
payments. As at the end of July, cash collection had increased to 
19.54%. 

 
Service Charge administration is now undertaken by Tower Hamlets 
Homes on behalf of the Council. Initiatives have been put in place to 
assist in delivering an improvement in collection performance, and 
with the THH revenue team now fully staffed, there are sufficient 
resources available to support this. 
 
Regular performance meetings will take place between Tower 
Hamlets Homes and the Development and Renewal Directorate (the 
Council’s Housing Client). These meetings will address the 
performance of THH across a range of indicators, with service 
charge collection rates being a particular area of focus. 

 
 

11 EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 The Council’s Strategic Plan is focused upon meeting the needs of the 

diverse communities living in Tower Hamlets.  The Key Themes reflect 
diversity issues and there are key equality milestones in relation to 
delivering One Tower Hamlets.  

 

Page 66



  

12 COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
12.1 This report sets out the performance of the authority against priority 

performance indicators for the first quarter of the year together with budget 
monitoring against the General Fund revenue budget, which is the main 
budget influencing performance in the short term.  This represents good 
practice as it enables performance in both areas to be considered alongside 
one another and thus actions can be taken on the basis of a balanced 
overall view.  

12.2 This report projects a net General Fund underspend for 2008/2009 of 
£1.5m based on spending to the end of June 2008.  If this is carried through 
to the end of the financial year, this will result in an increase in general 
reserves of the same amount. 

12.3 This is the first quarter report and accordingly the projected outturn is based 
on the experience of only a few months. The scope for projected outturns to 
be over or understated is therefore correspondingly greater. However, 
where overspends are being predicted Corporate Directors, in accordance 
with Financial Regulations, must keep the position under close, continuous 
review and, where necessary, identify compensatory savings. 
Consequently, the Corporate Director- Resources will be monitoring closely 
those Directorates that have so far projected adverse end of year variances 
that are material. 

12.4 The 2008/2009 budget process also included an assessment of the 
robustness of expenditure and income forecasts including identification of 
the key risk areas. This report continues the development of that process by 
explicitly commenting on the current status of those risk areas within 
Appendix 3A-G. 

 
13 CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE (LEGAL 

SERVICES) 
13.1 The Local Government Act 1999, Section 3, requires all authorities to ‘make 

arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its 
functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness’.  Performance monitoring of corporate plans is 
an important way in which that obligation can be fulfilled and regular 
monitoring reports to members on performance and actions arising from 
those reports will demonstrate that the Council has undertaken activity to 
satisfy the statutory duty. 

13.2 Under the Local Government Act 1972, the budget monitoring framework 
underpins the Council’s section 151 legal framework to ensure there are 
sound and robust systems of financial administration, financial management 
and strategic financial planning advice for the Authority as a whole. In 
addition, it enables the Council to plan and control its income and 

Page 67



  

expenditure through the financial year and report to managers and 
members the Authority’s financial position. 

13.3 Further, the Local Government Act 2003 requires the Chief Finance Officer 
to review the robustness of the budget estimates and its impact on reserves 
periodically in year through regular budget monitoring. Also, where there 
has been deterioration in the Authority’s financial position it requires the 
Authority to take action to address the situation.  

 

14 SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 

14.1 An element of the monitoring report deals with environmental milestones 
within the Safe and Supportive agenda.  

  
 

15 ANTI POVERTY COMMENTS 
 
15.1 Reducing poverty is an implicit priority within the Strategic Plan.  
 

16 RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 
16.1 In line with the Council’s risk management strategy, the information 

contained within the Strategic Indicator Monitoring will assist the Cabinet, 
Corporate Directors and relevant service managers in delivering the 
ambitious targets set out in the Strategic Plan.  Regular monitoring reports 
will enable Members and Corporate Directors to keep progress under 
regular review. 

 
16.2 There is a risk to the integrity of the authority’s finances if an imbalance 

occurs between resources and needs. This is mitigated by regular 
monitoring and, where appropriate, corrective action.  This report provides a 
corporate overview to supplement more frequent monitoring that takes 
place at detailed level.   

 
16.3 The explanations provided by the Directorates for the budget variances also 

contain analyses of risk factors. 
 

17 INDEX OF APPENDICES 
Appendix Detailing the following: 

1 Tower Hamlets Index Progress Report to 30 June 2008 
2 Tower Hamlets Index charts showing in-year direction of travel 

3A-G Details of outturn and explanation of significant variances / risks for each 
Directorate 

4 Budget/Target Adjustments 
5 Efficiency Savings Targets 2008/09 

Page 68



  

 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT, 1972 SECTION 100D (AS AMENDED) 
LIST OF "BACKGROUND PAPERS" USED IN PREPARATION OF THIS REPORT 

Brief description of "background paper  Name and telephone number of holder and address 
where open to inspection 

 
 

 Performance Manager 
 
Corporate Finance 
 

Lucy Sutton 
 
Martin McGrath 
 

x3186 
 
x 4645 

 

Page 69



Page 70

This page is intentionally left blank



PI
 R
ef
 N
o

PI
 D
es
cr
ip
tio

n
Re

sp
on

sib
le
 

Of
fic
er

Le
ad

 
Di
re
ct
or
at
e

Me
as
. I
n

Ac
tu
al
 

07
/0

8
Ju
ne

 
Ta
rg
et

Ju
ne

 
Ac

tu
al

08
/0

9 
Ta
rg
et

Ai
m
in
g

Tr
af
fic
 

Lig
ht

Str
ate

gic
10

1
Pe
rce

nt
ag
e o

f U
nd

isp
ut
ed
 In

vo
ice

s P
aid

 on
 Ti
me

Pa
ul 
Mc

De
rm

ot
t

Re
so
ur
ce
s

%
87

.8
7

97
85

.6
3

97
Hi
gh

AM
BE

R

Str
ate

gic
10

2
Pe
rce

nt
ag
e o

f t
op
 5
%
 of

 ea
rn
er
s o

f L
oc
al 
Au

th
or
ity
 st

aff
 

th
at 

ar
e w

om
en
.

De
b C

lar
ke

Re
so
ur
ce
s

%
52

.7
1

50
51

.3
9

50
Hi
gh

GR
EE

N

Str
ate

gic
10

3
Th
e p

er
ce
nt
ag
e o

f t
he
 to

p 5
%
 of

 Lo
ca
l A

ut
ho
rit
y s

taf
f 

wh
o a

re
 fr
om

 an
 et

hn
ic 
mi
no
rit
y.

De
b C

lar
ke

Re
so
ur
ce
s

%
17

.4
3

18
16

.6
1

22
Hi
gh

AM
BE

R

Str
ate

gic
10

4
Pe
rce

nt
ag
e o

f t
he
 to

p p
aid

 5
%
 of

 st
aff

 w
ho
 ha

ve
 a 

dis
ab
ilit
y (

ex
clu

din
g t

ho
se
 in
 m

ain
tai
ne
d s

ch
oo
ls.
)

De
b C

lar
ke

Re
so
ur
ce
s

%
3.
51

3.
6

3.
55

4.
1

Hi
gh

AM
BE

R

Str
ate

gic
10

5
Nu

mb
er
 of

 w
or
kin

g d
ay
s/s

hif
ts 

los
t t
o s

ick
ne
ss
 ab

se
nc
e 

pe
r e

mp
loy

ee
De

b C
lar

ke
Re

so
ur
ce
s

da
ys

8.
69

8.
2

8.
98

7.
5

Lo
w

AM
BE

R

Str
ate

gic
10

6
Re

sp
on
se
 ti
me

 to
 m

em
be
rs 

en
qu

irie
s -

 %
 co

mp
let
ed
 

wi
th
in 
10

 w
or
kin

g d
ay
s -

 C
or
po
ra
te

Be
ve
rle

y M
cK
en
zie

Ch
ief
 Ex

ec
ut
ive

's
%

70
.0
6

85
69

.1
6

85
Hi
gh

AM
BE

R

Str
ate

gic
10

7
Pe
rce

nt
ag
e o

f c
om

pla
int

s c
om

ple
ted

 in
 ti
me

 - 
Co

un
cil
 as

 
a w

ho
le 
- S

tag
e 1

Ru
th
 D
ow

de
n

Re
so
ur
ce
s

%
74

75
74

80
Hi
gh

AM
BE

R

Str
ate

gic
10

9
Pe
rce

nt
 of

 ca
lls
 to

 H
ot
 Li
ne
s a

ns
we

re
d

Ke
ith

 Pa
uli
n

Re
so
ur
ce
s

%
N/
A

95
95

.2
95

Hi
gh

GR
EE

N

Str
ate

gic
11

0
Av

er
ag
e w

ait
ing

 ti
me

 fo
r c

all
s t

o H
ot
 Li
ne
s t

o b
e 

an
sw

er
ed

Ke
ith

 Pa
uli
n

Re
so
ur
ce
s

Nu
mb

er
N/
A

30
30

30
Lo
w

GR
EE

N

Mo
nth

ly 
Pe

rfo
rm

an
ce
:  T

arg
et 
ex
ce
ed
ed
 fo
r J
un
e

Mo
nth

ly 
Pe

rfo
rm

an
ce
: T

arg
et 
me

t in
 Ju

ne

Th
em

e 
1:
 O
ne
 T
ow

er
 H
am

le
ts

Mo
nt
hly

 Pe
rfo

rm
an
ce
:  
 Th

e e
xtr

ac
t o

f p
ay
me

nt
s m

ad
e d

ur
ing

 A
pr
il 2

00
8 
ou
tsi
de
 th

e d
efi
ne
d t

im
es
ca
le 
ha
s b

ee
n a

na
lys

ed
. T

his
 ha

s r
ev
ea
led

 th
at 

no
ne
 w
er
e a

s a
 co

ns
eq
ue
nc
e o

f d
ela

ys
 ca

us
ed
 by

 th
e p

ay
me

nt
s t

ea
m.

All
 m

an
ag
er
s a

nd
 bu

dg
et 

ho
lde

rs 
ide

nt
ifie

d a
s b

ein
g r

es
po
ns
ibl
e f

or
 fiv

e o
r m

or
e i
ns
tan

ce
s l
ate

 pa
ym

en
ts 

ha
ve
 be

en
 co

nt
ac
ted

 in
div

idu
all
y. 

Th
ey
 w
er
e a

sk
ed
 to

 en
su
re
 th

at 
th
e a

pp
ro
va
l p
ro
ce
ss
 fo

r a
cc
ur
ate

 in
vo
ice

s i
s 

un
de
rta

ke
n a

s e
xp
ed
ien

tly
 as

 po
ss
ibl
e, 

an
d r

em
ind

ed
 of

 th
e c

on
se
qu

en
ce
 to

 th
is 
ind

ica
to
r o

f a
ny
 de

lay
.

Th
e e

xc
er
cis

e w
ill 
co
nt
inu

e, 
an
d s

er
vic

es
 w
ho
 co

nt
inu

e t
o h

av
e a

 se
rio

us
ly 
ad
ve
rse

 im
pa
ct 

wi
ll b

e b
ro
ug

ht
 to

 th
e a

tte
nt
ion

 of
 C
or
po
ra
te 

Di
re
cto

rs.
 

Wh
ils
t t
his

 ac
tio

n i
s e

xp
ec
ted

 to
 im

pr
ov
e t

he
 po

sit
ion

, t
he
 ta

rg
et 

for
 th

is 
ar
ea
 is
 ex

tre
me

ly 
ch
all
an
gin

g. 
Th
e l
as
t f
ina

nc
ial
 ye

ar
 ha

s s
ee
n t

he
 im

ple
me

nt
ati
on
 of

 a 
mo

re
 ri
go
ur
ou
s a

nd
 ro

bu
st 

re
co
rd
ing

 of
 pe

rfo
rm

an
ce
 

to
ge
th
er
 w
ith

 a 
re
vis

ed
 de

fin
itio

n o
f m

ea
su
re
me

nt
 m

ak
ing

 ac
hie

ve
me

nt
 of

 th
is 
tar

ge
t i
nc
re
as
ing

ly 
dif
fic
ult

.

Mo
nt
hly

 Pe
rfo

rm
an
ce
:  
 S
om

e o
ve
ra
ll i
mp

ro
ve
me

nt
 ha

s b
ee
n s

ee
n b

ut
 a 

ste
p c

ha
ng

e i
s s

till
 re

qu
ire

d i
n C

LC
 (6

8%
) a

nd
 (T

HH
 7
4%

). 
Fa
ilu
re
 to

 m
ee
t t
he
 ta

rg
et 

ap
pe
ar
s t

o b
e a

n i
ss
ue
 of

 pr
ior

itis
ati
on
.

In
 bo

th
 di
re
cto

ra
tes

, t
he
 se

rv
ice

s s
tru

gg
lin
g m

os
t t
o a

ch
iev

e t
he
 ta

rg
et 

ha
ve
 be

en
 id
en
tif
ied

 an
d  

ar
e b

ein
g e

nc
ou
ra
ge
d t

o p
rio

rit
ise

 co
mp

lai
nt
 ha

nd
lin
g. 

Co
mp

lai
nt
s h

an
dli
ng

 is
 be

ing
 re

gu
lar

ly 
dis

cu
ss
ed
 in
 D
MT

s. 
In
div

idu
al 
se
rv
ice

 im
pr
ov
em

en
t p

lan
s h

av
e b

ee
n e

sta
bli
sh
ed
 an

d i
t i
s h

op
ed
 th

at 
th
e p

er
for

ma
nc
e w

ill 
ac
hie

ve
 th

e t
ar
ge
t o

ve
r t
he
 co

mi
ng

 m
on
th
s. 

Mo
nt
hly

 Pe
rfo

rm
an
ce
:  
Ou

tco
me

 lo
we

r t
ha
n e

xp
ec
ted

 an
d t

re
nd

 m
ov
ing

 in
 th

e w
ro
ng

 di
re
cti
on
. H

ow
ev
er
, c
ha
ng

e a
ga
ins

t l
as
t m

on
th
 is
 re

lat
ive

ly 
sm

all
. W

or
k c

on
tin

ue
s t

o i
mp

ro
ve
 pe

rfo
rm

an
ce
 in
 th

is 
ar
ea
 in
clu

din
g a

 
fur

th
er
 A
sp
irin

g L
ea
de
rs 

co
ur
se
 im

mi
ne
nt
 an

d r
ec
ru
itm

en
t r
ev
iew

 co
nt
inu

es
. T

his
 is
 a 

dr
op
 a 

fur
th
er
 of

 1
.5
%
 w
hic

h e
qu

ate
s t

o 3
.5
 FT

E. 
St
aff

 nu
mb

er
s h

av
e d

ro
pp

ed
 in
 lin

e w
ith

 tr
an
sfe

r o
ut
 of

 st
aff

 to
 TH

H.

Mo
nt
hly

 Pe
rfo

rm
an
ce
: S

lig
ht
 im

pr
ov
em

en
t i
n o

ut
co
me

 fo
r J
un

e b
ut
 st

ill 
we

ll b
elo

w 
tar

ge
t. 
Ab

se
nc
e r

em
ain

s h
igh

 pr
ior

ity
 an

d H
R 
wi
ll c

on
tin

ue
 to

 ad
d f

ur
th
er
 im

pr
ov
em

en
ts 

to
 su

pp
or
t m

an
ag
er
s i
n t

er
ms

 of
 re

po
rti
ng

 an
d 

ab
se
nc
e m

an
ag
em

en
t s

up
po
rt 

Mo
nt
hly

 Pe
rfo

rm
an
ce
:  
 A
 to

tal
 of

 5
09

 en
qu

irie
s w

er
e c

los
ed
, a

nd
 6
9.
2%

 w
er
e r

es
po
nd

ed
 to

 w
ith

in 
th
e r

eq
uir

ed
 ti
me

 fr
am

es
. T

his
 is
 an

 im
pr
ov
em

en
t o

ve
r r
ec
en
t m

on
th
s. 
Th
e p

er
for

ma
nc
e i
s b

ein
g a

dd
re
ss
ed
 th

ro
ug

h 
th
e M

em
be
rs 

En
qu

irie
s P

ro
ce
ss
 Im

pr
ov
em

en
t P

ro
jec

t. 
ME

 G
uid

e h
as
 be

en
 pr

ep
ar
ed
 an

d d
ist
rib

ut
ed
 du

rin
g t

he
 m

on
th
 of

 Ju
ne
 an

d t
he
 pe

rfo
rm

an
ce
 ta

rg
et 

ha
s b

ee
n c

lea
rly

 de
fin
ed
. C

on
ce
nt
ra
ted

 ef
for

ts 
ar
e b

ein
g m

ad
e 

wi
th
 th

e d
ire

cto
ra
tes

 to
 af

fec
t i
mm

ed
iat
e i
mp

ro
ve
me

nt
s.

Mo
nt
hly

 pe
rfo

rm
an
ce
:  
Alt

ho
ug

h t
he
 ou

tco
me

 is
 be

low
 ta

rg
et,

 th
e i
nd

ica
to
r r
em

ain
s a

mb
er
 as

 th
e d

iffe
re
nc
e i
n a

ctu
al 
FT
E n

um
be
rs 

is 
jus

t o
ne
. T

he
 in
dic

ato
r i
s e

xtr
em

ely
 se

ns
itiv

e t
o s

lig
ht
 m

ov
em

en
t d

ue
 to

 th
e s

ma
ll 

nu
mb

er
s w

ith
in 
th
e p

op
ula

tio
n. 

 Li
nk
s t

o A
sp
irin

g L
ea
de
rs 

an
d R

ec
ru
itm

en
t r
ev
iew

 w
ith

 re
ga
rd
s t

o c
ur
re
nt
 w
or
k i
n p

ro
gr
es
s t

o i
mp

ro
ve
 th

e o
ut
co
me

 of
 th

is 
ind

ica
to
r.

08
/0

9 
TH

 In
de

x 
Re

po
rt 

- e
nd

 o
f J

un
e

Page 71



PI
 R
ef
 N
o

PI
 D
es
cr
ip
tio

n
Re

sp
on

sib
le
 

Of
fic
er

Le
ad

 
Di
re
ct
or
at
e

Me
as
. I
n

Ac
tu
al
 

07
/0

8
Ju
ne

 
Ta
rg
et

Ju
ne

 
Ac

tu
al

08
/0

9 
Ta
rg
et

Ai
m
in
g

Tr
af
fic
 

Lig
ht

Str
ate

gic
11

1
Fir

st 
co
nt
ac
t r
es
olu

tio
n o

f c
all
s t

o H
ot
 Li
ne
s

Ke
ith

 Pa
uli
n

Re
so
ur
ce
s

%
N/
A

80
83

80
Hi
gh

GR
EE

N
Mo

nth
ly 
Pe

rfo
rm

an
ce
:  T

arg
et 
me

t o
r e

xc
ee
de
d f
or 

Ap
ril-
Ju
ne
 qu

art
er

Page 72



PI
 R
ef
 N
o

PI
 D
es
cr
ip
tio

n
Re

sp
on

sib
le
 

Of
fic
er

Le
ad

 
Di
re
ct
or
at
e

Me
as
. I
n

Ac
tu
al
 

07
/0

8
Ju
ne

 
Ta
rg
et

Ju
ne

 
Ac

tu
al

08
/0

9 
Ta
rg
et

Ai
m
in
g

Tr
af
fic
 

Lig
ht

Str
ate

gic
20

2
Nu

mb
er
 of

 ph
ys
ica

l v
isi
ts 

to
 pu

bli
c l
ibr

ar
y p

re
mi
se
s p

er
 

10
00

 po
pu

lat
ion

Pa
ul 
Ma

rti
nd

ill
Co

mm
un

itie
s, 

Lo
ca
liti
es
 &
 C
ult

ur
e

nu
mb

er
97

10
.7

2,
36

0
2,

36
4.

49
94

38
.9

Hi
gh

GR
EE

N

Str
ate

gic
21

1
(LA

AN
I19

2/ 
Na

tio
na

l19
2)

Pe
rce

nt
ag
e o

f h
ou
se
ho
ld 
wa

ste
 se

nt
 fo

r r
eu
se
, r
ec
yc
lin
g 

an
d c

om
po
sti
ng

He
ath

er
 B
on
fie
ld

Co
mm

un
itie

s, 
Lo
ca
liti
es
 &
 C
ult

ur
e

%
13

.7
3

15
.4

14
.7

3
19

Hi
gh

AM
BE

R

PI
 R
ef
 N
o

PI
 D
es
cr
ip
tio

n
Re

sp
on

sib
le
 

Of
fic
er

Le
ad

 
Di
re
ct
or
at
e

Me
as
. I
n

Ac
tu
al
 

07
/0

8
Ju
ne

 
Ta
rg
et

Ju
ne

 
Ac

tu
al

08
/0

9 
Ta
rg
et

Ai
m
in
g

Tr
af
fic
 

Lig
ht

Str
ate

gic
30

8
(LA

AN
I11

7/ 
Na

tio
na

l11
7)

16
 to

 1
8 
ye
ar
 ol
ds
 w
ho
 ar

e n
ot
 in
 ed

uc
ati
on
, 

em
plo

ym
en
t o

r t
ra
ini
ng

 (N
EE

T)
Ma

ry
 D
ur
kin

Ch
ild
re
n's

%
8.
2

10
.4
6

9.
4

7
Lo
w

GR
EE

N

Str
ate

gic
31

1
(LA

AN
I15

1/ 
Na

tio
na

l15
1)

Ov
er
all
 Em

plo
ym

en
t r
ate

 (w
or
kin

g-
ag
e)

Su
e H

ind
s

De
ve
lop

me
nt
 &
 

Re
ne
wa

l
%

N/
A

54
56

.4
54

Hi
gh

GR
EE

N

Str
ate

gic
31

2
(LA

AN
I15

2/ 
Na

tio
na

l15
2)

Wo
rk
ing

 ag
e p

eo
ple

 on
 ou

t o
f w

or
k b

en
efi
ts

Su
e H

ind
s

De
ve
lop

me
nt
 &
 

Re
ne
wa

l
%

N/
A

18
.3

19
.8

18
.3

Lo
w

RE
D

Str
ate

gic
31

3
(LA

AN
I15

3/ 
Na

tio
na

l15
3)

Wo
rk
ing

 ag
e p

eo
ple

 cl
aim

ing
 ou

t o
f w

or
k b

en
efi
ts 

in 
th
e 

wo
rst

 pe
rfo

rm
ing

 ne
igh

bo
ur
ho
od
s

Su
e H

ind
s

De
ve
lop

me
nt
 &
 

Re
ne
wa

l
%

N/
A

29
22

.8
29

Lo
w

GR
EE

N

Th
em

e 
3:
 A
 P
ro
sp
er
ou
s C

om
m
un

ity

Mo
nt
hly

 Pe
rfo

rm
an
ce
:  
 W

e'r
e w

ait
ing

 fo
r t
he
 W

or
kin

g N
eig

hb
ou
rh
oo
d F

un
d p

ro
gr
am

me
 to

 be
 ag

re
ed
 be

for
e t

ar
ge
ts 

ar
e s

et 
for

 th
es
e i
nd

ica
to
rs.

 In
 th

e m
ea
nt
im
e a

nn
ua
l t
ar
ge
ts 

ar
e u

se
d a

s a
 pr

ox
y f

or
 th

e m
on
th
ly 

tar
ge
ts.

Mo
nt
hly

 Pe
rfo

rm
an
ce
:  
 W

e'r
e w

ait
ing

 fo
r t
he
 W

or
kin

g N
eig

hb
ou
rh
oo
d F

un
d p

ro
gr
am

me
 to

 be
 ag

re
ed
 be

for
e t

ar
ge
ts 

ar
e s

et 
for

 th
es
e i
nd

ica
to
rs.

 In
 th

e m
ea
nt
im
e a

nn
ua
l t
ar
ge
ts 

ar
e u

se
d a

s a
 pr

ox
y f

or
 th

e m
on
th
ly 

tar
ge
ts.

 Th
e p

rim
e a

ge
nc
y f

or
 m

ee
tin

g t
his

 ta
rg
et 

is 
Jo
bc
en
tre

 pl
us
. T

he
 C
ou
nc
il h

as
 fe

w 
re
so
ur
ce
s t

o a
dd

 in
ter

ve
nt
ion

s t
ha
t m

ay
 m

ak
e a

 di
ffe

re
nc
e t

o n
ati
on
al 
pr
og
ra
mm

es
. T

he
 al
loc

ati
on
 of

 th
e W

or
kin

g 
Ne

igh
bo
ur
ho
od
 Fu

nd
 to

 pr
ov
ide

 ad
dit

ion
all
y a

nd
 as

sis
t n

ati
on
al 
pr
og
ra
mm

es
 to

 m
ee
t l
oc
al 
ne
ed
 w
ill 
he
lp 
re
du

ce
 th

e n
um

be
r o

n b
en
efi
ts.

 H
ow

ev
er
, t
he
 ta

rg
et 

is 
to
 so

me
 ex

ten
t o

ut
 of

 th
e C

ou
nc
il's

 co
nt
ro
l in

 vi
ew

 of
 

iss
ue
s s

uc
h a

s h
ou
sin

g, 
mi
gr
ati
on
 an

d t
he
 pe

rfo
rm

an
ce
 of

 na
tio

na
l a
nd

 re
gio

na
l e
co
no
my

.

Mo
nt
hly

 Pe
rfo

rm
an
ce
:  
 W

e'r
e w

ait
ing

 fo
r t
he
 W

or
kin

g N
eig

hb
ou
rh
oo
d F

un
d p

ro
gr
am

me
 to

 be
 ag

re
ed
 be

for
e t

ar
ge
ts 

ar
e s

et 
for

 th
es
e i
nd

ica
to
rs.

 In
 th

e m
ea
nt
im
e a

nn
ua
l t
ar
ge
ts 

ar
e u

se
d a

s a
 pr

ox
y f

or
 th

e m
on
th
ly 

tar
ge
ts.

Mo
nth

ly 
Pe

rfo
rm

an
ce
:  T

he
 N
EE

T f
igu

res
 ar

e s
ea
so
na
l a
nd
 fig

ure
s h

av
e t
o b

e c
om

pa
red

 w
ith
 th
e s

am
e p

eri
od
 la
st 
ye
ar 

in 
ord

er 
to 
ide

nti
fy 
tre

nd
s. 
Th

e J
un
e 2

00
8 o

f 9
.4%

 co
mp

are
s t
o 1

2.3
% 

 in
 Ju

ne
 20

07
, re

pre
se
nti
ng
 a 
sig

nif
ica

nt 
im
pro

ve
me

nt 
in 

red
uc
ing

 N
EE

T b
y 2

.9%
.  I
n a

dd
itio

n, 
the

 la
st 
thr

ee
 m
on
ths

 re
su
lts
 (A

pri
l, M

ay
 & 

Ju
ne
 08

) in
dic

ate
 w
e a

re 
on
 tra

ck
 to
 m
ee
t th

e a
nn
ua
l ta

rge
t.

Th
em

e 
2:
 A
 G
re
at
 P
la
ce
 to

 Li
ve

Mo
nt
hly

 Pe
rfo

rm
an
ce
: T

he
 qu

an
tit
y o

f r
ec
yc
lat
e c

oll
ec
ted

 th
ro
ug

h t
he
 co

mm
ing

led
 se

rv
ice

 di
pp

ed
 sh

ar
ply

 in
 Ju

ne
, d

ro
pp

ing
 by

 9
%
 co

mp
ar
ed
 to

 M
ay
. T

he
 re

as
on
 fo

r t
his

 is
 un

kn
ow

n b
ut
 is
 lik

ely
 to

 be
 lin

ke
d t

o 
co
ns
um

pt
ion

 an
d l
ife
sty

le 
pa
tte

rn
s r

ath
er
 th

an
 to

 se
rv
ice

 is
su
es
. A

lth
ou
gh

 re
sid

ua
l w

as
te 

wa
s d

ow
n a

s w
ell
, it

 on
ly 
fel
l b
y 3

%
. I
n a

dd
itio

n, 
wa

ste
 di
ve
rte

d f
or
 re

cy
cli
ng

 at
 N
or
th
um

be
rla

nd
 W

ha
rf 
wa

s 2
0 
to
nn

es
 lo
we

r i
n 

Ju
ne
 th

an
 in
 M
ay
. T

he
se
 fa

cto
rs 

co
mb

ine
d t

o k
no
ck
 th

e r
ec
yc
lin
g r

ate
 of

f t
ar
ge
t f
or
 Q
ua
rte

r 1
. I
t i
s a

nt
ici
pa
ted

 th
at 

th
e i
nt
ro
du

cti
on
 of

 th
e g

ar
de
n w

as
te 

an
d f

oo
d w

as
te 

co
lle
cti
on
 se

rv
ice

s i
n Q

ua
rte

r 2
 w
ill 
br
ing

 th
e 

ac
tu
al 
fig
ur
e b

ac
k i
n l
ine

 w
ith

 th
e t

ar
ge
t.

Page 73



PI
 R
ef
 N
o

PI
 D
es
cr
ip
tio

n
Re

sp
on

sib
le
 

Of
fic
er

Le
ad

 
Di
re
ct
or
at
e

Me
as
. I
n

Ac
tu
al
 

07
/0

8
Ju
ne

 
Ta
rg
et

Ju
ne

 
Ac

tu
al

08
/0

9 
Ta
rg
et

Ai
m
in
g

Tr
af
fic
 

Lig
ht

Str
ate

gic
31

4
Nu

mb
er
 of

 un
de
r 1

6s
 w
ho
 ar

e a
cti
ve
 us

er
s o

f t
he
 Id

ea
 

St
or
es
 an

d l
ibr

ar
ies

Ju
dit

h S
t J
oh
n

Co
mm

un
itie

s, 
Lo
ca
liti
es
 &
 C
ult

ur
e

nu
mb

er
16

00
8

13
,0
17

12
,6

71
14

40
5

Hi
gh

AM
BE

R

PI
 R
ef
 N
o

PI
 D
es
cr
ip
tio

n
Re

sp
on

sib
le
 

Of
fic
er

Le
ad

 
Di
re
ct
or
at
e

Me
as
. I
n

Ac
tu
al
 

07
/0

8
Ju
ne

 
Ta
rg
et

Ju
ne

 
Ac

tu
al

08
/0

9 
Ta
rg
et

Ai
m
in
g

Tr
af
fic
 

Lig
ht

Str
ate

gic
40

2
(LA

AN
I01

5/ 
Na

tio
na

l01
5)

Nu
mb

er
 of

 m
os
t s

er
iou

s v
iol
en
t c

rim
es
 pe

r 1
,0
00

 
po
pu

lat
ion

An
dy
 B
am

be
r

Co
mm

un
itie

s, 
Lo
ca
liti
es
 &
 C
ult

ur
e

Nu
mb

er
N/
A

N/
A

65
N/
A

Lo
w

BL
AN

K

Str
ate

gic
40

3
(LA

AN
I01

6/ 
Na

tio
na

l01
6)

Nu
mb

er
 of

 se
rio

us
 ac

qu
isi
tiv
e c

rim
es
 pe

r 1
,0
00

 
po
pu

lat
ion

An
dy
 B
am

be
r

Co
mm

un
itie

s, 
Lo
ca
liti
es
 &
 C
ult

ur
e

Nu
mb

er
N/
A

8.
5

7.
68

34
Lo
w

GR
EE

N

Str
ate

gic
40

7
(LA

AN
I03

3i/
 

Na
tio

na
l03

3i)

Ar
so
n i
nc
ide

nt
s -

 N
um

be
r o

f d
eli
be
ra
te 

pr
im
ar
y f

ire
s p

er
 

10
,0
00

 po
pu

lat
ion

.
An

dy
 B
am

be
r

Co
mm

un
itie

s, 
Lo
ca
liti
es
 &
 C
ult

ur
e

Nu
mb

er
N/
A

3.
06

3.
01

12
.2
2

Lo
w

GR
EE

N

Str
ate

gic
40

8
(LA

AN
I03

3ii
/ 

Na
tio

na
l03

3ii
)

Nu
mb

er
 of

 de
lib
er
ate

 se
co
nd

ar
y f

ire
s p

er
 1
0,
00

0 
po
pu

lat
ion

. (
Ar
so
n)

An
dy
 B
am

be
r

Co
mm

un
itie

s, 
Lo
ca
liti
es
 &
 C
ult

ur
e

Nu
mb

er
38

9.
22

6.
91

36
.8
9

Lo
w

GR
EE

N

Str
ate

gic
41

2
(LA

AN
I13

5/ 
Na

tio
na

l13
5)

Ca
re
rs 

re
ce
ivi
ng

 ne
ed
s a

ss
es
sm

en
t o

r r
ev
iew

 an
d a

 
sp
ec
ific

 ca
re
r’s
 se

rv
ice

, o
r a

dv
ice

 an
d i
nfo

rm
ati
on

Jo
hn

 G
old

up
Co

mm
un

itie
s, 

Lo
ca
liti
es
 &
 C
ult

ur
e

%
20

.9
20

.9
Hi
gh

BL
AN

K

Th
em

e 
4:
 A
 S
af
e 
an
d 
Su

pp
or
tiv

e 
Co
m
m
un

ity

Mo
nt
hly

 Pe
rfo

rm
an
ce
:  
 O
ut
tu
rn
 of

 0
8/
09

 w
ill 
be
 us

ed
 as

 ba
se
lin
e (

Ne
w 
ind

ica
to
r).
 A
nn

ua
l a
nd

 in
ter

im
 ta

rg
et 

se
tti
ng

 w
ill 
co
mm

en
ce
 af

ter
 th

is 
ba
se
lin
e e

sta
bli
sh
ed
. H

ow
ev
er
, t
he
 se

rv
ice

 w
ill 
be
 re

po
rti
ng

 th
e f

igu
re
s 

du
rin

g t
he
 ye

ar
.

Mo
nt
hly

 Pe
rfo

rm
an
ce
:  
 Ju

ne
 ac

tu
al 
is 
97

%
 of

 Ju
ne
 ta

rg
et.

 H
ow

ev
er
 ne

w 
ma

na
ge
me

nt
 in
for

ma
tio

n s
ys
tem

 ha
s h

igh
lig
ht
ed
 th

e p
ro
ble

m 
of 

re
ten

tio
n o

f m
em

be
rs.

 A
 m

ee
tin

g w
as
 he

ld 
at 

th
e e

nd
 of

 Ju
ne
 fo

r k
ey
 m

em
be
rs 

of 
sta

ff 
wo

rk
ing

 w
ith

 ch
ild
re
n s

pe
cif
ica

lly
 to

 ad
dr
es
s t

his
 is
su
e. 

In
 th

e A
ut
um

n t
er
m 

th
er
e w

ill 
be
 a 

foc
us
 on

 ge
tti
ng

 ch
ild
re
n a

nd
 yo

un
g p

eo
ple

 to
 en

ga
ge
 m

or
e w

ith
 th

e I
de
a S

to
re
 se

rv
ice

. A
cti
on
s i
nc
lud

e:
* 
Ch

ild
re
n w

ho
 be

ca
me

 m
em

be
rs 

du
rin

g t
he
 S
um

me
r r
ea
din

g c
ha
lle
ng

e w
ill 
be
 tr
ac
ke
d a

nd
 in
vit
ed
 to

 at
ten

d a
cti
vit
ies

 in
 th

e O
cto

be
r h

alf
 te

rm
 an

d t
o p

ar
tic
ipa

te 
in 
th
e n

ew
 E 

ne
ws

let
ter

 an
d o

nli
ne
 ga

lle
ry
 

* 
Ch

ild
re
n w

ho
 be

ca
me

 m
em

be
rs 

du
rin

g o
rg
an
ise

d c
las

s v
isi
ts 

wi
ll b

e t
ra
ck
ed
 to

 se
e i
f t
he
y h

av
e m

ad
e r

etu
rn
 vi
sit
s. 
St
aff

 w
ill 
ac
tiv
ely

 se
ek
 th

e v
iew

s o
f t
he
se
 ch

ild
re
n b

y, 
e.g

. e
nc
ou
ra
gin

g t
ea
ch
er
s t

o m
ak
e r

etu
rn
 

tri
ps
 w
ith

 th
eir

 cl
as
se
s a

nd
 us

ing
 th

e r
etu

rn
 vi
sit
 as

 a 
foc

us
 gr

ou
p. 

* 
As
k s

ch
oo
ls 
to
 in
vit
e p

ar
en
ts 

/ c
ar
er
s t

o c
las

s v
isi
ts 

to
 Id

ea
s S

to
re
s /

 lib
ra
rie

s t
o e

ns
ur
e t

ha
t t
he
 fa

mi
ly 
is 
int

ro
du

ce
d t

o t
he
 se

rv
ice

 no
t j
us
t t
he
 ch

ild
. (
lin
k w

ith
 pa

re
nt
al 
en
ga
ge
me

nt
 te

am
 an

d H
om

e s
ch
oo
l li
ais

on
 

wo
rk
er
s i
n s

ch
oo
ls)
 

* 
De

ve
lop

 fu
rth

er
 w
eb
 2
.0
 (E

 ne
ws

let
ter

 an
d g

all
er
y)
 pr

oje
cts

 to
 al
low

 ch
ild
re
n t

o a
cti
ve
ly 
en
ga
ge
 an

d s
ha
pe
 th

e s
er
vic

e f
or
 ch

ild
re
n i
n I

de
a S

to
re
s /

 lib
ra
rie

s 
* 
Sh

ar
e s

uc
ce
ss
es
 be

tw
ee
n s

taf
f b

y i
mp

ro
vin

g c
om

mu
nic

ati
on
 be

tw
ee
n s

taf
f w

ith
 re

sp
on
sib

ilit
y f

or
 ch

ild
re
n's

 w
or
k i
n I

de
a S

to
re
s /

 lib
ra
rie

s. 
A 
sh
ar
ed
 w
eb
pa
ge
 –
 W

iki
 –
 ha

s b
ee
n s

et 
up

 fo
r t
his

 pu
rp
os
e. 

* 
St
aff

 w
ill 
be
 su

pp
or
ted

 to
 he

lp 
th
em

 en
ga
ge
 w
ith

 ch
ild
re
n m

or
e c

on
fid
en
tly
 th

ro
ug

ho
ut
 th

e d
ay
 an

d n
ot
 ju

st 
in 
ac
tiv
itie

s

Da
ta 

no
t y

et 
pr
ov
ide

d

Page 74



PI
 R
ef
 N
o

PI
 D
es
cr
ip
tio

n
Re

sp
on

sib
le
 

Of
fic
er

Le
ad

 
Di
re
ct
or
at
e

Me
as
. I
n

Ac
tu
al
 

07
/0

8
Ju
ne

 
Ta
rg
et

Ju
ne

 
Ac

tu
al

08
/0

9 
Ta
rg
et

Ai
m
in
g

Tr
af
fic
 

Lig
ht

Str
ate

gic
50

9
(LA

AN
I12

3/ 
Na

tio
na

l12
3)

St
op
pin

g s
mo

kin
g

Alw
en
 W

illi
am

s 
(P
CT

)
Ad

ult
s, 
He

alt
h  

We
ll-

Be
ing

Nu
mb

er
10

25
No

ne

Th
em

e 
5:
 A
 H
ea
lth

y C
om

m
un

ity

Da
ta 

no
t y

et 
pr
ov
ide

d

Page 75



Page 76

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 

Tower Hamlets Index 
Performance Charts 

Quarter 1
2008/09

Page 77



Traffic Light

AMBER

Higher Performance is better 

Strategic 101 - Invoices Paid on Time

97.00%

97
.0

0%

97
.0

0%

97
.0

0%

86.74%
85.63%

97
.0

0%

97
.0

0%

97
.0

0%

97
.0

0%

87.87%

78%

80%

82%

84%

86%

88%

90%

92%

94%

96%

98%

Mar May Jun

(Q1)

Jul Sep

(Q2)

Nov Dec

(Q3)

Jan Mar

(Q4)

2008/09 Performance

2008/09 Yearly Target

2008/09 Monthly Estimate

2007/08 Outturn

Traffic Light

GREEN

Higher Performance is better 

Strategic 102 - Top 5% earners that are women

50
.0
0%

50
.0

0%

50
.0

0%

50
.0

0%

51
.3
9%

51
.3
9%

50
.0

0%

50
.0

0%

50
.0

0%

50
.0

0%

52.71%

40%

42%

44%

46%

48%

50%

52%

54%

Mar May Jun

(Q1)

Jul Sep

(Q2)

Nov Dec

(Q3)

Jan Mar

(Q4)

2008/09 Performance

2008/09 Yearly Target

2008/09 Monthly Estimate

2007/08 Outturn

Page 78



Traffic Light

AMBER

Higher Performance is better 

Strategic 103 - Top 5% earners from an 

ethnic minority
22.00%

17
.5

0%

20
.5

0%
21

.5
0%

16
.6
1%

16
.6
1%

18
.5

0%

18
.0

0% 19
.5

0% 21
.0

0%

17.43%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

Mar May Jun

(Q1)

Jul Sep

(Q2)

Nov Dec

(Q3)

Jan Mar

(Q4)

2008/09 Performance

2008/09 Yearly Target

2008/09 Monthly Estimate

2007/08 Outturn

Traffic Light

AMBER

Higher Performance is better 

Strategic 104 - Top 5% earners with a disability

4.10%

3.
55

%

3.
85

%

4.
00

%

3.51%

3.
55

%

3.
55

%

3.
65

%

3.
60

%

3.
75

%

3.
90

%

3.2%

3.3%

3.4%

3.5%

3.6%

3.7%

3.8%

3.9%

4.0%

4.1%

4.2%

Mar May Jun

(Q1)

Jul Sep

(Q2)

Nov Dec

(Q3)

Jan Mar

(Q4)

2008/09 Performance

2008/09 Yearly Target

2008/09 Monthly Estimate

2007/08 Outturn

Page 79



Traffic Light

AMBER

Lower Performance is better 

Strategic 105 - Sickness Absence

7.60%
8.

40
%

7.
70

%

7.
60

%

8.69% 8.
98

%
9.

12
%

8.
00

%
8.

20
%

7.
60

%
7.

70
%

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

9%

10%

Mar May Jun

(Q1)

Jul Sep

(Q2)

Nov Dec

(Q3)

Jan Mar

(Q4)

2008/09 Performance

2008/09 Yearly Target

2008/09 Monthly Estimate

2007/08 Outturn

Traffic Light

AMBER

Higher Performance is better 

Strategic 106 - Members Enquiries Responded to 

On Time

85.00%85
.0

0%

85
.0

0%

85
.0

0%

70.06% 69.16%

60.85%

85
.0

0%

85
.0

0%

85
.0

0%

85
.0

0%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Mar May Jun

(Q1)

Jul Sep

(Q2)

Nov Dec

(Q3)

Jan Mar

(Q4)

2008/09 Performance

2008/09 Yearly Target

2008/09 Monthly Estimate

2007/08 Outturn

Page 80



Traffic Light

AMBER

Higher Performance is better 

Strategic 107 - Complaints Responded to on Time

80.00%

74
.0

0% 78
.0

0%

79
.0

0%

74.00%
72.00%

75
.0

0%

75
.0

0%
77

.0
0%

78
.0

0%

74.00%

50%

55%

60%

65%

70%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

Mar May Jun

(Q1)

Jul Sep

(Q2)

Nov Dec

(Q3)

Jan Mar

(Q4)

2008/09 Performance

2008/09 Yearly Target

2008/09 Monthly Estimate

2007/08 Outturn

Traffic Light

GREEN

Higher Performance is better 

Strategic 109 - Calls to Hot Lines Answered

95.00%95
.0

0%

95
.0

0%

95
.0

0%

95.20%

94.10%

95
.0

0%

95
.0

0%

95
.0

0%

95
.0

0%

90%

91%

92%

93%

94%

95%

96%

97%

98%

99%

100%

Mar May Jun

(Q1)

Jul Sep

(Q2)

Nov Dec

(Q3)

Jan Mar

(Q4)

2008/09 Performance

2008/09 Yearly Target

2008/09 Monthly Estimate

2007/08 Outturn

Page 81



Traffic Light

GREEN

Lower Performance is better 

Strategic 110 - Waiting Time for Calls to Hot Lines to 

be  Answered

30.00
30

.0
0

30
.0

0

30
.0

0

30.00

38.00

30
.0

0

30
.0

0

30
.0

0

30
.0

0

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

Mar May Jun

(Q1)

Jul Sep

(Q2)

Nov Dec

(Q3)

Jan Mar

(Q4)

2008/09 Performance

2008/09 Yearly Target

2008/09 Monthly Estimate

2007/08 Outturn

Traffic Light

GREEN

Higher Performance is better 

Strategic 111 - First Contact Resolution of Calls to 

Hot Lines

80.00%80
.0

0%

80
.0

0%

80
.0

0%

83.00%

85.00%

80
.0

0%

80
.0

0%

80
.0

0%

80
.0

0%

77%

78%

79%

80%

81%

82%

83%

84%

85%

86%

Mar May Jun

(Q1)

Jul Sep

(Q2)

Nov Dec

(Q3)

Jan Mar

(Q4)

2008/09 Performance

2008/09 Yearly Target

2008/09 Monthly Estimate

2007/08 Outturn

Page 82



Traffic Light

GREEN

Higher Performance is better 

Strategic 202 - Visits to Libraries

9438.90

1,573.00

6,293.00

7,866.00

2,364.49

1,505.00 3,146.00

2,360.00

4,719.45

7,079.18

9,710.70

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

Mar May Jun

(Q1)

Jul Sep

(Q2)

Nov Dec

(Q3)

Jan Mar

(Q4)

2008/09 Performance

2008/09 Yearly Target

2008/09 Monthly Estimate

2007/08 Outturn

Traffic Light

AMBER

Higher Performance is better 

Strategic 211 - Recycling and composting

19.00%

15.66%

17.40%

18.20%

14.73%14.96%

15.80%
15.40%

16.60%

17.80%

13.73%

10%

11%

12%

13%

14%

15%

16%

17%

18%

19%

20%

Mar May Jun

(Q1)

Jul Sep

(Q2)

Nov Dec

(Q3)

Jan Mar

(Q4)

2008/09 Performance

2008/09 Yearly Target

2008/09 Monthly Estimate

2007/08 Outturn

Page 83



Traffic Light

GREEN

Lower Performance is better 

Strategic 308 - 16-18 year olds not in education, 

employment or training (NEET)

7.57%

10.12%

7.14%
6.80%

8.20%

9.40%9.30%

10.80%
10.46%

11.31%

7.06%

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

Mar May Jun

(Q1)

Jul Sep

(Q2)

Nov Dec

(Q3)

Jan Mar

(Q4)

2008/09 Performance

2008/09 Yearly Target

2008/09 Monthly Estimate

2007/08 Outturn

Traffic Light

GREEN

Higher Performance is better 

Strategic 311 - Overall Employment Rate

54
.0
0%

54
.0

0%

54
.0

0%

54
.0

0%

56.4
0%

56.4
0%

54
.0

0%

54
.0

0%

54
.0

0%

54
.0

0%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Mar May Jun

(Q1)

Jul Sep

(Q2)

Nov Dec

(Q3)

Jan Mar

(Q4)

2008/09 Performance

2008/09 Yearly Target

2008/09 Monthly Estimate

2007/08 Outturn

Page 84



Traffic Light

RED

Lower Performance is better 

Strategic 312 - Working Age People on Out of Work 

Benefits

18.30%

19.80%

18
.3

0%

18
.3

0%

18
.3

0%

18%

18%

19%

19%

20%

20%

Mar May Jun

(Q1)

Jul Sep

(Q2)

Nov Dec

(Q3)

Jan Mar

(Q4)

2008/09 Performance

2008/09 Yearly Target

2008/09 Monthly Estimate

2007/08 Outturn

Traffic Light

GREEN

Lower Performance is better 

Strategic 313 - Working Age People on Out of Work 

Benefits in the Worst Performing Neighbourhoods

29.00%

22.80%

29
.0

0%

29
.0

0%

29
.0

0%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

Mar May Jun

(Q1)

Jul Sep

(Q2)

Nov Dec

(Q3)

Jan Mar

(Q4)

2008/09 Performance

2008/09 Yearly Target

2008/09 Monthly Estimate

2007/08 Outturn

Page 85



Traffic Light

AMBER

Higher Performance is better 

Strategic 314 - Library Users Under 16

14,405

12
,8

63

13
,7

88
14

,0
97

16,008

12
,6
71

12
,5
69

13
,1

71

13
,0

17 13
,4

80 13
,9

42

10,000

11,000

12,000

13,000

14,000

15,000

16,000

17,000

Mar May Jun

(Q1)

Jul Sep

(Q2)

Nov Dec

(Q3)

Jan Mar

(Q4)

2008/09 Performance

2008/09 Yearly Target

2008/09 Monthly Estimate

2007/08 Outturn

Traffic Light

Target not 
set

Lower Performance is better 

Strategic 402 - Serious Violent Crimes

65.00

43.00

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

Mar May Jun

(Q1)

Jul Sep

(Q2)

Nov Dec

(Q3)

Jan Mar

(Q4)

2008/09 Performance

2008/09 Yearly Target

2008/09 Monthly Estimate

2007/08 Outturn

Page 86



Traffic Light

GREEN

Lower Performance is better 

Strategic 403 - Serious Acquisitive Crimes

34.00

5.70

22.70

28.30

7.68
5.37 11.30

8.50

17.00

25.50

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Mar May Jun

(Q1)

Jul Sep

(Q2)

Nov Dec

(Q3)

Jan Mar

(Q4)

2008/09 Performance

2008/09 Yearly Target

2008/09 Monthly Estimate

2007/08 Outturn

Traffic Light

GREEN

Lower Performance is better 

Strategic 407 - Deliberate primary fires

12.22

2.04

8.15

10.18

3.01
2.35

4.07

3.06

6.11

9.17

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

Mar May Jun

(Q1)

Jul Sep

(Q2)

Nov Dec

(Q3)

Jan Mar

(Q4)

2008/09 Performance

2008/09 Yearly Target

2008/09 Monthly Estimate

2007/08 Outturn

Page 87



Traffic Light

GREEN

Lower Performance is better 

Strategic 408 - Deliberate secondary fires

36.89

6.15

24.60

30.74

38.00

6.91
5.59

12.30

9.22

18.45

27.67

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Mar May Jun

(Q1)

Jul Sep

(Q2)

Nov Dec

(Q3)

Jan Mar

(Q4)

2008/09 Performance

2008/09 Yearly Target

2008/09 Monthly Estimate

2007/08 Outturn

Page 88



C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

 B
U

D
G

E
T

 M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

 2
0
0
8
/0

9
 (

1
S

T
 Q

U
A

R
T

E
R

)

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

 P
R

O
J
E

C
T

E
D

 O
U

T
T

U
R

N
 B

A
S

E
D

 O
N

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

 A
S

 A
T

 3
0
/0

6
/0

8

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 3

A

O
ri

g
in

a
l

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

L
a
te

s
t

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

F
o

re
c
a
s
t

O
u

tt
u

rn

£
'0

0
0

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

£
'0

0
0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

3
7
6

3
6
9

3
6
9

0

In
c
o
m

e
-7

0

  
A

0
2
  
D

iv
is

io
n

a
l 
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
&

 A
d

m
in

is
tr

a
ti

o
n

3
6
9

3
6
9

3
6
9

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

3
3
4

3
3
4

3
3
4

0

In
c
o
m

e
0

  
A

0
3
  
A

c
c
e
s
s
 a

n
d

 S
y
s
te

m
s
 C

a
p

a
c
it

y
3
3
4

3
3
4

3
3
4

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

2
6
7

3
5
8

1
7
5

-1
8
3

In
c
o
m

e
-2

6
7

-3
5
8

-1
7
5

1
8
3

  
A

0
4
  
P

re
v
e
n

ta
ti

v
e
 T

e
c
h

n
o

lo
g

y
0

0
0

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

7
7
9

7
7
9

7
7
9

0

In
c
o
m

e
-7

8
0

-7
8
0

-7
8
0

0

  
A

0
5
  
C

a
re

rs
 P

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

-1
-1

-1
0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

2
,4

8
2

2
,4

8
2

2
,4

8
1

-1

In
c
o
m

e
0

  
A

0
9
  
E

ld
e
rs

 A
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n

t 
&

 C
a
re

 M
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
2
,4

8
2

2
,4

8
2

2
,4

8
1

-1

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
7
0

1
7
1

1
7
1

0

In
c
o
m

e
0

  
A

1
1
  
P

h
y
s
ic

a
l 
D

is
a
b

il
it

ie
s
 S

u
b

 D
iv

is
io

n
1
7
0

1
7
1

1
7
1

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
,0

7
4

1
,0

7
4

1
,0

7
4

0

In
c
o
m

e
0

  
A

1
2
  
P

h
y
s
ic

a
l 
D

is
a
b

il
it

ie
s
 A

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n

t
1
,0

7
4

1
,0

7
4

1
,0

7
4

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

8
9

8
9

8
9

0

In
c
o
m

e
-3

4
-3

4
-3

4
0

  
A

1
3
  
L

e
a
rn

in
g

 D
is

a
b

il
it

ie
s
 S

u
b

 D
iv

is
io

n
5
5

5
5

5
5

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
,0

3
2

1
,0

3
2

1
,0

3
2

0

In
c
o
m

e
-3

1
9

-3
1
9

-3
1
9

0

  
A

1
4
  
L

e
a
rn

in
g

 D
is

a
b

il
it

ie
s
 A

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n

t
7
1
3

7
1
3

7
1
3

0

A
D

U
L

T
S

' 
H

E
A

L
T

H
 &

 W
E

L
L

B
E

IN
G

C
o

m
m

e
n

t/
 R

is
k
 A

re
a
s

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

Page 89



C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

 B
U

D
G

E
T

 M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

 2
0
0
8
/0

9
 (

1
S

T
 Q

U
A

R
T

E
R

)

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

 P
R

O
J
E

C
T

E
D

 O
U

T
T

U
R

N
 B

A
S

E
D

 O
N

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

 A
S

 A
T

 3
0
/0

6
/0

8

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 3

A

O
ri

g
in

a
l

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

L
a
te

s
t

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

F
o

re
c
a
s
t

O
u

tt
u

rn

£
'0

0
0

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

£
'0

0
0

A
D

U
L

T
S

' 
H

E
A

L
T

H
 &

 W
E

L
L

B
E

IN
G

C
o

m
m

e
n

t/
 R

is
k
 A

re
a
s

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
,5

8
9

1
,5

8
9

1
,5

8
9

0

In
c
o
m

e
-4

-4
0

4

  
A

1
5
  
O

c
c
u

p
a
ti

o
n

a
l 
T

h
e
ra

p
y

1
,5

8
5

1
,5

8
5

1
,5

8
9

4

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
,1

4
4

1
,1

4
4

1
,3

2
4

1
8
0

In
c
o
m

e

  
A

1
6
  
O

c
c
u

p
a
ti

o
n

a
l 
T

h
e
ra

p
y
 -

 C
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
1
,1

4
4

1
,1

4
4

1
,3

2
4

1
8
0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

4
7
9

4
7
9

4
7
9

0

In
c
o
m

e
-1

2
6

-1
2
6

-1
2
6

0

  
A

1
7
  
H

IV
 D

ru
g

s
 A

lc
o

h
o

l
3
5
3

3
5
3

3
5
3

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
,4

0
1

1
,4

0
1

1
,4

0
1

0

In
c
o
m

e
0

  
A

1
8
  
H

o
s
p

it
a
l 
S

o
c
ia

l 
W

o
rk

 T
e
a
m

s
1
,4

0
1

1
,4

0
1

1
,4

0
1

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
3
8

1
3
8

1
3
8

0

In
c
o
m

e
-2

7
-2

7

  
A

1
9
 V

u
ln

e
ra

b
le

r 
A

d
u

lt
s

1
3
8

1
3
8

1
1
1

-2
7

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

7
1

7
1

7
1

0

In
c
o
m

e
-4

9
-4

9
-4

9
0

  
A

2
3
  
M

e
n

ta
l 
H

e
a
lt

h
 S

u
b

 D
iv

is
io

n
 M

&
A

2
2

2
2

2
2

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

2
,7

3
8

2
,7

3
8

2
,7

3
8

0

In
c
o
m

e
-7

6
8

-7
6
8

-7
6
8

0

  
A

2
4
  
A

re
a
 M

e
n

ta
l 
H

e
a
lt

h
 T

e
a
m

s
1
,9

7
0

1
,9

7
0

1
,9

7
0

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

4
8
8

4
8
8

4
8
8

0

In
c
o
m

e
-7

3
-7

3
-7

3
0

  
A

2
5
  
M

e
n

ta
l 
H

e
a
lt

h
 D

a
y
 C

e
n

tr
e
s

4
1
5

4
1
5

4
1
5

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
0
1

1
0
1

1
0
1

0

In
c
o
m

e

  
A

3
0
  
A

d
u

lt
 R

e
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 S

u
b

 D
iv

is
io

n
 

1
0
1

1
0
1

1
0
1

0

C
u
rr

e
n
t 
d
e
m

a
n
d
 f
o
r 

h
ig

h
 c

o
s
t 
c
o
m

p
le

x
 n

e
e
d
s
 e

q
u
ip

m
e
n
t 
is

 h
ig

h
. 

R
e
ta

il 
s
u
p
p
lie

rs
 a

re
 n

o
 l
o
n
g
e
r 

d
e
liv

e
ri
n
g
 g

o
o
d
s
 f
re

e
 o

f 
c
a
rr

ia
g
e
 

w
h
ic

h
 s

ig
n
if
ic

a
n
tl
y
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
s
 t
h
e
 p

ri
c
e
 p

e
r 

it
e
m

. 
M

a
n
u
fa

c
tu

ri
n
g
 

c
o
s
ts

 h
a
v
e
 r

is
e
n
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 c

o
s
t 
o
f 
c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 e

q
u
ip

m
e
n
t 
h
a
s
 

in
c
re

a
s
e
d
. 
F

u
e
l 
c
o
s
ts

 o
f 
th

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 h

a
v
e
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d
 a

s
 h

a
s
 

c
le

a
n
in

g
 a

n
d
 d

e
c
o
n
ta

m
in

a
ti
o
n
 c

o
s
ts

 t
o
 c

o
m

p
ly

 w
it
h
 r

e
g
u
la

ti
o
n
s
.

Page 90



C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

 B
U

D
G

E
T

 M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

 2
0
0
8
/0

9
 (

1
S

T
 Q

U
A

R
T

E
R

)

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

 P
R

O
J
E

C
T

E
D

 O
U

T
T

U
R

N
 B

A
S

E
D

 O
N

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

 A
S

 A
T

 3
0
/0

6
/0

8

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 3

A

O
ri

g
in

a
l

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

L
a
te

s
t

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

F
o

re
c
a
s
t

O
u

tt
u

rn

£
'0

0
0

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

£
'0

0
0

A
D

U
L

T
S

' 
H

E
A

L
T

H
 &

 W
E

L
L

B
E

IN
G

C
o

m
m

e
n

t/
 R

is
k
 A

re
a
s

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

6
8
2

6
8
2

6
6
2

-2
0

In
c
o
m

e
-1

-1
-1

0

  
A

3
1
  
P

h
y
s
ic

a
l 
D

is
a
b

il
it

ie
s
 

6
8
1

6
8
1

6
6
1

-2
0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

4
5
3

4
5
3

4
5
3

0

In
c
o
m

e
-5

-5
-5

0

  
A

3
2
  
L

e
a
rn

in
g

 D
is

a
b

il
it

ie
s
 D

a
y
 C

e
n

tr
e

4
4
8

4
4
8

4
4
8

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
,6

4
8

1
,6

4
8

1
,6

4
8

0

In
c
o
m

e
-4

3
-4

3
-4

3
0

  
A

3
3
  
E

ld
e
rs

 D
a
y
 C

e
n

tr
e

s
1
,6

0
5

1
,6

0
5

1
,6

0
5

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

6
,4

6
5

6
,4

6
6

6
,4

6
6

0

In
c
o
m

e
0

  
A

3
4
  
H

o
m

e
 C

a
re

6
,4

6
5

6
,4

6
6

6
,4

6
6

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

2
4
9

2
4
9

2
4
9

0

In
c
o
m

e

  
A

3
7
  
E

m
e
rg

e
n

c
y
 D

u
ty

 T
e
a
m

2
4
9

2
4
9

2
4
9

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

2
4
,0

6
6

2
4
,0

4
5

2
4
,3

1
0

2
6
5

In
c
o
m

e
-3

,8
9
7

-3
,8

9
7

-3
,6

8
2

2
1
5

  
A

4
2
  
E

ld
e
rs

 C
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
in

g
2
0
,1

6
9

2
0
,1

4
8

2
0
,6

2
8

4
8
0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

2
0
,0

6
2

2
0
,0

6
2

2
0
,7

0
4

6
4
2

In
c
o
m

e
-2

,1
5
6

-2
,1

5
6

-3
,5

6
1

-1
,4

0
5

  
A

4
3
  
L

e
a
rn

in
g

 D
is

a
b

il
it

ie
s
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
in

g
1
7
,9

0
6

1
7
,9

0
6

1
7
,1

4
3

-7
6
3

T
h
e
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 i
s
 r

e
la

te
d
 m

a
in

ly
 t
o
 a

n
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 

d
e
m

a
n
d
 f
o
r 

re
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
a
n
d
 n

u
rs

in
g
 c

a
re

.

T
h
e
 d

e
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 i
s
 a

 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 g

ra
n
t 
fo

r 
a
 s

c
h
e
m

e
 

fu
n
d
e
d
 f
ro

m
 f
o
rm

e
r 

N
R

F
 m

o
n
ie

s
.

T
h
is

 v
a
ri
a
n
c
e
 i
n
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 r
e
p
re

s
e
n
ts

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
s
 i
n
 d

e
m

a
n
d
 f
o
r 

d
ir
e
c
t 
p
a
y
m

e
n
ts

 a
n
d
 o

th
e
r 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 a

re
a
s
 c

o
n
c
u
rr

e
n
t 
w

it
h
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 i
n
 p

o
lic

y
 a

n
d
 l
e
g
is

la
ti
o
n
 t
o
w

a
rd

s
 m

o
re

 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

liv
in

g
. 
H

o
w

e
v
e
r,

 a
s
 a

 r
e
s
u
lt
 o

f 
s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu

l 
n
e
g
o
ti
a
ti
o
n
s
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 

P
C

T
 o

v
e
r 

th
e
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 s
h
a
ri
n
g
 o

r 
d
is

tr
ib

u
ti
o
n
 o

f 
 c

o
s
ts

 i
n
 a

 

n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
c
o
m

p
le

x
 c

a
s
e
s
 o

f 
c
lie

n
ts

 r
e
c
e
iv

in
g
 v

e
ry

 h
ig

h
 l
e
v
e
ls

 o
f 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

, 
a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
in

c
o
m

e
 w

ill
 c

o
v
e
r 

th
e
s
e
 c

o
s
ts

 a
n
d
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
te

 

to
 a

 n
e
t 
u
n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
d
. 
H

o
w

e
v
e
r 

th
is

 p
o
s
it
io

n
 i
s
 l
ia

b
le

 t
o
 s

ig
n
if
ic

a
n
t 

c
h
a
n
g
e
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
o
u
t 
th

e
 y

e
a
r 

a
s
 i
n
d
iv

id
u
a
l 
c
a
s
e
s
 a

re
 r

e
v
ie

w
e
d
 

a
n
d
 r

e
-a

s
s
e
s
s
e
d
.

Page 91



C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

 B
U

D
G

E
T

 M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

 2
0
0
8
/0

9
 (

1
S

T
 Q

U
A

R
T

E
R

)

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

 P
R

O
J
E

C
T

E
D

 O
U

T
T

U
R

N
 B

A
S

E
D

 O
N

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

 A
S

 A
T

 3
0
/0

6
/0

8

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 3

A

O
ri

g
in

a
l

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

L
a
te

s
t

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

F
o

re
c
a
s
t

O
u

tt
u

rn

£
'0

0
0

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

£
'0

0
0

A
D

U
L

T
S

' 
H

E
A

L
T

H
 &

 W
E

L
L

B
E

IN
G

C
o

m
m

e
n

t/
 R

is
k
 A

re
a
s

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

9
,0

0
9

9
,0

5
8

9
,6

2
5

5
6
7

In
c
o
m

e
-1

,4
4
4

-1
,4

4
4

-2
,2

5
6

-8
1
2

  
A

4
4
  
M

e
n

ta
l 
H

e
a
lt

h
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
in

g
7
,5

6
5

7
,6

1
4

7
,3

6
9

-2
4
5

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

7
,2

5
3

7
,2

5
3

7
,2

1
0

-4
3

In
c
o
m

e
-1

,4
5
2

-1
,4

5
2

-1
,2

3
2

2
2
0

  
A

4
5
  
P

h
y
s
ic

a
l 
D

is
a
b

il
it

ie
s
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
in

g
5
,8

0
1

5
,8

0
1

5
,9

7
8

1
7
7

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

2
5
8

2
5
8

2
3
3

-2
5

In
c
o
m

e
-1

5
1

-1
5
1

-1
5
1

0

  
A

4
6
  
H

IV
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
in

g
1
0
7

1
0
7

8
2

-2
5

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

7
8
3

7
3
4

7
3
4

0

In
c
o
m

e

  
A

4
7
  
D

ru
g

s
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
in

g
7
8
3

7
3
4

7
3
4

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

2
6
3

2
6
3

2
6
3

0

In
c
o
m

e

  
A

4
8
  
A

lc
o

h
o

l 
C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
in

g
2
6
3

2
6
3

2
6
3

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

3
8
,8

0
7

3
8
,8

0
6

3
9
,4

2
4

6
1
8

In
c
o
m

e
-3

5
,6

4
8

-3
5
,6

4
8

-3
7
,0

8
0

-1
,4

3
2

  
A

4
9
  
H

o
m

e
le

s
s
 &

 H
o

u
s
in

g
 A

d
v
ic

e
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
3
,1

5
9

3
,1

5
8

2
,3

4
4

-8
1
4

T
h
e
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 i
s
 r

e
la

te
d
 m

a
in

ly
 t
o
 a

n
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 

re
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
c
o
s
ts

.

H
o
w

e
v
e
r,

 a
s
 a

 r
e
s
u
lt
 o

f 
s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu

l 
n
e
g
o
ti
a
ti
o
n
s
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 P

C
T

 

o
v
e
r 

th
e
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 s
h
a
ri
n
g
 o

r 
d
is

tr
ib

u
ti
o
n
 o

f 
 c

o
s
ts

 i
n
 a

 n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
c
o
m

p
le

x
 c

a
s
e
s
 o

f 
c
lie

n
ts

 r
e
c
e
iv

in
g
 v

e
ry

 h
ig

h
 l
e
v
e
ls

 o
f 
s
u
p
p
o
rt

, 

a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
in

c
o
m

e
 w

ill
 c

o
v
e
r 

th
e
s
e
 c

o
s
ts

 a
n
d
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
te

 t
o
 a

 n
e
t 

u
n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
d
. 
H

o
w

e
v
e
r 

th
is

 p
o
s
it
io

n
 i
s
 l
ia

b
le

 t
o
 s

ig
n
if
ic

a
n
t 
c
h
a
n
g
e
 

th
ro

u
g
h
o
u
t 
th

e
 y

e
a
r 

a
s
 i
n
d
iv

id
u
a
l 
c
a
s
e
s
 a

re
 r

e
v
ie

w
e
d
 a

n
d
 r

e
-

a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
.

T
h
e
 r

e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 i
s
 d

u
e
 t
o
 a

 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 C

a
re

rs
 

g
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 
g
ra

n
t,
 t
o
 r

e
fl
e
c
t 
th

e
re

 b
e
in

g
 l
e
s
s
  
C

a
re

rs
 r

e
la

te
d
 

e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

  
in

 t
h
is

 b
u
d
g
e
t.
 H

o
w

e
v
e
r 

a
 s

m
a
ll 

n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
re

c
e
n
tl
y
 

a
g
re

e
d
 h

ig
h
 c

o
s
t 
c
a
re

 p
a
c
k
a
g
e
s
 h

a
v
e
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
te

d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 b
e
in

g
 l
e
s
s
 t
h
a
n
 t
h
e
 r

e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 i
n
c
o
m

e
.

T
h
e
 £

6
1
8
K

 G
ro

s
s
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 v
a
ri
a
n
c
e
 i
s
 m

a
in

ly
 d

u
e
 t
o
 o

v
e
r 

s
p
e
n
d
s
 o

n
 t
h
e
 P

re
m

is
ie

s
 r

e
la

te
d
 b

u
d
g
e
t 
h
e
a
d
s
, 
in

 c
o
n
s
e
q
u
e
n
c
e
 

o
f 
th

e
re

 b
e
in

g
  
m

o
re

 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
 i
n
 t
e
m

p
o
ra

ry
 a

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 

th
a
n
 o

ri
g
in

a
lly

 b
u
d
g
e
te

d
 f
o
r.

  
T

h
e
 £

1
,4

3
2
K

 G
ro

s
s
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 

v
a
ri
a
n
c
e
 l
ik

e
w

is
e
 r

e
fl
e
c
ts

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d
 t
e
m

p
o
ra

ry
 a

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 

p
la

c
e
m

e
n
ts

, 
w

it
h
 m

o
re

 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
n
g
 t
o
 a

d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti
o
n
 

c
h
a
rg

e
s
 t
h
a
n
 o

ri
g
in

a
lly

 b
u
d
g
e
te

d
 f
o
r.

Page 92



C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

 B
U

D
G

E
T

 M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

 2
0
0
8
/0

9
 (

1
S

T
 Q

U
A

R
T

E
R

)

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

 P
R

O
J
E

C
T

E
D

 O
U

T
T

U
R

N
 B

A
S

E
D

 O
N

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

 A
S

 A
T

 3
0
/0

6
/0

8

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 3

A

O
ri

g
in

a
l

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

L
a
te

s
t

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

F
o

re
c
a
s
t

O
u

tt
u

rn

£
'0

0
0

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

£
'0

0
0

A
D

U
L

T
S

' 
H

E
A

L
T

H
 &

 W
E

L
L

B
E

IN
G

C
o

m
m

e
n

t/
 R

is
k
 A

re
a
s

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
5
,8

2
1

1
5
,8

2
2

1
7
,6

0
3

1
,7

8
1

In
c
o
m

e
-1

5
,7

4
4

-1
5
,7

4
4

-1
7
,5

2
5

-1
,7

8
1

  
A

5
0
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 P

e
o

p
le

7
7

7
8

7
8

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

5
0

5
0

5
0

0

In
c
o
m

e

  
A

5
3
  
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 D
iv

is
io

n
 M

&
A

5
0

5
0

5
0

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

6
2
1

6
2
1

6
2
1

0

In
c
o
m

e
-2

2
5

-2
2
5

-2
2
5

0

  
A

5
4
  
P

o
li
c
y
 a

n
d

 P
la

n
n

in
g

3
9
6

3
9
6

3
9
6

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

3
8
3

3
8
3

3
8
3

0

In
c
o
m

e

  
A

5
5
  
Q

u
a
li
ty

 a
n

d
 P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

3
8
3

3
8
3

3
8
3

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

3
8
8

3
8
8

3
8
8

0

In
c
o
m

e

  
A

5
6
  
A

d
u

lt
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 I
T

3
8
8

3
8
8

3
8
8

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

3
9
6

3
9
4

3
9
4

0

In
c
o
m

e
-7

2
-7

2
-7

2
0

  
A

5
7
  
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
ro

je
c
ts

3
2
4

3
2
2

3
2
2

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
,3

8
1

1
,3

8
0

1
,3

8
0

0

In
c
o
m

e
-2

7
-2

7
-2

7
0

  
A

5
8
  
T

e
c
h

n
ic

a
l 
R

e
s
o

u
rc

e
s

1
,3

5
4

1
,3

5
3

1
,3

5
3

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

5
9
8

5
9
8

5
9
8

0

In
c
o
m

e

  
A

5
9
  
C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s

5
9
8

5
9
8

5
9
8

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

8
8

8
0

In
c
o
m

e

  
A

6
0
  
C

o
m

m
u

n
ic

a
ti

o
n

s
8

8
8

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

8
1
8

8
1
8

8
1
8

0

In
c
o
m

e
-2

7
3

-2
7
3

-2
7
3

0

  
A

6
6
  
L

e
a
rn

in
g

 a
n

d
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t
5
4
5

5
4
5

5
4
5

0

Page 93



C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

 B
U

D
G

E
T

 M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

 2
0
0
8
/0

9
 (

1
S

T
 Q

U
A

R
T

E
R

)

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

 P
R

O
J
E

C
T

E
D

 O
U

T
T

U
R

N
 B

A
S

E
D

 O
N

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

 A
S

 A
T

 3
0
/0

6
/0

8

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 3

A

O
ri

g
in

a
l

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

L
a
te

s
t

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

F
o

re
c
a
s
t

O
u

tt
u

rn

£
'0

0
0

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

£
'0

0
0

A
D

U
L

T
S

' 
H

E
A

L
T

H
 &

 W
E

L
L

B
E

IN
G

C
o

m
m

e
n

t/
 R

is
k
 A

re
a
s

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

4
1

4
1

4
1

0

In
c
o
m

e

  
A

6
8
  
S

u
p

p
o

rt
e
d

 E
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n

t
4
1

4
1

4
1

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

7
1
0

7
1
3

7
1
3

0

In
c
o
m

e
-2

5
-9

-9
0

  
A

7
1
  
F

in
a
n

c
e
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s

6
8
5

7
0
4

7
0
4

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
2
8

1
2
8

1
2
8

0

In
c
o
m

e

  
A

7
2
  
B

u
d

g
e
t 

S
h

o
rt

fa
ll
 C

o
n

ti
n

g
e
n

c
y

1
2
8

1
2
8

1
2
8

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

3
,4

3
3

3
,4

3
3

3
,4

3
3

0

In
c
o
m

e

  
A

9
0
  
S

u
p

p
o

rt
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 H

o
ld

in
g

 A
c
c
o

u
n

t
3
,4

3
3

3
,4

3
3

3
,4

3
3

0

A
d

u
lt

s
' 
H

e
a
lt

h
 &

 W
e
ll
b

e
in

g
 T

o
ta

l
8
5
,9

3
4

8
5
,9

3
4

8
4
,8

7
9

-1
,0

5
4

Page 94



C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

 B
U

D
G

E
T

 M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

 2
0
0
8
/0

9
 (

1
S

T
 Q

U
A

R
T

E
R

)

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

 P
R

O
J
E

C
T

E
D

 O
U

T
T

U
R

N
 B

A
S

E
D

 O
N

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

 A
S

 A
T

 3
0
/0

6
/0

8

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 3

B

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

O
ri

g
in

a
l

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

L
a
te

s
t

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

F
o

re
c
a
s
t

O
u

tt
u

rn

£
'0

0
0

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

£
'0

0
0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

3
,9

2
4

3
,9

2
4

3
,9

2
4

0

In
c
o
m

e
-3

,8
9
5

-3
,8

9
5

-3
,8

9
5

0

  
G

0
2
  
P

re
-P

ri
m

a
ry

 E
d

u
c
a
ti

o
n

2
9

2
9

2
9

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
1
0
,4

5
5

1
1
0
,4

5
5

1
1
0
,4

5
5

0

In
c
o
m

e
-1

0
7
,8

5
6

-1
0
7
,8

5
6

-1
0
7
,8

5
6

0

  
G

0
4
  
P

ri
m

a
ry

 E
d

u
c
a
ti

o
n

2
,5

9
9

2
,5

9
9

2
,5

9
9

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

8
9
,3

6
6

8
9
,3

6
6

8
9
,3

6
6

0

In
c
o
m

e
-8

6
,8

1
9

-8
6
,8

1
9

-8
6
,8

1
9

0

  
G

0
6
  
S

e
c
o

n
d

a
ry

 E
d

u
c
a
ti

o
n

2
,5

4
7

2
,5

4
7

2
,5

4
7

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
0
,2

2
2

1
0
,2

2
2

1
0
,2

2
2

0

In
c
o
m

e
-9

,9
8
4

-9
,9

8
4

-9
,9

8
4

0

  
G

0
8
  
S

p
e
c
ia

l 
E

d
u

c
a
ti

o
n

2
3
8

2
3
8

2
3
8

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

6
5
7

6
5
7

5
7
7

-8
0

In
c
o
m

e
-2

5
4

-2
5
4

-2
1
6

3
8

  
G

1
0
  
E

Y
C

L
 M

&
A

4
0
3

4
0
3

3
6
1

-4
2

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

5
,5

0
6

5
,5

0
6

5
,5

0
6

0

In
c
o
m

e
-5

,0
4
9

-5
,0

4
9

-5
,0

4
9

0

  
G

1
1
  
E

a
rl

y
 Y

e
a
r s

4
5
7

4
5
7

4
5
7

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

2
,7

2
0

2
,7

2
0

2
,7

1
5

-5

In
c
o
m

e
-9

8
-9

8
-9

3
5

  
G

1
2
  
L

o
c
a
l 
A

u
th

o
ri

ty
 D

a
y
 N

u
rs

e
ri

e
s

2
,6

2
2

2
,6

2
2

2
,6

2
2

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
0
,5

1
0

1
0
,5

1
0

1
0
,5

1
0

0

In
c
o
m

e
-1

0
,5

1
0

-1
0
,5

1
0

-1
0
,5

1
0

0

  
G

1
3
  
C

h
il
d

re
n

s
 C

e
n

tr
e
s

0
0

0
0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

4
5
9

4
5
9

4
5
9

0

In
c
o
m

e
-4

0
-4

0
-4

0
0

  
G

1
4
  
S

c
h

o
o

l 
Im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n

t 
P

ri
m

a
r y

4
1
9

4
1
9

4
1
9

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
,8

2
8

1
,8

2
8

1
,8

2
8

0

In
c
o
m

e
-4

1
3

-4
1
3

-4
1
3

0

  
G

1
5
  
P

u
p

il
 &

 S
tu

d
e
n

t 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

1
,4

1
5

1
,4

1
5

1
,4

1
5

0

C
H

IL
D

R
E

N
'S

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
C

o
m

m
e
n

t/
 R

is
k
 A

re
a
s

Page 95



C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

 B
U

D
G

E
T

 M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

 2
0
0
8
/0

9
 (

1
S

T
 Q

U
A

R
T

E
R

)

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

 P
R

O
J
E

C
T

E
D

 O
U

T
T

U
R

N
 B

A
S

E
D

 O
N

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

 A
S

 A
T

 3
0
/0

6
/0

8

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 3

B

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

O
ri

g
in

a
l

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

L
a
te

s
t

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

F
o

re
c
a
s
t

O
u

tt
u

rn

£
'0

0
0

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

£
'0

0
0

C
H

IL
D

R
E

N
'S

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
C

o
m

m
e
n

t/
 R

is
k
 A

re
a
s

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

9
,3

3
2

9
,3

3
2

9
,3

3
2

0

In
c
o
m

e
-5

,2
2
7

-5
,2

2
7

-5
,2

2
7

0

  
G

1
6
  
S

p
e
c
ia

l 
E

d
u

c
a
ti

o
n

a
l 
N

e
e
d

s
4
,1

0
5

4
,1

0
5

4
,1

0
5

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

2
,1

8
4

2
,1

8
4

2
,1

8
4

0

In
c
o
m

e
-2

,1
7
3

-2
,1

7
3

-2
,1

7
3

0

  
G

1
7
  
S

u
p

p
o

rt
 F

o
r 

L
e
a
rn

in
g

 S
e
rv

ic
e

1
1

1
1

1
1

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
,0

8
0

1
,0

8
0

1
,3

2
5

2
4
5

In
c
o
m

e
-4

2
7

-4
2
7

-6
6
6

-2
3
9

  
G

1
8
  
E

d
u

c
a
ti

o
n

a
l 
P

s
y
c
h

o
lo

g
y

6
5
3

6
5
3

6
5
9

6

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

6
2
5

6
2
5

6
2
5

0

In
c
o
m

e
-1

7
4

-1
7
4

-1
7
4

0

  
G

1
9
  
E

q
u

a
li
ti

e
s
 a

n
d

 P
a
re

n
ta

l 
E

n
g

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
4
5
1

4
5
1

4
5
1

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
6
9

1
6
9

1
6
9

0

In
c
o
m

e
0

0

  
G

2
0
  
G

o
v
e
rn

o
rs

 S
e
rv

ic
e
s

1
6
9

1
6
9

1
6
9

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

2
5
6

2
5
6

2
7
0

1
4

In
c
o
m

e
0

0

  
G

2
1
  
O

n
e
 O

'c
lo

c
k
 C

lu
b

s
2
5
6

2
5
6

2
7
0

1
4

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
4
8

1
4
8

1
6
5

1
7

In
c
o
m

e
0

0

  
G

2
5
  
Y

o
u

n
g

 P
e
o

p
le

 &
 L

e
a
rn

in
g

 M
&

A
1
4
8

1
4
8

1
6
5

1
7

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

8
7
9

8
7
9

7
0
9

-1
7
0

In
c
o
m

e
-4

7
2

-4
7
2

-2
4
0

2
3
2

  
G

2
6
  
S

c
h

o
o

l 
Im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n

t 
S

e
c
o

n
d

a
ry

4
0
7

4
0
7

4
6
9

6
2

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

0
0

1
,2

6
4

1
,2

6
4

In
c
o
m

e
0

0
-1

,2
6
4

-1
,2

6
4

  
G

2
8
  
E

d
u

c
a
ti

o
n

a
l 
Im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n

t 
P

's
h

ip
0

0
0

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

4
,0

3
1

4
,0

3
1

4
,0

3
1

0

In
c
o
m

e
-4

,0
3
1

-4
,0

3
1

-4
,0

3
1

0

  
G

2
9
  
P

R
U

0
0

0
0

Page 96



C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

 B
U

D
G

E
T

 M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

 2
0
0
8
/0

9
 (

1
S

T
 Q

U
A

R
T

E
R

)

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

 P
R

O
J
E

C
T

E
D

 O
U

T
T

U
R

N
 B

A
S

E
D

 O
N

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

 A
S

 A
T

 3
0
/0

6
/0

8

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 3

B

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

O
ri

g
in

a
l

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

L
a
te

s
t

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

F
o

re
c
a
s
t

O
u

tt
u

rn

£
'0

0
0

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

£
'0

0
0

C
H

IL
D

R
E

N
'S

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
C

o
m

m
e
n

t/
 R

is
k
 A

re
a
s

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

0
0

6
0

6
0

In
c
o
m

e
0

0
-6

0
-6

0

  
G

3
0
 M

u
s
ic

/A
rt

s
 E

d
u

c
a
ti

o
n

0
0

0
0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

3
9
1

3
9
1

3
4
6

-4
5

In
c
o
m

e
-1

0
-1

0
0

1
0

  
G

3
3
  
E

-L
e
a
rn

in
g

3
8
1

3
8
1

3
4
6

-3
5

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

4
2
4

4
2
4

4
2
3

-1

In
c
o
m

e
0

0

  
G

3
7
  
Y

o
u

th
 &

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 L

e
a
rn

in
g

 M
&

A
4
2
4

4
2
4

4
2
3

-1

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

4
,0

5
1

4
,0

5
1

4
,3

0
2

2
5
1

In
c
o
m

e
-3

,4
0
3

-3
,4

0
3

-3
,6

5
4

-2
5
1

  
G

3
8
  
L

if
e
lo

n
g

 L
e
a
rn

in
g

6
4
8

6
4
8

6
4
8

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

5
,4

5
6

5
,4

5
6

1
1
,0

4
4

5
,5

8
8

In
c
o
m

e
-1

,5
3
5

-1
,5

3
5

-7
,1

2
3

-5
,5

8
8

  
G

3
9
  
Y

o
u

th
 &

 C
o

n
n

e
x
io

n
s
 S

e
rv

ic
e

3
,9

2
1

3
,9

2
1

3
,9

2
1

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
,2

8
3

1
,2

8
3

1
,0

6
6

-2
1
7

In
c
o
m

e
-3

4
4

-3
4
4

-1
2
7

2
1
7

  
G

4
0
  
J
u

n
io

r 
Y

o
u

th
 S

e
rv

ic
e

9
3
9

9
3
9

9
3
9

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

4
2

4
2

In
c
o
m

e
0

0

  
G

4
1
  
H

e
a
lt

h
 T

h
ro

u
g

h
 E

d
u

c
a
ti

o
n

0
0

4
2

4
2

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

7
4
6

7
4
6

8
0
8

6
2

In
c
o
m

e
-1

4
-1

4
-7

5
-6

1

  
G

4
2
  
C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y
 L

a
n

g
u

a
g

e
s
 T

e
a
m

7
3
2

7
3
2

7
3
3

1

Page 97



C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

 B
U

D
G

E
T

 M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

 2
0
0
8
/0

9
 (

1
S

T
 Q

U
A

R
T

E
R

)

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

 P
R

O
J
E

C
T

E
D

 O
U

T
T

U
R

N
 B

A
S

E
D

 O
N

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

 A
S

 A
T

 3
0
/0

6
/0

8

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 3

B

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

O
ri

g
in

a
l

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

L
a
te

s
t

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

F
o

re
c
a
s
t

O
u

tt
u

rn

£
'0

0
0

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

£
'0

0
0

C
H

IL
D

R
E

N
'S

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
C

o
m

m
e
n

t/
 R

is
k
 A

re
a
s

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

5
9

5
9

5
9

0

In
c
o
m

e
0

0

  
G

4
3
  
O

u
t-

o
f-

h
o

u
rs

 L
e
a
rn

in
g

 &
 S

tu
d

y
5
9

5
9

5
9

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

0

In
c
o
m

e
0

  
G

4
4
  
E

x
te

n
d

e
d

 S
c
h

o
o

ls
0

0
0

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

9
3
1

9
3
1

9
3
1

0

In
c
o
m

e
-9

3
1

-9
3
1

-9
3
1

0

  
G

4
6
  
C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y
 P

re
m

is
e
s

0
0

0
0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

6
3
3

6
3
3

6
3
3

0

In
c
o
m

e
0

0

  
G

4
9
  
C

h
il
d

re
n

s
 S

o
c
ia

l 
C

a
re

 M
&

A
6
3
3

6
3
3

6
3
3

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
,8

1
7

1
,8

1
7

1
,8

1
7

0

In
c
o
m

e
-6

3
-6

3
-6

3
0

  
G

5
0
  
C

h
il
d

 P
ro

te
c
ti

o
n

 &
 R

e
v
ie

w
in

g
1
,7

5
4

1
,7

5
4

1
,7

5
4

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

6
4
8

6
4
8

6
4
8

0

In
c
o
m

e
0

0

  
G

5
1
  
C

h
il
d

re
n

s
 R

e
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 :

 M
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
6
4
8

6
4
8

6
4
8

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
,5

1
0

1
,5

1
0

1
,5

0
6

-4

In
c
o
m

e
0

0

  
G

5
2
  
C

h
il
d

re
n

s
 R

e
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 :

 R
e
s
id

e
n

t
1
,5

1
0

1
,5

1
0

1
,5

0
6

-4

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

2
,4

8
0

2
,4

8
0

2
,4

8
0

0

In
c
o
m

e
-3

1
-3

1
-3

1
0

  
G

5
3
  
C

h
il
d

re
n

s
 R

e
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 :

 F
a
m

il
y
 

2
,4

4
9

2
,4

4
9

2
,4

4
9

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
7
,4

8
8

1
7
,4

8
8

1
7
,8

5
8

3
7
0

In
c
o
m

e
-5

9
6

-5
9
6

-9
2
8

-3
3
2

  
G

5
4
  
C

h
il
d

re
n

s
 R

e
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 :

 C
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
in

g
1
6
,8

9
2

1
6
,8

9
2

1
6
,9

3
0

3
8

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

2
,5

1
6

2
,5

1
6

2
,4

5
6

-6
0

In
c
o
m

e
-2

0
8

-2
0
8

-2
0
8

0

  
G

5
5
  
C

h
il
d

re
n

 L
o

o
k
e
d

 A
ft

e
r

2
,3

0
8

2
,3

0
8

2
,2

4
8

-6
0

Page 98



C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

 B
U

D
G

E
T

 M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

 2
0
0
8
/0

9
 (

1
S

T
 Q

U
A

R
T

E
R

)

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

 P
R

O
J
E

C
T

E
D

 O
U

T
T

U
R

N
 B

A
S

E
D

 O
N

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

 A
S

 A
T

 3
0
/0

6
/0

8

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 3

B

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

O
ri

g
in

a
l

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

L
a
te

s
t

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

F
o

re
c
a
s
t

O
u

tt
u

rn

£
'0

0
0

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

£
'0

0
0

C
H

IL
D

R
E

N
'S

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
C

o
m

m
e
n

t/
 R

is
k
 A

re
a
s

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

2
,4

8
9

2
,4

8
9

2
,4

8
9

0

In
c
o
m

e
-1

6
9

-1
6
9

-1
6
9

0

  
G

5
6
  
L

e
a
v
in

g
 C

a
re

2
,3

2
0

2
,3

2
0

2
,3

2
0

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

6
,1

5
5

6
,2

5
5

6
,7

5
5

5
0
0

In
c
o
m

e
-1

2
-1

2
-1

2
0

  
G

5
7
  
F

ie
ld

w
o

rk
6
,1

4
3

6
,2

4
3

6
,7

4
3

5
0
0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

2
,3

1
8

2
,4

2
6

2
,4

2
7

1

In
c
o
m

e
-2

1
9

-2
1
9

0

  
G

5
8
  
In

te
g

ra
te

d
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 f

o
r 

C
W

D
2
,3

1
8

2
,2

0
7

2
,2

0
8

1

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

4
2
3

3
1
4

3
1
4

0

In
c
o
m

e
-2

6
3

-4
4

-4
4

0

  
G

5
9
  
E

m
e
rg

e
n

c
y
 D

u
ty

 T
e
a

m
1
6
0

2
7
0

2
7
0

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
,5

4
4

1
,5

4
4

1
,6

4
1

9
7

In
c
o
m

e
-8

6
4

-8
6
4

-9
6
1

-9
7

  
G

6
0
  
Y

o
u

th
 O

ff
e
n

d
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e

6
8
0

6
8
0

6
8
0

0

1
,8

2
5

1
,8

2
5

1
,8

2
5

0

-1
,2

7
0

-1
,2

7
0

-1
,2

7
0

0

  
G

6
1
  
C

h
il
d

re
n

-M
e
n

ta
l 
H

e
a
lt

h
 (

C
A

M
H

S
)

5
5
5

5
5
5

5
5
5

0

A
 s

u
b
s
ta

n
ti
a
l 
in

c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 a

c
ti
v
it
y
 h

a
s
 n

e
c
e
s
s
it
a
te

d
  
a
g
e
n
c
y
 s

ta
ff
 

b
e
in

g
 m

a
in

ta
in

e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 t
o
 c

o
v
e
r 

s
ta

ff
 v

a
c
a
n
c
ie

s
 a

n
d
  
in

 

a
d
d
it
io

n
 t
o
 t
h
is

, 
re

ta
in

in
g
 a

 q
u
o
ta

  
o
f 
a
g
e
n
c
y
 s

ta
ff
  
a
b
o
v
e
 

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
m

e
n
t 
to

 m
e
e
t 
th

is
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d
 d

e
m

a
n
d
 f
o
r 

a
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 a

n
d
 

to
 e

n
s
u
re

 c
h
ild

re
n
 a

re
 s

a
fe

g
u
a
rd

e
d
.

T
h
is

 h
a
s
 n

e
c
e
s
s
it
a
te

d
 a

g
e
n
c
y
 s

ta
ff
 b

e
in

g
 m

a
in

ta
in

e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 t
o
 c

o
v
e
r 

s
ta

ff
 v

a
c
a
n
c
ie

s
 a

n
d
  
in

 a
d
d
it
io

n
 t
o
 t
h
is

, 
re

ta
in

in
g
 

a
 q

u
o
ta

  
o
f 
a
g
e
n
c
y
 s

ta
ff
  
a
b
o
v
e
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
m

e
n
t 
to

 m
e
e
t 
th

is
 

in
c
re

a
s
e
d
 d

e
m

a
n
d
 f
o
r 

a
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 a

n
d
 t
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 c
h
ild

re
n
 a

re
 

s
a
fe

g
u
a
rd

e
d
.

R
e
c
ru

it
m

e
n
t 
c
a
m

p
a
ig

n
s
 h

a
v
e
 n

o
t 
re

a
lis

e
d
 t
h
e
 r

e
c
ru

it
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
a
 

s
u
ff
ic

ie
n
t 
y
ie

ld
 o

f 
s
u
it
a
b
ly

 q
u
a
lif

ie
d
 a

n
d
 e

x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
d
 s

ta
ff
 w

h
o
 

c
a
n
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
 c

o
m

p
le

x
 c

h
ild

 p
ro

te
c
ti
o
n
 w

o
rk

 a
n
d
 t
h
e
re

fo
re

 

re
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e
 r

e
lia

n
c
e
 o

n
  
a
g
e
n
c
y
 w

o
rk

e
rs

.

Page 99



C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

 B
U

D
G

E
T

 M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

 2
0
0
8
/0

9
 (

1
S

T
 Q

U
A

R
T

E
R

)

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

 P
R

O
J
E

C
T

E
D

 O
U

T
T

U
R

N
 B

A
S

E
D

 O
N

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

 A
S

 A
T

 3
0
/0

6
/0

8

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 3

B

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

O
ri

g
in

a
l

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

L
a
te

s
t

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

F
o

re
c
a
s
t

O
u

tt
u

rn

£
'0

0
0

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

£
'0

0
0

C
H

IL
D

R
E

N
'S

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
C

o
m

m
e
n

t/
 R

is
k
 A

re
a
s

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

4
6
9

4
6
9

4
6
9

0

In
c
o
m

e
0

0

  
G

6
5
  
S

P
P

 M
&

A
4
6
9

4
6
9

4
6
9

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
,1

2
9

1
,1

2
9

1
,1

2
9

0

In
c
o
m

e
-2

2
5

-2
2
5

-2
2
5

0

  
G

6
7
  
C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e
d

 S
e
rv

ic
e
s

9
0
4

9
0
4

9
0
4

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

3
0
,2

7
5

3
0
,2

7
5

3
0
,2

7
5

0

In
c
o
m

e
-3

0
,2

0
7

-3
0
,2

0
7

-3
0
,2

0
7

0

  
G

6
8
  
E

x
te

rn
a
l 
F

u
n

d
in

g
 &

 P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

6
8

6
8

6
8

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

8
5

8
5

8
5

0

In
c
o
m

e
0

0

  
G

6
9
  
C

o
m

m
u

n
ic

a
ti

o
n

s
8
5

8
5

8
5

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
5
5

1
5
5

2
9
6

1
4
1

In
c
o
m

e
-1

5
5

-1
5
5

-2
9
6

-1
4
1

  
G

7
0
  
C

IS
0

0
0

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

4
8
4

4
8
4

8
0
6

3
2
2

In
c
o
m

e
-5

-5
0

5

  
G

7
1
  
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
s
e
a
rc

h
 &

 S
ta

ti
s
ti

c
s

4
7
9

4
7
9

8
0
6

3
2
7

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

2
8
3

2
8
3

2
8
3

0

In
c
o
m

e
-2

8
-2

8
-2

8
0

  
G

7
2
  
P

ro
g

ra
m

m
e
 M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
2
5
5

2
5
5

2
5
5

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

4
7
6

4
7
6

2
4
8

-2
2
8

In
c
o
m

e
0

0

  
G

7
3
  
Q

u
a
li
ty

 A
u

d
it

 &
P

ro
je

c
t 

M
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
4
7
6

4
7
6

2
4
8

-2
2
8

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

2
0
5

2
0
5

8
5

-1
2
0

In
c
o
m

e
0

0

  
G

7
4
  
Q

u
a
li
ty

 &
 P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

2
0
5

2
0
5

8
5

-1
2
0

T
h
e
 o

v
e
ra

ll 
e
s
ti
m

a
te

 o
f 
th

e
s
e
 t
h
re

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 a

 s
u
rp

lu
s
 o

f 

c
ir
c
a
 £

2
1
k
; 
a
n
d
 i
t 
is

 a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
 t
h
a
t 
th

is
 w

ill
 b

e
 v

ir
e
d
 t
o
 o

th
e
r 

b
u
d
g
e
ts

 w
it
h
in

 S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

s
 &

 P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
.

T
h
e
 o

v
e
ra

ll 
e
s
ti
m

a
te

 o
f 
th

e
s
e
 t
h
re

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 a

 s
u
rp

lu
s
 o

f 

c
ir
c
a
 £

2
1
k
; 
a
n
d
 i
t 
is

 a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
 t
h
a
t 
th

is
 w

ill
 b

e
 v

ir
e
d
 t
o
 o

th
e
r 

b
u
d
g
e
ts

 w
it
h
in

 S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

s
 &

 P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
.

 T
h
e
 o

v
e
ra

ll 
e
s
ti
m

a
te

 o
f 
th

e
s
e
 t
h
re

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 a

 s
u
rp

lu
s
 o

f 

c
ir
c
a
 £

2
1
k
; 
a
n
d
 i
t 
is

 a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
 t
h
a
t 
th

is
 w

ill
 b

e
 v

ir
e
d
 t
o
 o

th
e
r 

b
u
d
g
e
ts

 w
it
h
in

 S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

s
 &

 P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
.

Page 100



C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

 B
U

D
G

E
T

 M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

 2
0
0
8
/0

9
 (

1
S

T
 Q

U
A

R
T

E
R

)

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

 P
R

O
J
E

C
T

E
D

 O
U

T
T

U
R

N
 B

A
S

E
D

 O
N

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

 A
S

 A
T

 3
0
/0

6
/0

8

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 3

B

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

O
ri

g
in

a
l

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

L
a
te

s
t

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

F
o

re
c
a
s
t

O
u

tt
u

rn

£
'0

0
0

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

£
'0

0
0

C
H

IL
D

R
E

N
'S

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
C

o
m

m
e
n

t/
 R

is
k
 A

re
a
s

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

6
8
7

6
8
7

6
7
7

-1
0

In
c
o
m

e
-3

8
7

-3
8
7

-3
8
7

0

  
G

7
5
  
IT

 S
o

c
ia

l 
C

a
re

3
0
0

3
0
0

2
9
0

-1
0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

2
6
4

2
6
4

2
6
4

0

In
c
o
m

e
-2

6
-2

6
-2

6
0

  
G

7
9
  
C

h
il
d

re
n

s
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 R

e
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 

2
3
8

2
3
8

2
3
8

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

4
3
3

4
3
3

4
3
3

0

In
c
o
m

e
0

0

  
G

8
0
  
In

fo
rm

a
ti

o
n

 &
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s

4
3
3

4
3
3

4
3
3

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
,0

0
4

1
,0

0
4

1
,0

0
4

0

In
c
o
m

e
-4

6
5

-4
6
5

-4
6
5

0

  
G

8
1
  
B

u
il
d

in
g

 D
e
v
 &

 T
e
c
h

 S
e
rv

ic
e

5
3
9

5
3
9

5
3
9

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
0
,9

5
2

1
0
,9

5
2

1
0
,9

5
2

0

In
c
o
m

e
-6

6
1

-6
6
1

-6
6
1

0

  
G

8
2
  
C

h
il
d

re
n

s
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
  
F

in
a
n

c
e

1
0
,2

9
1

1
0
,2

9
1

1
0
,2

9
1

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
,7

1
8

1
,7

1
8

1
,7

1
8

0

In
c
o
m

e
0

0

  
G

8
3
  
C

h
il
d

re
n

s
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
  
H

R
1
,7

1
8

1
,7

1
8

1
,7

1
8

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
7
0

1
7
0

8
0

-9
0

In
c
o
m

e
-8

4
-8

4
-3

2
5
2

  
G

8
4
  
T

e
a
c
h

e
r 

R
e
c
ru

it
m

e
n

t
8
6

8
6

4
8

-3
8

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
,0

1
6

1
,0

1
6

1
,3

6
9

-3
5
3

In
c
o
m

e
-4

4
9

-4
4
9

-8
0
2

3
5
3

  
G

8
5
  
L

e
a
rn

in
g

 &
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t
5
6
7

5
6
7

5
6
7

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

7
8
2

7
8
2

9
0
2

1
2
0

In
c
o
m

e
-4

2
1

-4
2
1

-5
4
1

-1
2
0

  
G

8
6
  
P

D
C

3
6
1

3
6
1

3
6
1

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
3
2

1
3
2

1
3
2

0

In
c
o
m

e
0

0

  
G

8
9
  
B

u
il
d

in
g

 S
c
h

o
o

ls
 f

o
r 

th
e
 F

u
tu

re
1
3
2

1
3
2

1
3
2

0

C
h

il
d

re
n

's
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 T

o
ta

l
8
0
,0

0
6

8
0
,1

0
6

8
0
,5

7
8

4
7
0

Page 101



C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

 B
U

D
G

E
T

 M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

 2
0
0
8
/0

9
 (

1
S

T
 Q

U
A

R
T

E
R

)

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

 P
R

O
J
E

C
T

E
D

 O
U

T
T

U
R

N
 B

A
S

E
D

 O
N

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

 A
S

 A
T

 3
0
/0

6
/0

8

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 3

C

O
ri

g
in

a
l

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

L
a
te

s
t

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

F
o

re
c
a
s
t

O
u

tt
u

rn

£
'0

0
0

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

£
'0

0
0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
,3

4
3

1
,5

6
2

1
,5

6
2

0

In
c
o
m

e
-1

,3
4
3

-1
,5

6
2

-1
,5

6
2

0

  
E

0
1
  
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
&

 S
u

p
p

o
rt

0
0

0
0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

9
3
5

9
0
0

1
,0

3
8

1
3
8

In
c
o
m

e
-9

3
5

-8
9
7

-8
9
7

0

  
E

1
0
  
S

tr
e
e
t 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
&

 A
d

m
in

0
3

1
4
1

1
3
8

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

2
9
,1

1
7

2
9
,1

1
7

2
9
,1

1
7

0

In
c
o
m

e
-5

,0
2
6

-5
,0

2
6

-5
,0

2
6

0

  
E

1
1
  
W

a
s
te

 &
 C

le
a
n

s
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s

2
4
,0

9
1

2
4
,0

9
1

2
4
,0

9
1

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
1
,2

8
7

1
1
,2

4
9

1
1
,2

4
9

0

In
c
o
m

e
-1

,9
7
6

-1
,9

7
6

-1
,9

7
6

0

  
E

1
2
  
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

a
ti

o
n

 &
 H

ig
h

w
a
y
s

9
,3

1
1

9
,2

7
3

9
,2

7
3

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
,7

4
4

1
,7

4
3

1
,7

4
3

0

In
c
o
m

e
-1

,7
4
4

-1
,7

4
4

-1
,7

4
4

0

  
E

1
4
  
L

o
c
a
l 
E

n
fo

rc
e
m

e
n

t 
T

e
a
m

s
0

-1
-1

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
2
1

1
2
1

1
2
1

0

In
c
o
m

e
-1

2
1

-1
2
1

-1
2
1

0

  
E

2
0
  
E

n
v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

t 
C

o
n

tr
o

l 
M

a
n

a
g

e
r

0
0

0
0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
,9

2
3

1
,9

3
6

1
,9

3
6

0

In
c
o
m

e
-3

0
0

-3
0
0

-3
0
0

0

  
E

2
1
  
T

ra
d

in
g

 S
ta

n
d

a
rd

s
1
,6

2
3

1
,6

3
6

1
,6

3
6

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

6
,1

3
6

6
,3

7
5

6
,4

1
2

3
7

In
c
o
m

e
-7

5
8

-9
7
5

-9
7
5

0

  
E

2
2
  
E

n
v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

ta
l 
H

e
a
lt

h
5
,3

7
8

5
,4

0
0

5
,4

3
7

3
7

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

5
,0

2
0

5
,0

2
0

5
,1

1
0

9
0

In
c
o
m

e
-3

-3
-3

0

  
E

2
3
  
C

o
n

c
e
s
s
io

n
a
ry

 F
a
re

s
5
,0

1
7

5
,0

1
7

5
,1

0
7

9
0

F
o
llo

w
in

g
 a

 r
e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
c
a
ll 

v
o
lu

m
e
s
, 
c
h
a
rg

e
s
 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 C

o
n
ta

c
t 
C

e
n
tr

e
 

a
re

 n
o
w

 b
e
in

g
 m

o
re

 a
c
c
u
ra

te
ly

 r
e
fl
e
c
te

d
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 S

tr
e
e
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
s
e
rv

ic
e
, 
re

s
u
lt
in

g
 i
n
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d
 c

o
s
ts

. 
It
 i
s
 a

n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
 

th
a
t 
th

is
 v

a
ri
a
n
c
e
 w

ill
 b

e
 o

ff
s
e
t 
d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 r

e
m

a
in

d
e
r 

o
f 
th

e
 f
in

a
n
c
ia

l 

y
e
a
r 

b
u
t 
a
t 
th

is
 s

ta
g
e
 t
h
e
re

 i
s
 a

 r
is

k
 o

f 
a
 b

u
d
g
e
t 
v
a
ri
a
n
c
e
. 

C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
IE

S
, 
L

O
C

A
L

IT
IE

S
 &

 C
U

L
T

U
R

E

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

C
o

m
m

e
n

t/
 R

is
k
 A

re
a
s

Page 102



C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

 B
U

D
G

E
T

 M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

 2
0
0
8
/0

9
 (

1
S

T
 Q

U
A

R
T

E
R

)

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

 P
R

O
J
E

C
T

E
D

 O
U

T
T

U
R

N
 B

A
S

E
D

 O
N

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

 A
S

 A
T

 3
0
/0

6
/0

8

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 3

C

O
ri

g
in

a
l

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

L
a
te

s
t

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

F
o

re
c
a
s
t

O
u

tt
u

rn

£
'0

0
0

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

£
'0

0
0

C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
IE

S
, 
L

O
C

A
L

IT
IE

S
 &

 C
U

L
T

U
R

E

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

C
o

m
m

e
n

t/
 R

is
k
 A

re
a
s

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
,8

0
5

1
,8

0
5

1
,8

0
5

0

In
c
o
m

e
-1

,8
0
5

-1
,8

0
5

-1
,8

0
5

0

  
E

3
0
  
F

le
e
t 

M
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
0

0
0

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

4
,5

4
4

4
,5

4
4

4
,5

4
4

0

In
c
o
m

e
-4

,5
4
4

-4
,5

4
4

-4
,5

4
4

0

  
E

3
1
  
P

a
s
s
e
n

g
e
r 

T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

0
0

0
0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

3
9
6

3
9
6

3
9
6

0

In
c
o
m

e
-3

9
6

-3
9
6

-3
9
6

0

 E
3
2
  
D

S
O

 V
e
h

ic
le

 W
o

rk
s
h

o
p

0
0

0
0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

5
4
0

7
9
0

7
9
0

0

In
c
o
m

e
-2

1
0

-2
1
0

-2
1
0

0

  
E

3
6
  
H

e
a
lt

h
 &

 S
a
fe

ty
3
3
0

5
8
0

5
8
0

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

9
7
4

9
7
4

9
7
4

0

In
c
o
m

e
-9

7
4

-9
7
4

-9
7
4

0

  
E

4
0
  
D

iv
is

io
n

a
l 
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
0

0
0

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
0
,6

6
6

1
0
,6

6
6

1
0
,6

6
6

0

In
c
o
m

e
-1

,6
7
2

-1
,6

7
2

-1
,6

7
2

0

  
E

4
1
  
Id

e
a
 S

to
re

s
 M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
8
,9

9
4

8
,9

9
4

8
,9

9
4

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

5
,5

9
6

5
,4

0
2

5
,4

0
2

0

In
c
o
m

e
-6

5
5

-4
6
0

-4
6
0

0

  
E

4
2
  
S

p
o

rt
s
 &

 P
h

y
s
ic

a
l 
A

c
ti

v
it

y
4
,9

4
1

4
,9

4
2

4
,9

4
2

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

7
,3

2
7

7
,3

2
6

7
,3

2
6

0

In
c
o
m

e
-7

5
8

-7
5
8

-7
5
8

0

  
E

4
3
  
P

a
rk

s
 &

 O
p

e
n

 S
p

a
c
e
s

6
,5

6
9

6
,5

6
8

6
,5

6
8

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
,8

4
3

1
,8

5
5

1
,8

5
5

0

In
c
o
m

e
-2

7
9

-2
7
9

-2
7
9

0

  
E

4
4
  
A

rt
s
 &

 E
v
e
n

ts
1
,5

6
4

1
,5

7
6

1
,5

7
6

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

7
5
1

7
5
1

7
5
1

0

In
c
o
m

e
-7

5
1

-7
5
1

-7
5
1

0

  
E

4
5
  
M

il
e
 E

n
d

 P
a
rk

0
0

0
0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
,3

4
0

1
,3

4
0

1
,3

4
0

0

In
c
o
m

e
-4

0
1

-4
0
1

-4
0
1

0

  
E

5
1
  
H

e
a
d

 o
f 

C
ri

m
e
 R

e
d

u
c
ti

o
n

9
3
9

9
3
9

9
3
9

0

Page 103



C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

 B
U

D
G

E
T

 M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

 2
0
0
8
/0

9
 (

1
S

T
 Q

U
A

R
T

E
R

)

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

 P
R

O
J
E

C
T

E
D

 O
U

T
T

U
R

N
 B

A
S

E
D

 O
N

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

 A
S

 A
T

 3
0
/0

6
/0

8

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 3

C

O
ri

g
in

a
l

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

L
a
te

s
t

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

F
o

re
c
a
s
t

O
u

tt
u

rn

£
'0

0
0

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

£
'0

0
0

C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
IE

S
, 
L

O
C

A
L

IT
IE

S
 &

 C
U

L
T

U
R

E

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

C
o

m
m

e
n

t/
 R

is
k
 A

re
a
s

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

7
1
1

7
1
1

7
1
1

0

In
c
o
m

e
-3

3
3

-3
3
3

-3
3
3

0

  
E

5
3
  
P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 a
n

d
 P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

3
7
8

3
7
8

3
7
8

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

2
,1

0
8

2
,1

0
9

2
,1

0
9

0

In
c
o
m

e
-3

7
4

-3
7
4

-3
7
4

0

  
E

5
4
  
O

p
e
ra

ti
o

n
s

1
,7

3
4

1
,7

3
5

1
,7

3
5

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

8
0
8

8
0
8

8
0
8

0

In
c
o
m

e
-6

2
7

-6
2
7

-6
2
7

0

  
E

5
5
  
P

o
li
c
y
 &

 V
ic

ti
m

s
1
8
1

1
8
1

1
8
1

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
,9

3
8

1
,9

3
8

1
,9

3
8

0

In
c
o
m

e
-2

,2
8
2

-2
,2

8
2

-2
,2

8
2

0

  
E

5
6
  
D

ru
g

s
 A

c
ti

o
n

 T
e
a
m

-3
4
4

-3
4
4

-3
4
4

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

6
2
0

7
3
2

7
3
2

0

In
c
o
m

e
-3

0
7

-4
1
9

-4
1
9

0

  
E

6
1
  
P

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti

o
n

 &
 E

n
g

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
3
1
3

3
1
3

3
1
3

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

0
1
,4

7
2

1
,4

7
2

0

In
c
o
m

e
0

-1
,4

7
2

-1
,4

7
2

0

  
E

6
2
  
W

o
rk

in
g

 N
e
ig

h
b

o
u

rh
o

o
d

s
 F

u
n

d
0

0
0

0

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
, 
L

o
c
a
li
ti

e
s
 &

 C
u

lt
u

re
 T

o
ta

l
7
1
,0

1
9

7
1
,2

8
1

7
1
,5

4
6

2
6
5

Page 104



C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

 B
U

D
G

E
T

 M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

 2
0

0
8

/0
9

 (
1

S
T

 Q
U

A
R

T
E

R
)

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

 P
R

O
J

E
C

T
E

D
 O

U
T

T
U

R
N

 B
A

S
E

D
 O

N
 E

X
P

E
N

D
IT

U
R

E
 A

S
 A

T
 3

0
/0

6
/0

8

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 3

D

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

O
ri

g
in

a
l

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

L
a

te
s

t

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

F
o

re
c

a
s

t

O
u

tt
u

rn

£
'0

0
0

V
a

ri
a

n
c

e

£
'0

0
0

E
x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re
2

,9
9

0
3

,2
8

0
3

,2
8

0
0

In
c
o

m
e

-9
0

7
-1

,0
4

3
-1

,0
4

3
0

  
J

0
4

  
M

a
jo

r 
P

ro
je

c
t 

&
 D

e
v

e
lo

p
m

e
n

t
2

,0
8

3
2

,2
3

7
2

,2
3

7
0

E
x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re
2

,8
6

1
2

,8
6

1
2

,8
6

1

0

In
c
o

m
e

-2
,9

7
5

-2
,9

7
5

-2
,6

5
0

3
2

5

  
J

0
6

  
D

e
v

e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
D

e
c

is
io

n
s

-1
1

4
-1

1
4

2
1

1
3

2
5

E
x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re
3

,2
0

3
4

,4
0

3
4

,4
0

3
0

In
c
o

m
e

-1
,6

1
1

-2
,8

1
1

-2
,8

1
1

0

  
J

0
8

  
E

x
te

rn
a

l 
P

ro
je

c
t 

F
u

n
d

in
g

1
,5

9
2

1
,5

9
2

1
,5

9
2

0

E
x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re
6

8
0

6
8

0
6

8
0

0

In
c
o

m
e

0

  
J

1
0

  
M

a
tc

h
 F

u
n

d
in

g
6

8
0

6
8

0
6

8
0

0

E
x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re
1

,8
3

3
1

,8
3

3
1

,8
3

3
0

In
c
o

m
e

-3
7

8
-3

7
8

-3
7

8
0

  
J

1
2

  
R

e
s

o
u

rc
e

s
1

,4
5

5
1

,4
5

5
1

,4
5

5
0

E
x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re
3

,0
1

9
3

,1
7

3
3

,1
7

3
0

In
c
o

m
e

-1
5

1
-3

0
5

-3
0

5
0

  
J

1
4

  
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
&

 S
u

p
p

o
rt

 S
e

rv
ic

e
s

2
,8

6
8

2
,8

6
8

2
,8

6
8

0

E
x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re
2

,6
0

7
2

,6
0

7
2

,7
0

2
9

5

In
c
o

m
e

-1
,1

9
1

-1
,1

9
1

-1
,1

9
1

0

  
J

1
6

 A
s

s
e

t 
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
1

,4
1

6
1

,4
1

6
1

,5
1

1
9

5

E
x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re
6

1
0

8
4

3
8

4
3

0

In
c
o

m
e

-2
3

3
-2

3
3

0

  
J

1
8

  
O

ly
m

p
ic

s
6

1
0

6
1

0
6

1
0

0

T
h

e
 D

ir
e

c
to

ra
te

 b
u

d
g

e
t 

in
c
lu

d
e

s
 a

 h
ig

h
 l
e

v
e

l 
o

f 
in

c
o

m
e

 f
ro

m
 

d
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

fe
e

s
 a

n
d

 l
a

n
d

 c
h

a
rg

e
s
. 

B
o

th
 o

f 
th

e
s
e

 a
re

 f
o

re
c
a

s
t 

to
 

b
e

 s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n

tl
y
 r

e
d

u
c
e

d
 a

s
 a

 d
ir
e

c
t 

c
o

n
s
e

q
u

e
n

c
e

 o
f 

b
o

th
 t

h
e

 

c
u

rr
e

n
t 

e
c
o

n
o

m
ic

 c
lim

a
te

 (
'c

re
d

it
 c

ru
n

c
h

')
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
 i
n

tr
o

d
u

c
ti
o

n
 o

f 

H
o

m
e

 I
m

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
t 

P
a

c
k
s
 (

H
IP

S
) 

w
h

ic
h

 h
a

v
e

 l
e

d
 t

o
 a

 s
u

d
d

e
n

 

d
o

w
n

tu
rn

 i
n

 a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
. 

O
ff

ic
e

rs
 a

re
 c

u
rr

e
n

tl
y
 a

s
s
e

s
s
in

g
 a

lt
e

rn
a

ti
v
e

 

m
e

a
n

s
 o

f 
m

in
im

is
in

g
 t

h
e

 i
m

p
a

c
t.

D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 &

 R
E

N
E

W
A

L
C

o
m

m
e

n
t/

 R
is

k
 A

re
a

s

Page 105



C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

 B
U

D
G

E
T

 M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

 2
0

0
8

/0
9

 (
1

S
T

 Q
U

A
R

T
E

R
)

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

 P
R

O
J

E
C

T
E

D
 O

U
T

T
U

R
N

 B
A

S
E

D
 O

N
 E

X
P

E
N

D
IT

U
R

E
 A

S
 A

T
 3

0
/0

6
/0

8

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 3

D

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

O
ri

g
in

a
l

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

L
a

te
s

t

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

F
o

re
c

a
s

t

O
u

tt
u

rn

£
'0

0
0

V
a

ri
a

n
c

e

£
'0

0
0

D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 &

 R
E

N
E

W
A

L
C

o
m

m
e

n
t/

 R
is

k
 A

re
a

s

E
x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re
5

,9
1

1
7

,6
2

9
7

,6
2

9
0

In
c
o

m
e

-1
,8

7
0

-3
,5

8
8

-3
,5

8
8

0

  
J

2
0

  
R

e
g

e
n

e
ra

ti
o

n
 s

tr
a

te
g

y
 s

u
s

ta
in

a
b

il
it

y
4

,0
4

1
4

,0
4

1
4

,0
4

1
0

E
x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re
1

8
4

,7
4

9
1

8
4

,7
4

9
1

8
4

,7
4

9
0

In
c
o

m
e

-1
8

4
,0

0
9

-1
8

4
,0

0
9

-1
8

4
,0

0
9

0

  
L

0
8

  
H

o
u

s
in

g
 B

e
n

e
fi

ts
7

4
0

7
4

0
7

4
0

0

E
x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re
5

,5
9

8
5

,5
9

9
5

,5
9

9
0

In
c
o

m
e

-6
,0

1
2

-6
,0

1
2

-6
,0

1
2

0

  
L

1
0

  
H

o
u

s
in

g
 B

e
n

e
fi

t 
A

d
m

in
is

tr
a

ti
o

n
-4

1
4

-4
1

3
-4

1
3

0

 D
E

V
  

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

&
 R

e
n

e
w

a
l

1
4

,9
5

8
1

5
,1

1
2

1
5

,5
3

2
4

2
0

Page 106



C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

 B
U

D
G

E
T

 M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

 2
0

0
8

/0
9

 (
1

S
T

 Q
U

A
R

T
E

R
)

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

 P
R

O
J

E
C

T
E

D
 O

U
T

T
U

R
N

 B
A

S
E

D
 O

N
 E

X
P

E
N

D
IT

U
R

E
 A

S
 A

T
 3

0
/0

6
/0

8

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 3

E

O
ri

g
in

a
l

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

L
a

te
s

t

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

F
o

re
c

a
s

t

O
u

tt
u

rn

£
'0

0
0

V
a

ri
a

n
c

e

£
'0

0
0

E
x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re
9

1
1

9
1

1
9

1
1

0

In
c
o

m
e

0

C
0

4
 L

o
c

a
l 

T
ra

in
in

g
 &

 E
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n

t 
9

1
1

9
1

1
9

1
1

0

E
x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re
2

,7
8

3
2

,9
1

3
2

,9
1

3
0

In
c
o

m
e

-2
,7

8
3

-2
,9

1
3

-2
,9

1
3

0

C
1

4
 C

o
m

m
u

n
ic

a
ti

o
n

s
 

0
0

0
0

E
x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re
6

2
0

6
1

9
6

1
9

0

In
c
o

m
e

0

C
1

6
 S

tr
a

te
g

y
 &

 P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
6

2
0

6
1

9
6

1
9

0

E
x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re
3

,5
7

4
3

,8
6

4
3

,8
6

4
0

In
c
o

m
e

-3
,5

7
4

-3
,5

7
5

-3
,5

7
5

0

C
5

2
 L

e
g

a
l 

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

 
0

2
8

9
2

8
9

0

E
x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re
1

,4
5

0
1

,4
5

0
1

,4
5

0
0

In
c
o

m
e

-1
3

9
-1

3
9

-1
3

9
0

C
5

4
 S

c
ru

ti
n

y
 &

 E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 
1

,3
1

1
1

,3
1

1
1

,3
1

1
0

E
x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re
7

0
2

7
0

1
7

0
1

0

In
c
o

m
e

-3
3

7
-3

3
7

-3
3

7
0

C
5

6
 R

e
g

is
ta

ti
o

n
 o

f 
B

ir
th

s
, 

D
e

a
th

s
 

3
6

5
3

6
4

3
6

4
0

E
x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re
4

9
2

6
3

8
6

3
8

0

In
c
o

m
e

0

C
5

8
 E

le
c

to
ra

l 
R

e
g

is
ta

ti
o

n
 

4
9

2
6

3
8

6
3

8
0

E
x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re
3

0
3

0
3

0
0

In
c
o

m
e

0
0

0
0

C
6

0
 B

o
ro

u
g

h
 E

le
c

ti
o

n
s

 
3

0
3

0
3

0
0

E
x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re
2

,8
1

7
2

,8
1

6
2

,8
1

6
0

In
c
o

m
e

-3
8

7
-3

8
7

-3
8

7
0

C
6

2
 D

e
m

o
c

ra
ti

c
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 

2
,4

3
0

2
,4

2
9

2
,4

2
9

0

C
H

IE
F

 E
X

E
C

U
T

IV
E

'S

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

C
o

m
m

e
n

t/
R

is
k

 A
re

a

Page 107



C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

 B
U

D
G

E
T

 M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

 2
0

0
8

/0
9

 (
1

S
T

 Q
U

A
R

T
E

R
)

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

 P
R

O
J

E
C

T
E

D
 O

U
T

T
U

R
N

 B
A

S
E

D
 O

N
 E

X
P

E
N

D
IT

U
R

E
 A

S
 A

T
 3

0
/0

6
/0

8

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 3

E

O
ri

g
in

a
l

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

L
a

te
s

t

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

F
o

re
c

a
s

t

O
u

tt
u

rn

£
'0

0
0

V
a

ri
a

n
c

e

£
'0

0
0

C
H

IE
F

 E
X

E
C

U
T

IV
E

'S

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

C
o

m
m

e
n

t/
R

is
k

 A
re

a

E
x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re
8

1
2

8
1

2
8

1
2

0

In
c
o

m
e

0
0

0
0

C
7

8
 D

e
m

o
c

ra
ti

c
 R

e
p

re
s

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

8
1

2
8

1
2

8
1

2
0

E
x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re
4

,2
5

9
4

,6
6

2
4

,6
6

2
0

In
c
o

m
e

-1
6

0
-1

6
0

-1
6

0
0

C
8

0
 C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
4

,0
9

9
4

,5
0

2
4

,5
0

2
0

C
h

ie
f 

E
x

e
c

u
ti

v
e

's
1

1
,0

7
0

1
1

,9
0

6
1

1
,9

0
6

0

Page 108



C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

 B
U

D
G

E
T

 M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

 2
0
0
8

/0
9
 (

1
S

T
 Q

U
A

R
T

E
R

)

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

 P
R

O
J
E

C
T

E
D

 O
U

T
T

U
R

N
 B

A
S

E
D

 O
N

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

 A
S

 A
T

 3
0

/0
6

/0
8

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 3

F

O
ri

g
in

a
l

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

L
a
te

s
t

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

F
o

re
c
a
s

t

O
u

tt
u

rn

£
'0

0
0

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

£
'0

0
0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

2
,2

1
5

2
,2

1
6

2
,2

6
7

5
1

In
c
o
m

e
-2

,2
1
5

-2
,2

1
5

-2
,2

1
5

0

R
3
2
 F

in
a
n

c
ia

l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 A

c
c
o

u
n

ta
n

c
y
 

0
1

5
2

5
1

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

9
0
5

9
0

5
9
0

5
0

In
c
o
m

e
-9

0
5

-9
0

5
-9

0
5

0

R
3
4
 I

n
te

rn
a
l 
A

u
d

it
 

0
0

0
0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

3
4
,5

8
9

3
4
,5

8
9

3
4
,5

8
9

0

In
c
o
m

e
-3

0
,5

7
2

-3
0
,5

7
2

-3
0
,5

7
2

0

R
3
6
 E

x
c
h

e
q

u
e

r 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

 
4
,0

1
7

4
,0

1
7

4
,0

1
7

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

8
8
4

8
8

4
8
8

4
0

In
c
o
m

e
-7

3
2

-7
3

4
-7

3
4

0

R
3
8
 P

ro
c
u

re
m

e
n

t 
1
5
2

1
5

0
1
5

0
0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

4
8
0

4
8

0
4
8

0
0

In
c
o
m

e
-4

8
0

-4
8

0
-4

8
0

0

R
4
0
 E

x
c
h

e
q

u
e

r 
In

s
u

ra
n

c
e
 

0
0

0
0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
,1

6
0

1
,1

6
0

1
,1

6
0

0

In
c
o
m

e
-1

,1
6
0

-1
,1

6
0

-1
,1

6
0

0

R
4
2
 E

x
c
h

e
q

u
e

r 
D

e
b

to
rs

 I
n

c
o

m
e
 

0
0

0
0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

4
3
5

4
3

4
4
3

4
0

In
c
o
m

e
-4

3
3

-4
3

4
-4

3
4

0

R
4
4
 E

x
c
h

e
q

u
e

r 
C

a
s

h
ie

rs
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 

2
0

0
0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

8
4
8

8
4

8
8
4

8
0

In
c
o
m

e
-8

4
8

-8
4

8
-8

4
8

0

R
4
6
 P

a
y
m

e
n

ts
 

0
0

0
0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

9
,4

7
3

9
,4

7
3

9
,5

6
8

9
5

In
c
o
m

e
-9

,4
7
3

-9
,4

7
3

-9
,4

7
3

0

R
4
8
 I

n
fo

rm
a
ti

o
n

 S
e
rv

ic
e
s

 
0

0
9

5
9
5

R
E

S
O

U
R

C
E

S

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

C
o

m
m

e
n

t/
R

is
k

 A
re

a

Page 109



C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

 B
U

D
G

E
T

 M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

 2
0
0
8

/0
9
 (

1
S

T
 Q

U
A

R
T

E
R

)

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

 P
R

O
J
E

C
T

E
D

 O
U

T
T

U
R

N
 B

A
S

E
D

 O
N

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

 A
S

 A
T

 3
0

/0
6

/0
8

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 3

F

O
ri

g
in

a
l

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

L
a
te

s
t

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

F
o

re
c
a
s

t

O
u

tt
u

rn

£
'0

0
0

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

£
'0

0
0

R
E

S
O

U
R

C
E

S

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

C
o

m
m

e
n

t/
R

is
k

 A
re

a

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

8
,3

8
4

8
,3

8
3

8
,3

8
3

0

In
c
o
m

e
-4

,6
3
9

-4
,6

4
0

-4
,6

4
0

0

R
5
0
 C

o
n

ta
c
t 

C
e
n

tr
e

 
3
,7

4
5

3
,7

4
3

3
,7

4
3

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

2
0
,9

1
6

2
0
,9

0
5

2
3
,7

9
5

2
,8

9
0

In
c
o
m

e
-1

9
,4

8
3

-1
9
,4

8
4

-1
9
,4

8
4

0

R
5
2
 A

d
m

in
 B

u
il
d

in
g

s
1
,4

3
3

1
,4

2
1

4
,3

1
1

2
,8

9
0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

4
3
9

4
3

5
4
8

2
4
7

In
c
o
m

e
-4

2
4

-4
3

5
-4

3
5

0

R
5
6
 D

e
p

o
ts

1
5

0
4

7
4
7

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

4
1
7

4
1

7
4
1

7
0

In
c
o
m

e
-4

1
7

-4
1

7
-4

1
7

0

R
6
0
 R

e
p

ro
g

ra
p

h
ic

s
0

0
0

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
,3

8
8

1
,3

8
6

1
,3

8
6

0

In
c
o
m

e
-1

,3
8
6

-1
,3

8
6

-1
,3

8
6

0

R
6
4
 P

a
y
ro

ll
 

2
0

0
0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

7
7
7

7
7

7
7
7

7
0

In
c
o
m

e
-7

7
7

-7
7

7
-7

7
7

0

R
6
6
 P

e
n

s
io

n
s
 

0
0

0
0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

4
6
8

4
6

6
4
6

6
0

In
c
o
m

e
-1

7
1

-1
7

1
-1

7
1

0

R
6
8
 E

m
p

lo
y
m

e
n

t 
T

ra
in

in
g

 S
c
h

e
m

e
s

2
9
7

2
9

5
2
9

5
0

A
s
 r

e
p
o
rt

e
d
 t
o
 C

a
b
in

e
t 
in

 J
u
ly

, 
c
o
s
ts

 o
f 
fa

c
ili

ti
e
s
 a

re
 u

n
d
e
r 

p
re

s
s
u
re

 d
u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c

o
s
ts

 o
f 
m

a
in

ta
in

in
g
 a

n
d
 s

e
c
u
ri
n
g
 a

 

n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
e
m

p
ty

 o
r 

u
n
d
e
ru

s
e
d
 b

u
ild

in
g
s
 a

w
a
it
in

g
 d

is
p
o
s
a
l,
 

th
e
 c

o
s
t 
o
f 
s
e
rv

ic
e
 c

h
a
rg

e
s
 a

t 
th

e
 E

a
s
t 
In

d
ia

 D
o
c
k
 c

o
m

p
le

x
 

a
n
d
 r

is
in

g
 f
u
e
l 
p
ri
c
e
s
. 
 T

h
e
s
e
 c

o
s
ts

 w
ill

 b
e
 m

it
ig

a
te

d
 b

y
 

d
is

p
o
s
in

g
 o

f 
b
u
ild

in
g
s
 a

n
d
 e

n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
b
e
s
t 
u
s
e
 i
s
 m

a
d
e
 

o
f 
th

e
 r

e
m

a
in

in
g
 a

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
.

Page 110



C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

 B
U

D
G

E
T

 M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

 2
0
0
8

/0
9
 (

1
S

T
 Q

U
A

R
T

E
R

)

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

 P
R

O
J
E

C
T

E
D

 O
U

T
T

U
R

N
 B

A
S

E
D

 O
N

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

 A
S

 A
T

 3
0

/0
6

/0
8

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 3

F

O
ri

g
in

a
l

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

L
a
te

s
t

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
'0

0
0

F
o

re
c
a
s

t

O
u

tt
u

rn

£
'0

0
0

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

£
'0

0
0

R
E

S
O

U
R

C
E

S

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

C
o

m
m

e
n

t/
R

is
k

 A
re

a

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

6
0
0

6
0

1
6
0

1
0

In
c
o
m

e
0

0
0

0

R
7
0
 G

ra
d

u
a
te

 T
ra

in
e
e
 S

c
h

e
m

e
6
0
0

6
0

1
6
0

1
0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

2
,7

0
4

2
,7

0
4

2
,7

0
4

0

In
c
o
m

e
-2

,7
0
4

-2
,7

0
4

-2
,7

0
4

0

R
7
2
 H

 R
 O

p
e
ra

ti
o

n
s

 
0

0
0

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
,2

9
2

1
,2

8
7

1
,2

8
7

0

In
c
o
m

e
-1

,2
9
0

-1
,2

9
0

-1
,2

9
0

0

R
7
4
 H

 R
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 

2
-3

-3
0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

3
,1

5
7

3
,1

5
2

3
,1

5
2

0

In
c
o
m

e
-3

,1
5
7

-3
,1

5
7

-3
,1

5
7

0

R
7
6
 T

ra
in

in
g

 &
 D

e
v

e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
0

-5
-5

0

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

9
3
0

9
7

8
9
7

8
0

In
c
o
m

e
0

0
0

0

R
8
2
 N

o
n

-D
is

tr
ib

u
te

d
 C

o
s

ts
9
3
0

9
7

8
9
7

8
0

R
e
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 

1
1
,1

9
8

1
1
,1

9
8

1
4
,2

8
1

3
,0

8
3

Page 111



C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

 B
U

D
G

E
T

 M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

 2
0

0
8

/0
9

 (
1

S
T

 Q
U

A
R

T
E

R
)

F
U

L
L

 Y
E

A
R

 P
R

O
J

E
C

T
E

D
 O

U
T

T
U

R
N

 B
A

S
E

D
 O

N
 E

X
P

E
N

D
IT

U
R

E
 A

S
 A

T
 3

0
/0

6
/0

8

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 3

G

L
a

te
s

t

B
u

d
g

e
t

P
ro

je
c

te
d

O
u

tt
u

rn
V

a
ri

a
n

c
e

L
a

te
s

t

B
u

d
g

e
t

P
ro

je
c

te
d

O
u

tt
u

rn
V

a
ri

a
n

c
e

L
a

te
s

t

B
u

d
g

e
t

P
ro

je
c

te
d

O
u

tt
u

rn
V

a
ri

a
n

c
e

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
/R

is
k

s

£
0

0
0

£
0

0
0

£
0

0
0

£
0

0
0

£
0

0
0

£
0

0
0

£
0

0
0

£
0

0
0

£
0

0
0

E
x

p
e

n
d

it
u

re
/(

In
c

o
m

e
)

3
9

,2
8

4
3

5
,4

1
8

(3
,8

6
6

)
(1

9
,9

0
4

)
(2

0
,7

8
8

)
(8

8
4

)
1

9
,3

8
0

1
4

,6
3

0
(4

,7
5

0
)

C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 C

O
S

T
S

 /
 

C
A

P
IT

A
L

 F
IN

A
N

C
IN

G

E
x

p
e

n
d

it
u

re
In

c
o

m
e

N
e

t 
V

a
ri

a
n

c
e

Page 112



B
U

D
G

E
T

 A
D

J
U

S
T

M
E

N
T

S
 2

0
0
8
/0

9
A

P
P

E
N

D
IX

 4

C
a

b
in

e
t 

2
n

d
 

J
u

ly

T
ra

n
s

fe
rs

 t
o

 

R
e

s
e

rv
e

s

A
lc

o
h

o
l

C
o

m
m

is
s

io
n

in
g

/

D
ru

g
s

T
e

le
c

a
re

B
u

ri
a

ls
L

a
te

s
t 

T
a

rg
e

ts
 

2
0

0
7

/2
0

0
8

£
0

0
0

£
0

0
0

£
0

0
0

£
0

0
0

£
0

0
0

£
0

0
0

S
e

rv
ic

e
 B

u
d

g
e

ts

A
d

u
lt
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
8

5
,9

3
4

(9
9

7
)

(6
0

)
8

4
,8

7
7

C
h

ild
re

n
's

 S
e

rv
ic

e
s

8
0

,3
5

0
(2

4
4

)
8

0
,1

0
6

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
, 

L
o

c
a

lit
ie

s
 &

 C
u

lt
u

re
7

1
,2

8
1

9
9

7
7

2
,2

7
8

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

a
n

d
 R

e
n

e
w

a
l 

1
5

,6
5

4
(5

4
2

)
(3

2
1

)
1

4
,7

9
1

C
h

ie
f 

E
x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

1
1

,9
0

6
3

2
1

1
2

,2
2

7

R
e

s
o

u
rc

e
s

1
1

,1
9

8
6

0
1

1
,2

5
8

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

/C
a

p
it
a

l
1

9
,3

8
0

1
9

,3
8

0

2
9

5
,7

0
3

(7
8

6
)

-
-

-
2

9
4

,9
1

7

P
a

y
m

e
n

ts
 t

o
/f

ro
m

 B
a

la
n

c
e

s

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 C
o

n
ti
n

g
e

n
c
y

1
9

4
1

9
4

L
o

c
a

l 
P

u
b

lic
 S

e
rv

ic
e

 A
g

re
e

m
e

n
t 

R
e

s
e

rv
e

(6
1

0
)

(6
1

0
)

P
a

rk
in

g
 C

o
n

tr
o

l 
R

e
s
e

rv
e

(2
,6

8
5

)
(2

,6
8

5
)

H
o

u
s
in

g
 C

h
o

ic
e

 E
a

rm
a

rk
e

d
 R

e
s
e

rv
e

1
,9

7
8

1
,9

7
8

E
-G

o
v
t 

L
o

a
n

 R
e

p
a

y
m

e
n

t
6

8
9

6
8

9

A
s
s
e

t 
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
R

e
s
e

rv
e

5
0

0
5

0
0

In
s
u

ra
n

c
e

 F
u

n
d

 E
a

rm
a

rk
e

d
 R

e
s
e

rv
e

5
0

0
5

0
0

U
n

d
e

rs
p

e
n

d
s
 C

/f
w

d
 (

D
ra

w
n

 f
ro

m
 B

a
la

n
c
e

s
)

(7
7

1
)

7
8

6
1

5

G
e

n
e

ra
l 
B

a
la

n
c
e

s
-

-

T
O

T
A

L
 N

E
T

 B
U

D
G

E
T

2
9

5
,4

9
8

-
-

-
-

2
9

5
,4

9
8

Page 113



Page 114

This page is intentionally left blank



  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
SA

VI
NG

S 
TA

RG
ET

S 
20

08
/0

9 
 

 
 

 
AP

PE
ND

IX
 5

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
   

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Bu
dg

et 
 

20
07

/08
 

20
08

/20
09

 
20

09
/20

10
 

20
10

/20
11

 
Re

f 
De

sc
rip

tio
n 

Se
rvi

ce
 A

rea
 

£0
00

 
£0

00
 

£0
00

 
£0

00
 

AD
UL

TS
' H

EA
LT

H 
& 

W
EL

LB
EI

NG
 

  
  

  
  

  
SA
V/C
OR
/01
 

Ho
riz
on
tal
 Sa
vin
gs
 

All
 

- 
73
 

73
 

73
 

SA
V/A
HW
B/0
1 

Eff
icie
nc
ies
 in
 M
an
ag
em
en
t &
 M
on
ito
rin
g o
f 

Ho
me
 ca
re 

Ho
me
 C
are
 

14
,49
0 

20
5 

37
6 

37
6 

SA
V/A
HW
B/0
2 

Im
pro
ve
d e
ffic
ien
cy
 of
 pr
oc
ure
me
nt 
of 
Su
pp
lie
s &
 

Se
rvi
ce
s 

All
 

2,3
25
 

15
0 

30
0 

45
0 

SA
V/A
HW
B/0
3 

De
let
ion
 of
 Va
ca
nt 
Po
sts
 

Ho
me
les
s &
 H
ou
sin
g 

Ad
vic
e S
erv
ice
 

3,4
76
 

15
0 

15
0 

15
0 

SA
V/A
HW
B/0
4 

Re
str
uc
tur
ing
 of
 H
os
pit
al 
So
cia
l W
ork
 Se
rvi
ce
s 

Dis
ab
iliti
es
 & 
He
alt
h 

1,5
72
 

38
6 

51
5 

51
5 

SA
V/A
HW
B/0
5 

Bu
sin
es
s P
roc
es
s R
ee
ng
ine
eri
ng
 

All
 

23
84
4 

60
0 

1,1
86
 

1,1
52
 

SA
V/A
HW
B/0
6 

Eff
icie
nc
y S
av
ing
s -
 C
om
mi
ss
ion
ing
 of
 Se
rvi
ce
s 

for
 O
lde
r P
eo
ple
 

Co
mm
iss
ion
ing
 

18
,80
0  

21
0 

21
0 

21
0 

SA
V/A
HW
B/0
7 

Eff
icie
nc
y S
av
ing
s –
 Th
ird
 Pa
rty
 Pr
ov
ide
rs 

Co
mm
iss
ion
ing
 

21
,03
6 

15
0 

15
0 

15
0 

To
tal

 Sa
vin

gs
 - A

du
lts

' H
ea
lth

 &
 W

ell
be

ing
 

  
1,9

24
 

2,9
60

 
3,0

76
 

Page 115



  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
SA

VI
NG

S 
TA

RG
ET

S 
20

08
/0

9 
 

 
 

 
AP

PE
ND

IX
 5

 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

   

Bu
dg

et 
 

20
07

/08
 

20
08

/20
09

 
20

09
/20

10
 

20
10

/20
11

 
Re

f 
De

sc
rip

tio
n 

Se
rvi

ce
 A

rea
 

£0
00

 
£0

00
 

£0
00

 
£0

00
 

CH
ILD

RE
N'

S 
SE

RV
IC

ES
 

  
  

  
  

  
SA
V/C
OR
/01
 

Ho
riz
on
tal
 Sa
vin
gs
 

All
 

9,5
97

 
60

6 
60

6 
60

6 
SA
V/C
S/0
1 

Se
rvi
ce
 R
ev
iew
s 

Ch
ild
ren
's 
So
cia
l C
are
 

35
4 

35
4 

35
4 

35
4 

SA
V/C
S/0
2 

Str
ea
ml
ini
ng
 Su
pp
ort
 fo
r F
am
ilie
s i
n n
ee
d 

  
21
0 

10
8 

15
4 

21
0 

SA
V/C
S/0
3 

Ch
ild
ren
’s 
So
cia
l C
are
 C
om
mi
ss
ion
ing
 

Ch
ild
ren
's 
So
cia
l C
are
 

2,5
75
 

16
5 

31
5 

41
5 

SA
V/C
S/0
4 

Or
ga
nis
ati
on
al 
Re
str
uc
tur
e Y
PL
 

Yo
un
g P
eo
ple
 an
d 

Le
arn
ing
 

1,0
01
 

50
 

90
 

13
0 

SA
V/C
S/0
5 

Inv
es
t to
 Sa
ve
 - A
tte
nd
an
ce
 W
elf
are
 Se
rvi
ce
 

Ea
rly
 Ye
ars
, C
hil
dre
n &
 

Le
arn
ing
 

1,2
73
 

25
 

10
4 

18
2 

SA
V/C
S/0
6 

No
n-S
tat
uto
ry 
Su
pp
ort
 to
 Sc
ho
ols
 

Ea
rly
 Ye
ars
, C
hil
dre
n &
 

Le
arn
ing
 

1,7
93
 

90
 

11
5 

14
0 

SA
V/C
S/0
7 

Ho
me
 to
 Sc
ho
ol 
Tra
ve
l 

Re
so
urc
es
 

3,4
00
 

50
 

50
 

50
 

SA
V/C
S/0
8 

Ve
nd
or 
Ma
na
ge
d S
erv
ice
 

All
 

  
40
 

70
 

10
0 

SA
V/C
S/0
9 

Int
eg
rat
ion
 of
 C
hil
dre
n's
 Se
rvi
ce
s 

All
 

- 
23
7 

69
3 

69
3 

SA
V/C
S/1
0 

Yo
un
g P
eo
ple
 O
uts
ide
 Sc
ho
ol 

Yo
uth
 & 
Co
mm
un
ity
 

Le
arn
ing
 

  
10
0 

14
0 

18
0 

SA
V/C
S/1
1 

Lif
elo
ng
 Le
arn
ing
 

Yo
uth
 & 
Co
mm
un
ity
 

Le
arn
ing
 

  
30
 

90
 

90
 

To
tal

 Sa
vin

gs
 - C

hil
dr
en

's 
Se

rvi
ce

s 
  

1,8
55

 
2,7

81
 

3,1
50

 

Page 116



  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
SA

VI
NG

S 
TA

RG
ET

S 
20

08
/0

9 
 

 
 

 
AP

PE
ND

IX
 5

 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Bu
dg

et 
 

20
07

/08
 

20
08

/20
09

 
20

09
/20

10
 

20
10

/20
11

 
Re

f 
De

sc
rip

tio
n 

Se
rvi

ce
 A

rea
 

£0
00

 
£0

00
 

£0
00

 
£0

00
 

D 
& 

R/
D 

& 
R 

HO
US

IN
G 

GF
 

  
  

  
  

  
SA
V/C
OR
/01
 

Ho
riz
on
tal
 Sa
vin
gs
 - D
 & 
R 

All
 

- 
25
 

30
 

35
 

SA
V/D
R/
01
 

Im
pro
ve
d b
us
ine
ss
 Pr
oc
es
se
s 

Re
so
urc
es
 

90
1 

35
 

35
 

35
 

SA
V/D
R/
02
 

Ut
ilis
ati
on
 of
 IT
 to
 pr
od
uc
e P
lan
nin
g C
on
su
lta
tio
n 

Do
cu
me
nts
 

Str
ate
gy
 & 
Inn
ov
ati
on
 

41
0 

30
 

40
 

40
 

SA
V/D
R/
03
 

Pr
oc
ure
me
nt 
of 
ag
en
cy
 st
aff
 th
rou
gh
 ve
nd
or 

ma
na
ge
me
nt 

All
 

28
0 

35
 

35
 

35
 

SA
V/D
R/
04
 

Co
rpo
rat
e M
atc
h f
un
din
g 

Re
so
urc
es
 - E
xte
rna
l 

Fu
nd
ing
 

78
0 

10
0 

12
0 

14
0 

SA
V/D
R/
05
 

Dig
itis
ati
on
 Pr
oje
ct 

De
ve
lop
me
nt 
De
cis
ion
s 

(39
9) 

20
 

80
 

20
0 

To
tal
 Sa

vin
gs
 - D

ev
elo

pm
en
t &

 R
en
ew

al 
  

1,9
72
 

24
5 

34
0 

48
5 

SA
V/D
R/
06
 

Im
pro
ve
d E
ffic
ien
cy
 in
 th
e a
dm
ini
str
ati
on
 of
 

be
ne
fits
 

Be
ne
fits
 Ad
mi
nis
tra
tio
n 

1,1
45
 

29
 

13
9 

23
9 

SA
V/D
R/
07
 

Pr
oc
ure
me
nt 
of 
ag
en
cy
 st
aff
 th
rou
gh
 ve
nd
or 

ma
na
ge
me
nt 

Ho
us
ing
 St
rat
eg
y a
nd
 

Be
ne
fits
 

- 
19
 

19
 

19
 

SA
V/C
OR
/01
 

Ho
riz
on
tal
 Sa
vin
gs
 - H
ou
sin
g G
en
era
l fu
nd
 

All
 

- 
28
 

35
 

42
 

To
tal
 Sa

vin
gs
 - H

ou
sin

g G
en
era

l F
un
d 

  
1,1

45
 

76
 

19
3 

30
0 

To
tal

 Sa
vin

gs
 - D

ev
elo

pm
en

t &
 R
en

ew
al 
& 
Ho

us
ing

 G
F 

  
  

32
1 

53
3 

78
5 

Page 117



  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
SA

VI
NG

S 
TA

RG
ET

S 
20

08
/0

9 
 

 
 

 
AP

PE
ND

IX
 5

 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

Bu
dg

et 
 

20
07

/08
 

20
08

/20
09

 
20

09
/20

10
 

20
10

/20
11

 
Re

f 
De

sc
rip

tio
n 

Se
rvi

ce
 A

rea
 

£0
00

 
£0

00
 

£0
00

 
£0

00
 

CO
MM

UN
ITI

ES
, L

OC
AL

ITI
ES

 &
 C

UL
TU

RE
 

  
  

  
  

  
SA
V/C
OR
/01
 

Ho
riz
on
tal
 Sa
vin
gs
 

All
 

- 
16
3 

16
3 

16
3 

SA
V/C
LC
/01
 

Ide
a S
tor
es
 in
co
me
 in
itia
tiv
e 

Ide
as
 St
ore
s 

10
1 

20
 

10
0 

10
0 

SA
V/C
LC
/02
 

Tre
e P
lan
tin
g P
roj
ec
ts 

Cu
ltu
ral
 Se
rvi
ce
s -
 Pa
rks
 

50
 

30
 

30
 

30
 

SA
V/C
LC
/03
 

Ide
as
 St
ore
 - P
roc
ure
me
nt 

Ide
as
 St
ore
s 

60
5 

50
 

15
0 

15
0 

SA
V/C
LC
/04
 

Re
du
ce
 St
ree
t L
igh
t M
ain
ten
an
ce
 

Str
ee
t M
an
ag
em
en
t 

42
9 

35
 

70
 

10
0 

SA
V/C
LC
/05
 

Tra
ffic
 En
ha
nc
em
en
ts 
- re
du
ce
 pr
ov
isio
n 

Tra
ns
po
rta
tio
n &
 

Hig
hw
ay
s 

37
7 

10
0 

22
7 

22
7 

SA
V/C
LC
/06
 

Clo
se
 N
on
-A
uto
ma
tic
 To
ile
ts 

Str
ee
t M
an
ag
em
en
t 

14
0 

50
 

50
 

50
 

SA
V/C
LC
/07
 

Re
du
cti
on
 in
 H
igh
wa
ys
 In
su
ran
ce
 Pr
em
ium
s 

Tra
ns
po
rta
tio
n &
 

Hig
hw
ay
s 

1,0
48
 

35
0 

35
0 

35
0 

SA
V/C
LC
/08
 

Re
du
ce
 D
ire
cto
rat
e T
rai
nin
g P
rov
isio
n 

Ma
na
ge
me
nt 
& S
up
po
rt 

60
 

30
 

30
 

30
 

SA
V/C
LC
/09
 

Hig
hw
ay
s M
ain
ten
an
ce
 - R
ed
uc
e R
ea
cti
ve
 

Ma
int
en
an
ce
 

Tra
ns
po
rta
tio
n &
 

Hig
hw
ay
s 

1,6
31
 

71
 

11
6 

11
6 

SA
V/C
LC
/10
 

Clo
su
re 
of 
Pa
rki
ng
 sh
op
 

Pa
rki
ng
 Se
rvi
ce
s 

66
6 

17
5 

35
0 

35
0 

To
tal

 Sa
vin

gs
 - C

om
mu

nit
ies

, L
oc

ali
tie

s &
 C
ult

ur
e 

  
1,0

74
 

1,6
36
 

1,6
66
 

Page 118



  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
SA

VI
NG

S 
TA

RG
ET

S 
20

08
/0

9 
 

 
 

 
AP

PE
ND

IX
 5

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Bu
dg

et 
 

20
07

/08
 

20
08

/20
09

 
20

09
/20

10
 

20
10

/20
11

 
Re

f 
De

sc
rip

tio
n 

Se
rvi

ce
 A

rea
 

£0
00

 
£0

00
 

£0
00

 
£0

00
 

CH
IE

F E
XE

CU
TIV

E'S
  

  
  

  
  

  
SA
V/C
OR
/01
 

Ho
riz
on
tal
 Sa
vin
gs
 

All
 

- 
54
2 

54
2 

54
2 

SA
V/C
E/0
1 

De
bt 
Re
str
uc
tur
ing
  

Co
rpo
rat
e F
ina
nc
e 

1,6
46
 

29
3 

29
3 

29
3 

SA
V/C
E/0
2 

Ch
an
ge
 of
 te
lep
ho
ne
 su
pp
lie
r 

IC
T 

70
 

70
 

70
 

70
 

SA
V/C
E/0
3 

Ra
tio
na
lisa
tio
n o
f H
ard
wa
re 
& M

ain
ten
an
ce
 

Co
sts
 

IC
T 

10
2 

10
2 

10
2 

10
2 

SA
V/C
E/0
4 

 In
su
ran
ce
 pr
em
ium
s 

Ins
ura
nc
e 

38
4 

12
0 

12
0 

12
0 

SA
V/C
E/0
5 

Pr
oc
ure
me
nt 
of 
ag
en
cy
 st
aff
  th
rou
gh
 ve
nd
or 

ma
na
ge
me
nt 
 

Re
so
urc
es
 

1,0
00
 

20
 

40
 

60
 

SA
V/C
E/0
6 

Re
du
cti
on
 in
 C
om
mu
nic
ati
on
s E
xp
en
dit
ure
 

Co
mm
un
ica
tio
ns
 

29
3 

25
 

94
 

17
5 

To
tal

 Sa
vin

gs
 - C

hie
f E

xe
cu

tiv
e's

 
  

  
1,1

72
 

1,2
61
 

1,3
62
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
To

tal
 Sa

vin
gs

 - A
ll D

ire
cto

rat
es
 

  
  

6,3
46
 

9,1
71
 

10
,03

9 
  A

DD
: S

av
ing

s i
n l

ate
r y

ea
rs 

(se
e A

pp
en

dix
 D
3) 

  
- 

- 
1,1

45
 

2,9
71
 

GR
AN

D 
SA

VIN
GS

 TO
TA

L 
  

  
6,3

46
 

10
,31

6 
13
,01

0 

Page 119



  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
SA

VI
NG

S 
TA

RG
ET

S 
20

08
/0

9 
 

 
 

 
AP

PE
ND

IX
 5

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Bu
dg

et 
 

20
07

/08
 

20
08

/20
09

 
20

09
/20

10
 

20
10

/20
11

 
Re

f 
De

sc
rip

tio
n 

Se
rvi

ce
 A

rea
 

£0
00

 
£0

00
 

£0
00

 
£0

00
 

CH
ILD

RE
N'

S 
SE

RV
IC

ES
 

  
  

  
  

  
SA
V/C
S/1
2 

Re
vie
w 
of 
no
n &
 st
atu
tor
y p
rov
isio
n 

Ch
ild
ren
's 
So
cia
l C
are
 

  
- 

25
0 

50
0 

SA
V/C
S/1
3 

Ea
rly
 Ye
ars
 Ad
vis
ory
 Te
am
 

Ea
rly
 Ye
ars
, C
hil
dre
n &
 

Le
arn
ing
 

  
- 

50
 

10
0 

SA
V/C
S/1
4 

Str
ea
ml
ini
ng
 of
 Ex
ten
de
d P
rov
isio
ns
 

Ea
rly
 Ye
ars
, C
hil
dre
n &
 

Le
arn
ing
 

  
- 

30
 

10
0 

SA
V/C
S/1
5 

Re
str
uc
tur
e o
f Q
ua
lity
 an
d A
ud
it T
ea
m 
 

Str
ate
gy
, P
art
ne
rsh
ips
 & 

Pe
rfo
rm
an
ce
 

24
0  

- 
24
 

48
 

SA
V/C
S/1
6 

EY
CL

 E
ffic

ien
cie

s 
Ea
rly
 Ye
ars
, C
hil
dre
n &
 

Le
arn
ing
 

9,5
97
 

- 
19
1 

38
8 

To
tal

 Sa
vin

gs
 - C

hil
dr
en

's 
Se

rvi
ce

s 
9,8

37
 

- 
54
5 

1,1
36

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

CO
MM

UN
ITI

ES
, L

OC
AL

ITI
ES

 &
 C

UL
TU

RE
 

  
  

  
  

  
SA
V/C
LC
/11
 
Re
pro
vis
ion
 of
 le
isu
re 
fac
iliti
es
  

Cu
ltu
re 

1,7
13
 

- 
- 

23
0 

SA
V/C
LC
/12
 
Pa
rki
ng
 re
ve
nu
e 

Pa
rki
ng
 Se
rvi
ce
s 

2,6
55
 

- 
- 

33
2 

SA
V/C
LC
/13
 
Ma
na
ge
me
nt 
of 
Ca
r P
ou
nd
 

Pa
rki
ng
 Se
rvi
ce
s 

53
0 

- 
90
 

90
 

SA
V/C
LC
/14
 
As
se
t M
an
ag
em
en
t S
ys
tem
 

Tra
ns
po
rta
tio
n &
 H
igh
wa
ys
 

33
1 

- 
45
 

45
 

SA
V/C
LC
/15
 
Tra
de
 W
as
te 

Str
ee
t M
an
ag
em
en
t 

2,1
43
 

- 
- 

20
0 

To
tal

 Sa
vin

gs
 - C

om
mu

nit
ies

, L
oc

ali
tie

s &
 C
ult

ur
e 

7,3
72
 

- 
13
5 

89
7 

Page 120



  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
SA

VI
NG

S 
TA

RG
ET

S 
20

08
/0

9 
 

 
 

 
AP

PE
ND

IX
 5

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

Bu
dg

et 
 

20
07

/08
 

20
08

/20
09

 
20

09
/20

10
 

20
10

/20
11

 
Re

f 
De

sc
rip

tio
n 

Se
rvi

ce
 A

rea
 

£0
00

 
£0

00
 

£0
00

 
£0

00
 

CH
IE

F E
XE

CU
TIV

E’
S 

  
  

  
  

  
SA
V/C
E/0
7 

Re
gis
tra
tio
n o
f B
D&
M 
& P
en
sio
ns
 co
ntr
ibu
tio
ns
 
De
mo
cra
tic
 Se
rvi
ce
s 

2,6
26
 

- 
40
 

60
 

SA
V/C
E/0
8 

Re
-pr
ov
isio
n o
f C
are
 Al
arm

 Se
rvi
ce
 

Cu
sto
me
r A
cc
es
s 

1,7
81
 

- 
15
0 

15
0 

SA
V/C
E/0
9 

Re
-pr
ov
isio
n o
f O
ut 
of 
Ho
urs
 se
rvi
ce
 

Cu
sto
me
r A
cc
es
s 

1,7
81
 

- 
12
5 

12
5 

SA
V/C
E/1
0 

Ce
ntr
ali
se
d H
R 
Sh
are
d S
erv
ice
s &
 E-

Re
cru
itm
en
t 

HR
 

5,3
56
 

-  
15
0 

15
0 

SA
V/C
E/1
1 

Dir
ec
tor
ate
 W
ide
 C
on
tin
uo
us
 Im
pro
ve
me
nt 

Ini
tia
tiv
es
 

 Al
l 

29
,54
6 

- 
- 

45
3 

To
tal

 Sa
vin

gs
 - C

hie
f E

xe
cu

tiv
e's

 
  

41
,09

0 
- 

46
5 

93
8 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
To

tal
 - A

ll D
ire

cto
rat

es
 

  
58
,29

9 
- 

1,1
45
 

2,9
71
 

  A
DD

: S
av

ing
s T

ota
l fr

om
 la

ter
 ye

ars
 

  
- 

6,3
46
 

9,1
71
 

10
,03

9 
GR

AN
D 
SA

VIN
GS

 TO
TA

L 
  

58
,29

9 
6,3

46
 

10
,31

6 
13
,01

0 

Page 121



Page 122

This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

Committee 
 
Overview and Scrutiny 
 

Date 
 
9th September 
2008 

Classification 
 
Unrestricted 
 

Report 
No. 
 
 

Agenda Item 
No. 
 
 

 
Report of:  
 
Assistant Chief Executive  
 
Originating Officer(s):  
 
Afazul Hoque, Acting Scrutiny Policy 
Manager 
 

Title:  
 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 
2008/09 
 
Ward(s) affected: All 
 

 
 
1. Summary 
 
1.1 This report outlines the work programme for the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

(OSC) for municipal year 2008/09 
 
 
2.  Recommendations 
 
2.1 Overview and Scrutiny Committee is asked to consider and comment on the proposed 

work programme. 
 
2.2 Authorise the Head of Scrutiny and Equalities after consultation with the Chair of 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee, to finalise the work programme. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT, 2000 (SECTION 97) 
LIST OF “BACKGROUND PAPERS” USED IN THE PREPARATION OF THIS REPORT 
Background paper 
 
N/A  

Name and telephone number of and address where open to 
inspection 
 
Afazul Hoque 
020 7364 4636 

Agenda Item 10.1

Page 123



 2 

3 Background 
 
3.1 For the last two years, the OSC has agreed and largely delivered on an annual work 

programme.  This has helped: 
 

• Improve the link between scrutiny’s work and the Council’s improvement agenda 
• ensure scrutiny contributed to achieving outcomes that benefit the community 
• improve the co-ordination, management and continuity of work both at OSC and its 

reviews and investigations.  
 

3.2 This strength of scrutiny has been recognised by the Audit Commission in the Council’s 
Corporate Assessment.  The inspectors assessed that the scrutiny function in Tower 
Hamlets  is ‘effective and has made a positive impact on local residents. Scrutiny is 
systematic and well-run and has an impact on performance especially through 
reviews’1.  This judgement validates how scrutiny has grown and flourished locally and 
also should give us a confidence to build and develop upon this in this year’s and future 
years’ work programmes. 

 
3.3 The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 has proposed 

extending the scrutiny powers in a number of ways.  This involves further responsibility 
to scrutinise partner agencies through scrutiny of Local Area Agreements.  The Act also 
enables all councillors to refer matters relating to any function of the authority and 
affecting the Councillor’s ward or constituents to Overview and Scrutiny through the 
‘Councillor Call for Action’. We are currently awaiting guidance from government as to 
how these powers will work before introducing a pilot project to explore the new 
proposed powers.  The Act therefore further legitimises community leaders’ mandate to 
ensure services meet the needs of local residents and continue to improve.  

 
3.4 In the municipal year 2007/08 OSC completed the work programme agreed on 31st July 

2007.  This included the following reviews/ challenge sessions: 
 

Reviews 
• Licensing of Strip Clubs 
• Tobacco Cessation 
• Use of Consultants  
• Young People’s participation in sports leading up to the Olympics  
• Choice Based Lettings Scheme  
• Evaluation of Neighbourhood Renewal Fund (NRF) 
• Tackling Anti-Social Behaviour 
 
Challenge Sessions  
• Determination of Major Planning Applications  
• Evaluation of Safer Neighbourhood Teams (SNTs) 
• Re-visiting Youth Services Scrutiny Review 
• Re-visiting Access to GP / Dentistry Services Scrutiny Review 
• Use of Translation Services  

 
3.2 Building on last year’s proposals to ensure continuity, but also to reflect the new 

members’ input, the Work Programme for 2008/9 is now being updated to include 
issues which have arisen throughout the year and also consider any items remaining 
from the preceding year.  The new draft programme is attached and includes analysis 

                                            
1 LBTH Corporate Assessment Report – July 2008, Audit Commission  

Page 124



 3 

required to develop a coherent programme for the in-depth review aspects of the 
Committee’s work.  Some further work will be undertaken in-year to strengthen this. 

 
3.3 As both an evaluation of last year and preparation for the coming year a members’ 

session was facilitated by the Council’s Learning & Development Team in May.  
Members of OSC and the Health Scrutiny Panel felt generally positive about the work 
of the Committee and reviews undertaken last year.  However they were keen to 
improve public engagement and awareness of the scrutiny process in particular 
through arranging review working group meetings outside the Town Hall.  In addition, 
they wanted to see further engagement and involvement of all Members to ensure that 
scrutiny is truly a Member led process.  Utilising the skills of co-opted Members and 
expert advisors better was also highlighted particularly during in-depth investigations.   
These issues have been addressed in the development of this year’s programme 
including a commitment to hold at least 10 meetings outside the Town Hall, co-opt six 
local residents on to scrutiny working groups and engage more non-executive 
councilors in the scrutiny process.  

 
3.4 The Community Plan refresh and the establishment of the new Scrutiny Lead Portfolios 

also provides further challenges to undertake more strategic and cross cutting work.  
The new portfolios include the five new themes in the Community Plan plus an 
additional Lead for Excellent Public Services focusing on improving public services to 
make sure they represent good value for money and meet local needs.  In addition, this 
Scrutiny Lead portfolio has a champion role to lead the Committee’s work on 
performance monitoring.  

 
4 Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
4.1 A draft 2008/09 “Forward Plan” for OSC is attached at Appendix 1.  This is based on 

the schedule of reports and issues considered by OSC in 2007/08.  Amongst the 
issues the Committee will consider are: 

 
• Regular monitoring reports such as the Tower Hamlets Index 
 Six-monthly Strategic Plan monitoring report; 
• Budget and policy framework items such as the Crime and Disorder Reduction 

Strategy and Revenue Budget preparation 
 
4.2 Call-ins and pre-decision scrutiny are dependent on Cabinet decisions and reports 

and these need to be programmed in when they arise.  OSC also considers the 
reports arising from its investigations and reviews before they are passed through to 
Cabinet and again, these will be added when they arise.  Twice a year the Committee 
will also monitor the recommendations arising from scrutiny reviews through their 
recommendation tracking report.  

 
4.3 Since last year the Committee introduced regular Scrutiny Spotlight sessions for all 

the Cabinet Members which was highlighted as an excellent way of holding the 
Cabinet to account in the evaluation session.  The relevant Cabinet Member and 
directors attended to present the key performance challenges facing the Council, 
focusing on issues arising from the TH Index.  This gave OSC members the 
opportunity to discuss issues with them.  The new Chair of Overview and Scrutiny has 
indicated a desire that these should continue and a Scrutiny Spotlight will be held at 
every meeting.  This would assist in meeting CPA criteria by demonstrating that OSC 
is holding the Executive to account.  

 
 

Page 125



 4 

5 Reviews and Challenge Sessions 
 
5.1 Appendix 2 outlines the investigations, reviews and challenge sessions that Overview 

and Scrutiny could undertake in 2008/09.  As last year, the issues will focus on the 
Council’s improvement agenda and contribute to achieving outcomes that benefit the 
community.  In addition, the review topics would add to the Council’s value for money 
agenda and the community leadership role of non-executive councillors.  The role of 
Scrutiny Leads is also to monitor and suggest areas for improvements in work related 
to their Community Plan theme.  

 
5.2 In drawing up the work programme we have undertaken an analysis of key documents 

to identify potential scrutiny issues.  We have also considered issues raised through 
Scrutiny’s own work in 2007/08.  Discussions have taken place between Scrutiny 
Leads and relevant directorates to explore some of the issues and to seek 
recommendations for additional topics around challenges faced by services and where 
Overview and Scrutiny can add value to existing work.  The outcome of these 
discussions and analysis is reflected in the proposed programme.  

 
5.3 Against each item on the draft Work Plan, objectives and areas for analysis are 

indicated and include: 
 

• Methodology – the approach used for the scrutiny investigation  
• Performance and Improvement - the links to performance improvement issues 

and Value For Money (VFM) 
• Planned Work – work either currently underway or scheduled, which the scrutiny 

review may feed into.   
• OSC Criteria – how the topic and Members’ contribution could improve services 
 

5.4 Scrutiny topics are prioritised against defined criteria to ensure that the work:  
 

• would assist in tackling an area of poor or challenging performance (bottom 
quartile or equivalent) that has priority within the Strategic Plan 

• would assist with sustaining high performance that has priority within the 
Strategic Plan 

• would assist in addressing an area of national policy development that has 
significant implications for the Council and where member input would be 
valuable 

• relates to a planned service inspection and member input would be valuable in 
providing a robustness test before inspection (or submission of self-
assessment)  

• would help address a gap between community perception or concern and 
objective performance by utilising the members’ leadership role 

• would contribute particularly toward improving VFM 
 

5.5 Research into effective scrutiny has highlighted the importance of members’ 
commitment and enthusiasm to undertaking their work.  They need to believe that their 
work will impact positively upon their constituents’ lives and help solve the problems 
presented at their surgeries and other community forums.  The revised draft Work 
Programme attached at Appendix 2 applies the objective criteria outlined above but 
also reflects the members’ consideration of their respective OSC work areas.   

 
5.6 The work will follow one of four different approaches, as follows: 
 

Page 126



 5 

• Scrutiny Challenge Sessions 
These are one-off sessions chaired by Scrutiny Leads which explore issues in 
a question and answer format.  To date these have proved useful for improving 
members’ understanding of new policies or guidelines or as part of the 
preparation for an inspection or report.  There is potential for Challenge 
Sessions to be used to inform policy development and future service 
improvement work more widely.  
 

 
• Mini-reviews 

These examine a topic over perhaps two or three meetings which allow 
members to consider different perspectives in greater depth, for example the 
work on hostels strategy undertaken in 2006/07 included various visits to 
hostels and session with service providers.  

 
• Reviews 

These are more extensive pieces of work spanning several months.  They 
enable more  in-depth research to be undertaken, visits to see practice 
elsewhere, participation of external experts, etc.   

 
• Developing the Scrutiny Lead champion role 

In addition to the more formal settings above, it is important for the Scrutiny 
Leads to develop expertise in championing issues within the work of OSC and 
with fellow frontline councillors.  This would be particularly useful for topics 
where it is more challenging to engage councillors, such as VFM/ efficiency.  
Potentially each Scrutiny Lead would undertake this role within their portfolio.  It 
is probably better decided on a topic base rather than a matter of course. 

 
5.7 It is envisaged that over the next year there will be up to six reviews and two challenge 

sessions with others added throughout the year, subject to resources.  This represents 
a manageable work programme which allows all the OSC portfolio holders to be 
involved as well as ensuring there is joint working.  It is worth stressing that there is 
some flexibility built into the programme.  This ensures capacity if the regular 
monitoring at OSC indicates a need to either remove or add items. 

 
5.8 In all cases, once the issues are agreed, the scope of the work and timing will be 

developed in close consultation with the relevant directorates and services.  This will 
also ensure that the investigations are focused and can deliver on their objectives.  
Once agreed, it will be circulated to CMT and Cabinet for information. A review will be 
undertaken of the work programme at six month stage which will also include issues 
for next year’ s review. This will be drawn from the Committee’s performance 
monitoring role in the first six month as well as the improvement plan arising from the 
Corporate Assessment and Joint Area Review.  

 
5.10 The merging of the scrutiny and equalities function has also provided an opportunity to 

address issues of inequalities more precisely through understanding how Members’ 
community leadership role relates to scrutiny.  All scrutiny reviews will consider the 
equalities and community cohesion implications to contribute to the development of 
One Tower Hamlets.  

 
 
 
 

Page 127



 6 

6 Health Scrutiny Panel 
 
6.1 Following an extensive Induction process this year which included a number of visits to 

all the local health trusts and a meeting at the Town Hall the Health Scrutiny Panel has 
agreed a work programme for 2008/09 and 2009/10.  This builds on the four year work 
programme agreed in 2006/07 with the key theme of reducing health inequalities.  
Following the previous reviews on access to GP / Dentistry Services and Tobacco 
Cessation the Panel has agreed to undertake a review on End of Life Care.  
The work programme also includes service visits, briefings on key issues, consultation 
on reviews or changes to services as well participation in the Annual Health Check 
process which is an assessment of local health trusts by the Healthcare Commission. 
Furthermore the Panel will hold Scrutiny Spotlight Sessions for Health and develop 
thematic meetings to engage all three local trusts in the work of the Panel.  The 
development of the Local Involvement Network also provides further opportunity to 
engage local residents in the work of the Panel.  

 
7 Communication and Profile of Scrutiny  

 
7.1 To maintain good communication about Overview and Scrutiny’s work, it is proposed to 

circulate regular updates on the Work Programme considered by Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee to Corporate Management Team and Cabinet.  This is provisionally 
scheduled for November and April 2008.  The update will cover all aspects of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme including call-ins, performance monitoring and 
Budget and Policy Framework items.  A short summary of the OSC and Health Scrutiny 
Panel meetings will also be placed in the Members Bulletin.   

 
7.2 The Council will be hosting a Conference on Scrutiny of Local Strategic Partnership in 

November 2008. Funded by Capital Ambition this is the last of a series of scrutiny 
related events across London and will give us the opportunity to raise the profile of the 
borough and in particular scrutiny function in Tower Hamlets.  The event will be an 
opportunity to also highlight the excellent partnership arrangements in Tower Hamlets 
and how they are held accountable by local elected members.  

 
7.3 All Scrutiny Reviews will be publicised through East End Life and seek to engage and 

involve local residents in the process.  In addition, scrutiny meetings will be held outside 
the Town Hall where appropriate to improve access for local residents.  

 
7.4 As a number of the reviews cut across the work of the Tower Hamlets Partnership, 

discussions have taken place around presenting the review reports to the relevant 
Community Plan Delivery Groups.  Over the lat year this proved useful when the Living 
Well and Learning Achievement CPAGs were consulted prior to the beginning of the 
reviews on Choice Based Lettings Scheme and Young People’s participation in Sports 
Leading up to the Olympics.   

 
8 Concurrent Report of the Assistant Chief Executive (Legal Services) 
 
8.1 The Local Government Act 2000 places a duty on the Council to deliver a robust and 

effective overview and scrutiny function.  The Committee’s work programme is a 
contributory element towards discharging that responsibility.  There are no other 
immediate legal implications. 

 
 
 
 

Page 128



 7 

9 Comments of the Chief Financial Officer 
 
9.1 This report details the proposed work programme of the Overview & Scrutiny 

Committee.  All costs involved in achieving this work programme will need to be met 
from within existing budgetary provisions. 

 
10 Anti-Poverty Implications 
 
10.1 Reducing poverty is central to the work of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 

this is reflected in the review on child poverty.  
 
11 Equal Opportunity Implications 
 
11.1 Equal opportunities are central to the work of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

and this is reflected in the monitoring the Council's progress in its Diversity and Equality 
Action Plan twice a year.  Furthermore all scrutiny reviews will give specific 
consideration to equalities and community cohesion issues.  

  
12 Risk Management 
 
12.1 There are no direct risk management implications arising from this report.  

Page 129



 8 

  Appendix 1 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2008/09 

Forward Plan 
 
 
10th June 08 • Children and Young People Plan (BPF) 

• Tower Hamlets Community Plan (BPF) 
• Councils Strategic Plan 2006 to 2011 (BPF)  
• Diversity and Equality Action Plan – End of Year Monitoring Report (PM) 
• Terms of reference and Protocol (OSMM) 
• Membership / Appointment of Scrutiny Leads (OSMM) 

1st July 08 • Annual Complaints Report (PM) 
• Scrutiny Spotlight – Lead Member Employment and Skills  

29 July 08 • Financial Outlook (BPF)  
• Tower Hamlets Index (PM) 
• Scrutiny Spotlight – Lead Member Finance and Resources  

9 Sep 08 • Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy (BPF) 
• Tower Hamlets Index (PM) 
• OSC Work Programme (OSMM) 
• Scrutiny Spotlight – Lead Member Cleaner, Safer, Greener 

7 Oct 08 • Members Enquiries (PM) 
• OSC Recommendation Tracking Report Update (OSMM) 
• Scrutiny Spotlight – Lead Member Health and Well being  

4 Nov 08 • Complaints Report - six month report (PM) 
• OSC Work Programme (OSMM) 
• Scrutiny Spotlight – Deputy Leader of the Council  

2 Dec 08 • Strategic Plan and Corporate Revenue Monitoring report 2008-09 (PM) 
• OSC Work Programme – Six Month Review  (OSSM) 
•  Scrutiny Spotlight – Lead Member Regeneration, Localisation and Community 

Partnerships 
13 Jan 09 • Diversity and Equality Action Plan- six month report (PM)  

• OSC Work Programme (OSMM)  
• Scrutiny Spotlight – Lead Member Children’s Services  

10 Feb 09 • Revenue Budget and Capital Programme (BPF) 
• Budget Requirement and Council Tax (BPF) 
• Tower Hamlets Index (PM) 
• Scrutiny Spotlight – Lead Member Culture  

10 Mar 09 • Local Development Framework Core Strategy (BPF) 
• Tower Hamlets Index (PM)  
• OSC Work Programme (OSMM) 
• OSC Recommendation Tracking Report Update (OSMM) 
• Scrutiny Spotlight – Lead Member Development and Housing  

7 Apr 09 • Annual Report (OSMM) 
• Scrutiny Spotlight – Leader of the Council  

5 May 09 • To be confirmed 
 
 
BPF - Budget and Policy Framework  
PM - Performance Management 
OSMM - Overview and Scrutiny Monitoring and Management 
NB 
Call-ins will be added where accepted 
Pre-decision questions are a standing item on the agenda 
The Committee will also consider reports arising from the investigations and reviews conducted by 
the Scrutiny Leads  

Page 130



 9 

Appendix 2 
May 2008 - Apr 2009 
 
One Tower Hamlets (Lead: Cllr Ann Jackson) 
 
Issue Child Poverty  Method Review  

 
Lead officer Natalie Parish  

 
Objective/outcome • Develop a baseline profile of child poverty in Tower 

Hamlets 
• Contribute to the development of future work on reducing 

child poverty including development of strategy.  
• Develop proposals to address particular local needs.  

Performance 
Improvement 

• A number of key targets in Local Area Agreements relate to 
reducing unemployment and benefit claimants which are 
indicators of poverty 

• Specific target in LAA to reduce child poverty 
Other Drivers • Child Poverty Commission report outlined London child 

poverty rates are higher than elsewhere in the country 
• Some of the indicators for poverty highlighted in the report 

illustrates that Tower Hamlets could have highest levels of 
child poverty in London and the country 

Other issues • Requires focus to avoid potentially substantial and wide 
ranging review 

• Can contribute to the application for Beacon Status on 
Child Poverty 

OSC Criteria Meets criteria: 
• would assist in addressing an area of national (regional) 

policy development that has significant implications for 
the Council and where member input would be valuable 

• where there is gap between community perception or 
concern and objective performance and members 
adopting a more community leadership role would assist 
in managing this 

 
 
Issue Community Engagement in the 

Democratic Process  
 

Method Challenge Session/ scrutiny event  

Lead officer Michael Keating / John Williams  
 

Objective/outcome • To raise awareness, understanding and access to the 
democratic process and the role of local councillors.  

• Develop proposals to increase participation in the 
democratic process.  

Performance 
Improvement 

• A key priority in the Strategic Plan to improve democratic 
engagement. 

• Improve customer perception of the Council  
Other Drivers • Members’ suggestion 

 
OSC Criteria Meets criteria: 

• Would assist with sustaining high performance that has 
priority within the Strategic Plan 

Page 131



 10 

Safe and Supportive Community (Lead: Cllr Shiria Khatun) 
 
Issue Alcohol Misuse amongst Young 

People (‘Smashed’) 
 

Method Review  

Lead Officer Andy Bamber / Gilly Cottew 
 

Objective/outcome • Establish a consistent approach to education and 
preventative initiatives  

• Focus on the work carried out by the Council and its 
partners in tackling underage drinking; 

• Contribute to the development of effective treatment for 
young people 

• Develop understanding and work on impact of alcohol 
misuse 

Performance 
Improvement 

• High number of alcohol related crime 
• Crime remains the main area of concern for local people 

in the 2007/8 Residents’ Survey 
Other Drivers • Members’ suggestion 

• National and local area of concern particularly following 
the death of young person relating to alcohol  

OSC Criteria Meets criteria: 
• would assist in addressing an area of national policy 

development that has significant implications for the 
Council and where member input would be valuable  

• where there is gap between community perception or 
concern and objective performance and members 
adopting a more community leadership role would assist 
in managing this 

 
Prosperous Community (Lead: Cllr Abdul Aziz Sardar) 
 
Issue Parental Involvement in Secondary 

Education  
Method Review  

Lead officer Helen Jenner / Sarah Gale 
 

Objective/outcome • Develop proposals to increase parental involvement in 
secondary education  

• Develop understanding of parental attitude towards 
education 

• Fulfilment of community leadership role in an area of 
community concern 

• Contribute to development of strategy to increase 
involvement of BME parents  

Performance 
Improvement 

• A number of education indicators relate to improving 
education attainment of secondary school pupils 

• A key LAA target is to improve school attendance  
 

Other Drivers • Develop proposals to reduce number of 16-18 who fall in 
the NEET category 

 
OSC Criteria Meets criteria: 

Page 132



 11 

• would assist in tackling an area of poor or challenging 
performance (bottom quartile or equivalent) that has 
priority within the Strategic Plan 

• Increase Member understanding of key challenges and 
responses 

 
A Great Place to Live (Lead: Cllr Waiseul Islam) 
 
Issue Affordable Home Ownership   Method Review  

 
Lead officer • Paul Evans / Jackie Odunoye  

 
Objective/outcome • Develop proposals to increase local access to affordable 

home ownership 
• Develop proposals to assist alleviate pressures of 

overcrowding 
• Assist residents on low income to become homeowners 
• Consider how rent and service charge calculations are 

made with a view to making them more affordable 
• Consider the role of developers in addressing the needs 

of the borough 
Performance 
Improvement 

• A key LAA target is to increase percentage of affordable 
homes  

• A number of other targets relate to providing affordable 
housing and strong neighbourhoods 

Other Drivers • National credit crunch impact 
• High levels of overcrowding in the borough 
• Addressing concerns about affordability of larger size 

family units 
• High number of developments taking place in the 

borough which could be used to maximise benefits for 
local residents.  

OSC Criteria Meets criteria: 
• where member input and understanding would assist 

with sustaining high performance that has priority within 
the Strategic Plan 

• would assist in addressing an area of national policy 
development that has significant implications for the 
Council and where member input would be valuable 

• would help address a gap between community 
perception or concern  

 
Excellent Public Services (Lead: Cllr Bill Turner) 
 
Issue Child Protection - Early 

Intervention   
Method Review  

 
Lead officer • Kamini Rambellas / Paul McGee 

 
Objective/outcome • Consider whether current services provide value for 

money. 
• Undertake mapping exercise to develop understanding 

on the level of needs 

Page 133



 12 

• Identify gaps in service and develop proposals to 
address this 

• Develop proposals to access hard to reach communities 
 

Performance 
Improvement 

• Increase in referrals by 40% over the last twelve months 
• In 2007/08 300% more initial assessments compared to 

2006/07 
Other Drivers • Members’ suggestion 

• Tower Hamlets has one of the fastest growing children 
population in Europe  

• Link to ‘Every Child Matters’ 
 

OSC Criteria Meets criteria: 
• would assist in addressing an area of national policy 

development that has significant implications for the 
Council and where member input would be valuable 

• would help address a gap between community 
perception or concern  

 
 
Issue Tower Hamlets Index – Sixth 

month monitoring  
Method Challenge Session  

 
Lead officer • Alan Steward / Lucy Sutton  

 
Objective/outcome • To provide in-depth critical friend challenge to 

performance on a number of indicators 
• Develop proposals to improve performance  
• Identify areas of particular concerns where performance 

is poor 
• Provide a link between performance and budget  

Performance 
Improvement 

• A key performance monitoring role for committee to look 
in depth at a number of indicators  

Other Drivers • Develop the role of this portfolio 
• Develop capacity of OSC to challenge and examine in 

detail performance information 
OSC Criteria Meets criteria: 

• Would assist in tackling an area of poor or challenging 
performance that has priority within the strategic plan 

• Would assist with sustaining high performance that has 
priority within the Strategic Plan 

• would help address a gap between community 
perception or concern and objective performance by 
utilising the members’ leadership role 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 134



 13 

Healthy Community (Lead: Cllr Stephanie Eaton) 
  
Issue   End of Life Care Services   Method Review  

 
Lead officer • Alison Roberts,  Palliative Care Service Improvement Lead - 

PCT 
Objective/outcome • Testing assumptions behind the End of Life Care 

Services Improvement Programme  
• Evaluate equity of access to end of Life Care Services 

for BME groups / other equalities groups 
• Improve the availability of information on services for 

patients, carers and professionals 
• Assessing effectiveness of integration between health 

and social care services at end of life 
• Effectiveness of transition of services for young people 

as they become adults 
• Local case study for evaluating implications of Darzi and 

Next Stages Review  
Performance 
Improvement 

• Increased levels of end of life care services being 
provided within the community  

• Fewer unplanned admissions and deaths in Hospital 
• Improved integration between End Of Life services 

provided by Health and Social Care Services 
Other Drivers • Members’ suggestion 

• Unplanned admissions are a significant cost to the NHS 
• Services are accessed unequally and there are 

significant cultural differences in attitudes to death and 
dying that Services need to respond to 

OSC Criteria Meets criteria:  
• would assist in addressing an area of local policy 

development and where member input would be valuable 
• would help address a gap between community 

perception or concern 
  

  
 

 

Page 135



Page 136

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	3 UNRESTRICTED MINUTES
	8.1 Crime and Drugs Reduction Partnership Plan 2008-2011
	C&DPartnership Plan Appendix

	9.1 Tower Hamlets Index
	Appendix 1 THI
	Appendix 2 Charts Scrutiny - THI
	Appendices 3 and 4THI
	Appendix 5THI

	10.1 Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme

